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J:COM’s Medium to Long-term Corporate Vision

This annual report has been written with a focus on describing the business environment surround-

ing our company, our business domain, competitive advantages and footprints as well as the chal-

lenges we face and our strategies for growth to a broad range of readers. We publish yearly and 

quarterly data for facilitating research and analysis by institutional investors and research analysts. 

We hope you will use this report in conjunction with more detailed quantitative performance figures 

published in our factbook.

Where is J:Com 
headed for ?



 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n
 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n

 T r a n s f o r m a T i o n

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (J:COM) achieved enormous growth and 

has become one of Japan’s greatest broadcasting and telecommunication  

multiple service providers by rooting ourselves deeply in the communities we 

serve, quickly assessing local customer needs and translating those needs into 

advanced services while providing tailored support and follow-up service. 

But at J:COM, we strive to do more. By fusing our unrivaled strength in  

community-rooted services with our massive customer base and advanced 

infrastructure and technological base, we aim to enter a new phase of growth by: 

1) developing and providing ubiquitous broadcasting and telecommunication 

services; and 

2) leveraging our broadcasting and telecommunications infrastructure and  

technological base to develop new services that support the lives of our  

customers in various facets, like lifestyle and consumption, healthcare  

and wellness.

By evolving into a community service partner that brings convenience and  

well-being to local communities, we aim to transform J:COM into a group of 

companies capable of achieving a higher level of sustainable growth.

The most sought-after services
in more and more places
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Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report contains forward-looking 

statements regarding the intent, belief, or current 

expectations of our management with respect to 

future events or our future financial performance. 

These statements involve known and unknown 

risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may 

cause our or our industry's actual results, levels of 

activity, performance, or achievements to be 

materially different from any future results, levels of 

activity, performance, or achievements expressed or 

implied by such forward-looking statements. 

Although we believe that the expectations reflected 

in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, 

we can give no assurances that these expectations 

will prove to be correct, and cannot guarantee our 

future results, level of activities, performance, or 

achievements. We disclaim any obligation to 

update, or to announce publicly any revisions to, 

any of the forward-looking statements contained in 

this annual report, whether as a result of new 

information, future events, or other factors.

Beginning in FY2012, we use new definitions for 

subscribing households and ARPu; however, all 

figures in this report are based on the former 

definitions.
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Overview of J:COM

 What does J:COM do?
J:COM (Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and group 

subsidiaries) is Japan’s only comprehensive media corpo-

rate group possessing both contents and a platform to dis-

tribute multichannel pay-TV services, fusing the cable 

television (CATV) and media businesses. In the CATV busi-

ness, we led the industry in offering multiple broadcasting 

and telecommunication services by adding high-speed In-

ternet access and telephony services to our CATV service. 

Currently, we offer our triple-play service to 3.66 million 

households* residing in five major metropolitan areas—

Sapporo, Sendai, Kanto, Kansai and Kyushu. Meanwhile, 

our media business offers 17 dedicated must-watch chan-

nels, including movies, dramas, sports programming and 

documentaries.
*  Total number of households subscribing to at least one of  

J:COM's services as of the end of December 2011

 How do your businesses operate?
 Cable Television Business

J:COM is a multiple system operator that oversees the 

operations of our affiliated CATV franchise operators. This 

enables us to achieve efficient business operations 

leveraging economies of scale in contents purchasing and 

equipment procurement.

 Media Business

J:COM invests in, operates and manages a total of 12 com-

panies owning 17 channels available to viewers via cable, 

satellite and IP multicasting.

 What is J:COM’s positioning in the industry?
J:COM serves 23% of all households subscribing to some 

form of pay multichannel broadcasting; however, we serve 

37% of all CATV subscribers. Aside from pay multichannel 

broadcasting, our CATV business provides Japan’s largest 

video-on-demand (VOD) service (J:COM on Demand). Our 

media business boasts Japan’s largest dedicated sports 

channel, J SPORTS, which can be viewed by a total of 7.49 

million households. Our media business is in Japan’s top tier, 

with many other popular must-watch dedicated channels 

covering genres from movies to dramas and economic news.
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Multiple broadcasting and telecommunication services 

offered in five major metropolitan areas

Number of Subscribing Households by Service Provider in Each Market
Internet MarketPay Multichannel Broadcasting Market Telephony Market

Sources:  December 2011 edition of HOSO Journal, J:COM’s publicly released materials. Official announcement of the quarterly data concerning the number of telecommunication service 
subscriptions and market share for 2Q of FY2011(September 30). 
The number of each company’s subscribers are compiled from the above-mentioned sources. 

(Millions of households)

1.96 Million

Kanto

1.22 Million 

Kansai

3.66 million
households nationwide

320,000
Kyushu

50,000
Sendai

110,000
Sapporo

Connect Talk

Watch

Bundling all three services 
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Flashback J:COM

What are some of the milestones in 
J:COM’s growth trajectory to date?
Since our founding in 1995, J:COM has achieved revenue growth in 16 consecutive 

years. Since we turned profitable on the operating level in FY2003, we have recorded 

new highs over eight consecutive years. Compared to FY2005, when we listed on the 

JASDAQ securities exchange (currently operated by the Osaka Securities exchange), 

we have grown revenue 2.0 times and  operating income 2.9 times as of FY2011. 

Moreover, year-end total subscribing households and total number of revenue gener-

ating units (total RGus) have grown 1.8 times and 2.0 times, respectively.
(See page 7 for more.)

What fueled the tremendous growth 
J:COM has achieved?
Our sales and customer service teams are attentive and deeply rooted in their 

communities. We have succeeded in rolling out many advanced services in response 

to customer wishes and enhancing programming contents. Moreover, we have 

expanded our service areas through the active pursuit of friendly M&A activities 

leveraging our unrivaled capital strength as a CATV operator. In February 2010, KDDI 

CORPORATION took an equity stake in our company. The resulting business alliance 

is generating enormous results, from the bolstering of our telecommunications 

business to cross-sales promotions.
(See pages 5 to 6 for more.)

3.66 million  
households

As of the end of FY2011
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A History of Strategic Developments at J:COM

1999

Japan’s First Triple Player
J:COM led the industry in deploying an innova-
tive business model that combined broadcast-
ing and telecommunication services by adding 
telephony (1997) and high-speed Internet ac-
cess (1999) services to our original lineup of 
CATV service, which we had offered since our 
inception in 1995.

1999 20052001 2006

September 2005

Odakyu Cable Vision
Homes passed: 330,000
Total RGus: 64,000

November 2005

Cable Television Kobe
Homes passed: 180,000
Total RGus: 50,000

September 2006

Cable West
Homes passed: 1,397,700
Total RGus: 466,500

1. Added Value with Advanced Services  
 and Rich Contents

2. Expanded Our  
 Coverage Area  
 through M&A

A List of Major Acquisitions Completed
Companies acquired since J:COM listed as a public  
company in March 2005

Homes passed and total RGus represent those of 

the acquired company at the time of acquisition.

Number of Total Subscribing  
Households

Topped 1 million
Topped 2 million Topped 2.5 million

2005

Industry’s First VOD Service
J:COM was the first to answer customer de-
mand to watch their favorite programs whenev-
er they like. With the addition of 3D contents to 
our J:COM on Demand lineup in April 2010, we 
now offer a total of 32,900 video titles (as of the 
end of 2011), making ours Japan’s largest VOD 
service.

2006

Introduced HDR Set-Top Boxes 
(Equipped with Internal Hard Disk 
Drives)
J:COM led the way in enabling subscribers to 
choose between enjoying contents in real time 
or recording shows to watch later at a more 
convenient time. In January 2010, we added the 
popular Blu-Ray HDR to our lineup, enabling us-
ers to record and play back video in quality 
equivalent to Blu-Ray.

HDR

Blu-Ray HDR

J:COM on Demand home screen
Connect Talk

Watch

Bundling all three services 
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Sakura Cable Television
(2006/4)

Taito Cable Television
(2008/12)

Odakyu Cable Vision
(2005/9)

Mediatti Communications
(2008/12)

Yokohama 
Cable Vision
(2011/10)

Cable West
(2006/9)

Rokko Island
Cable Vision
(2006/1)

Kyoto Cable Communications
(2008/1)

Kobe Cablevision
(2008/2)
(2010/4)

Cable Television Kobe
(2005/11)

Suzuran Cable
(2010/2)

2007 201020092008 2011

Kanto Area

 J:COM legacy coverage areas (prior to March 2005)  Coverage areas acquired through M&A

Kansai Area

December 2008

Mediatti Communications
Homes passed: 1,216,500
Total RGus: 293,700

October 2011

Yokohama Cable Vision
Acquired jointly with TOKYU CORPORATION

Homes passed: 260,000
Total RGus: 61,000

2010 to 2011

Implementation of  
Our Alliance with KDDI
In February 2010, KDDI CORPORATION took 
an equity stake in J:COM. Since then, we have 
pursued business alliances in five areas includ-
ing telecom business and product collaboration 
as well as sales and marketing cooperation. 
Since April 2011, we have begun offering 
J:COM PHONe Plus, a new telephony service 
leveraging KDDI’s platform. Furthermore, cross-
sales promotions offered by both companies in 
the Kansai region beginning in August 2010 
have since been expanded to all service areas.

Topped 3 million Topped 3.5 million

(New TV
New Style) (Plus)

 

2010

New Television Service 
J:COM TV My style Launched 
J:COM TV My style is a service package com-
bining unlimited viewing within several VOD op-
tions and a telecommunications service with 
digital terrestrial and Broadcasting Satellite (BS) 
TV programming. The service was designed to 
capture demand resulting from Japan’s migra-
tion to a digital terrestrial TV signal in July 2011. 
We introduced the service to also expand our 
customer base, targeting the youth and senior 
citizens in particular, demographics J:COM had 
not yet sufficiently penetrated.

2007

Japan’s First Comprehensive 
Media Company Is Born
In September 2007, J:COM merged with Jupi-
ter TV Co., Ltd., Japan’s largest multiple chan-
nel operator with 16 affiliated channels (at the 
time). The merger created Japan’s first compre-
hensive media company capable of seamlessly 
producing and distributing video content. In 
2009, we consolidated J SPORTS Broadcast-
ing Corporation, operator of Japan’s largest 
dedicated sports channel (J SPORTS), to fur-
ther solidify our competitive edge in the media 
business.

(unlimited 
Pack)

(Terrestrial 
TV・BS)

(On Demand)
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A History of Growth at J:COM

Comparing FY2005 (the year we listed as a publicly traded company) to FY2011 (the year under review)

¥369.1billion
FY2011

¥183.1billion
FY2005

42.4%
FY2011

38.2%
FY2005

6.92 million  
services

As of the end of FY2011

3.46 million services
As of the end of FY2005

¥71.1billion
FY2011

¥24.5 billion
FY2005

13.62 million  
households

As of the end of FY2011

7.3 million households
As of the end of FY2005

3.66 million  
households

As of the end of FY2011

2 million households
As of the end of FY2005

*  Homes that could easily and inexpensively be connected to J:COM cable 
network.

up 2.0 times

up 4.2
percentage points

up 2.9 times

up 1.9 times

up 2.0 timesup 1.8 times

Revenue

EBITDA Margin

Total RGUs  
(Total Number of Revenue Generating Units)

Operating Income

Homes Passed*

Total Subscribing  
Households

ANNuAL RePORT 2011 7



Consolidated Results Highlights (uS GAAP)

Highlights of FY2011 Results
  Revenue and operating income both reached record highs as subscriber additions absorbed the 

decline in ARPU.*1

   Operating income margin also broke a record high. ROE continued its upward trend after factoring 
out a one-time factor*2 booked in the previous year.

  Debt continued to decline as our debt-to-equity ratio*3 shrank to 0.25 times.
*1. Monthly Average Revenue per unit
*2.  In the previous year (FY2010), tax expenses declined about ¥4.1 billion as a result of the liquidation of two intermediate holding companies of consolidated sub-

sidiary J SPORTS Corporation. excluding this one-time factor, FY2010 net income attributable to J:COM shareholders was approximately ¥33.6 billion (compared 
to ¥37.3 billion in FY2011) and ROe was 8.6% (compared to 8.8% in FY2011) in real terms.

*3. Based on net interest-bearing debt

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0
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(Yen in billions) (Yen in billions)

2010200920082007

42.8

53.7

61.2
66.8

264.5
294.3

333.7

2011

360.1 369.1 71.1

Revenue (left)

70

40

30

50

60
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20

80

0

Operating income (right)

40

30

20
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0

24.0

28.0
30.5

37.7*2 37.3

2010200920082007 2011
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(Yen in billions)

Net Income Attributable to 
J:COM Shareholders
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5
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0

7.9 8.2

16.2

18.2 18.3

8.4

18.5

9.6*2

19.3

8.8
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(%)

Operating income margin

ROE

FY

Operating Income Margin
ROE
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200.1
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187.5

146.9

109.6
0.36
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1.00

0.80

0.60

0.40

0.20

2010200920082007 2011
0 0

0.61

0.66

0.50

FYE

(Yen in billions) (Times)

Interest-bearing debt (Net) (left)

Debt to equity ratio (right)

Interest-Bearing Debt (Net)

Debt to Equity Ratio (D/E Ratio)*3

Revenue
Operating Income
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Important Operating Trends in FY2011
  Continued to expand CATV customer base even after the migration to terrestrial digital broadcasting. 

Growth in high-speed Internet access and telephony service subscribers accelerated, more than 
offsetting the decline in ARPU.

   Bundle ratio (average number of services received per subscribing household) increased to 1.89.

   Churn rate declined to historic lows, thanks to organizational reforms and other activities aimed at 
enhancing customer satisfaction.

8,000

6,000

4,000

2,000

0

4,712

5,614
5,947

6,358
6,918

2010200920082007 2011
FYE

(Thousand)

Total RGUs 
(Total Number of Revenue Generating Units)

9,000

6,000

3,000

7,687  7,789 7,726 7,680 7,499 

1.86 1.89

3.00

2.00

1.00

2010200920082007 2011
0 0

1.77 1.77 1.82

FY

(Yen) (Services)

ARPU (left)

Bundle ratio (right)

ARPU (Monthly Average Revenue per Unit)

Bundle Ratio 
(Average Number of Services Received per Subscribing Household)

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

2,659

3,167 3,275
3,426

3,657

2010200920082007 2011
FYE

(Thousand)

Number of Total Subscribing  
Households

1.2

1.0

1.1

0.9

0

1.00

1.07

1.11

0.97

1.02

2010200920082007 2011
FY

(%)

Average Monthly Churn Rate 
(per RGUs)
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Changes Year 
on Year

1. Operational data

  Homes passed (Thousand) 9,438 12,242 12,594 13,067 13,620  4.2%

  Total RGus (Thousand) 4,712 5,614 5,947 6,358 6,918  8.8%

  Total subscribing households (Thousand) 2,659 3,167 3,275 3,426 3,657  6.7%

  Average monthly churn rate (per RGus) (%) 1.02 1.00 1.07 1.11 0.97 (0.14)

  Monthly average revenue per unit (ARPu) (Yen) 7,687 7,789 7,726 7,680 7,499 (181)
  A verage number of services received per  

subscribing household (Bundle ratio)
1.77 1.77 1.82 1.86 1.89  0.03

2. Financial data (Yen in millions)

 Operating results

  Revenue ¥264,508 ¥294,308 ¥333,724 ¥360,112 ¥369,073  2.5%

  Operating income 42,816 53,675 61,159 66,755 71,075  6.5%
  I ncome before noncontrolling interests and  

income taxes
39,389 49,733 57,834 63,167 68,532  8.5%

  Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders 23,992 27,964 30,453 37,690 37,278 (1.1%)

   eBITDA*1 107,037 122,696 144,332 152,598 156,398  2.5%

  Capital expenditures 65,281 62,395 69,418 74,020 67,496 (8.8%)

 Financial position

  Total assets 680,416 755,670 801,657 816,763 812,303 (4,460)

  Total J:COM shareholders’ equity 330,009 349,352 374,902 410,151 435,707 25,556

  Interest-bearing debt (Gross) 223,016 252,964 251,894 225,144 199,497 (25,647)

  Interest-bearing debt (Net) 200,126 231,462 187,468 146,932 109,618 (37,314)

 Cash flows

  Cash flows from operating activities 95,226 100,692 123,626 124,376 123,342 (1,034)

  Cash flows from investing activities (52,728) (76,357) (56,558) (57,048) (58,309) (1,261)

  Cash flows from financing activities (40,094) (25,722) (24,145) (53,542) (53,366) 176

  Free cash flow*2 29,944 38,296 54,207 50,356 55,846 5,490

 Per share data (Yen)

  Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders*3 3,650 4,080 4,440 5,456 5,384 (1.3%)

  J:COM shareholders’ equity*4 48,195 50,940 54,650 59,239 62,916  6.2%

  Cash dividend 0 750 980 1,500 1,800 300

 Ratios

  eBITDA margin (%)*5 40.5 41.7 43.2 42.4 42.4 0

  Operating income margin (%)*6 16.2 18.2 18.3 18.5 19.3 0.8

  Return on equity (ROe) (%)*7 7.9 8.2 8.4 9.6 8.8 (0.8)

  Debt to eBITDA (Times)*8 1.87 1.89 1.30 0.96 0.70 (0.26)

  Debt to equity (Times)*8 0.61 0.66 0.50 0.36 0.25 (0.11)

Numbers are rounded off and thus do not necessarily match the total.
*1. eBITDA = (Revenue) – (Operating and programming costs) − (Selling, general and administrative expenses)
*2. Free cash flow = (Cash flows from operating activities) – (Capital expenditures)
*3.  Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders and J:COM shareholders’ equity per share are based on the weighted-average number of issued shares during the year  

(excluding treasury stock)
*4. Based on the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of each fiscal year (excluding treasury stock)
*5. eBITDA margin = (eBITDA / Revenue) x 100 (%)
*6.  Operating income margin = (Operating income / Revenue) x 100 (%)
*7.  Return on equity (ROe) = Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders /  

((Total J:COM shareholders’ equity at the previous year-end + Total J:COM shareholders’ equity at year-end) / 2) x 100 (%)
*8. Based on net interest-bearing debt

Yearly Data
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2010 2011

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q

1. Operational data

  Homes passed (Thousand) 12,739 12,825 12,940 13,067 13,186 13,284 13,335 13,620 

  Total RGus (Thousand) 6,004 6,107 6,209 6,358 6,449 6,611 6,762 6,918 

  Total subscribing households (Thousand) 3,293 3,338 3,377 3,426 3,454 3,517 3,582 3,657 

  Average monthly churn rate (per RGus) (%) 1.21 1.11 1.09 1.05 1.08 0.98 0.92 0.91

  M onthly average revenue per unit (ARPu) (Yen) 7,688 7,683 7,673 7,675 7,617 7,521 7,442 7,419

  A verage number of services received per 
subscribing household (Bundle ratio)

1.82 1.83 1.84 1.86 1.87 1.88 1.89 1.89

2. Financial data (Yen in millions)

 Operating results

  Revenue ¥88,146 ¥89,392 ¥90,212 ¥92,362 ¥91,764 ¥92,236 ¥92,299 ¥92,774

  Operating income 17,432 15,469 16,271 17,583 20,631 19,325 17,273 13,846

  I ncome before noncontrolling interests and 
income taxes

16,678 14,476 15,595 16,418 19,935 18,495 16,802 13,300

  N et income attributable to J:COM shareholders 8,400 11,824 8,418 9,048 10,363 10,130 9,284 7,501

   eBITDA*1 38,568 37,009 37,416 39,605 41,176 40,262 38,557 36,403

  Capital expenditures 14,643 18,733 20,041 20,602 14,807 16,797 19,698 16,194

 Financial position

  Total assets 806,451 818,549 807,142 816,763 811,279 822,748 810,970 812,303

  Total J:COM shareholders’ equity 384,346 396,606 401,037 410,151 414,743 424,812 427,909 435,707

  Interest-bearing debt (Gross) 247,403 243,975 228,013 225,144 221,975 220,165 211,721 199,497

  Interest-bearing debt (Net) 176,348 160,107 155,625 146,932 144,412 127,128 126,096 109,618

 Cash flows

  Cash flows from operating activities 25,431 34,607 28,134 36,204 23,622 34,287 26,948 38,485

  Cash flows from investing activities (11,530) (13,894) (15,442) (16,182) (11,576) (13,136) (16,648) (16,948)

  Cash flows from financing activities (7,272) (7,901) (24,171) (14,198) (12,695) (5,677) (17,712) (17,283)

  Free cash flow*2 10,788 15,874 8,091 15,603 8,814 17,490 7,250 22,291

 Ratios

  eBITDA margin (%)*3 43.8 41.4 41.5 42.9 44.9 43.7 41.8 39.2

  Operating income margin (%)*4 19.8 17.3 18.0 19.0 22.5 21.0 18.7 14.9

  Debt to equity (Times)*5 0.46 0.40 0.39 0.36 0.35 0.30 0.29 0.25

Numbers are rounded off and thus do not necessarily match the total.
*1. eBITDA = (Revenue) – (Operating and programming costs) − (Selling, general and administrative expenses)
*2. Free cash flow = (Cash flows from operating activities) – (Capital expenditures)
*3. eBITDA margin = (eBITDA / Revenue) x 100 (%)
*4. Operating income margin = (Operating income / Revenue) x 100 (%)
*5. Based on net interest-bearing debt

Quarterly Data
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To Our Shareholders and Investors

Looking at consolidated results of FY2011 (from January 1, 

2011 to December 31, 2011), revenue was ¥369.1 billion 

(up 2.5% compared to the previous year) and operating 

income was ¥71.1 billion (up 6.5%). These results repre-

sented our 16th consecutive year of revenue growth, 

sustained since the company was founded in 1995. 

Moreover, we marked a new record high in operating in-

come for the eighth consecutive year since turning prof-

itable in FY2003.

 Amid intensifying competition to acquire new subscrib-

ers as Japan migrated to digital terrestrial broadcasting, 

in FY2011, J:COM placed priority on expanding our cus-

tomer base. Our endeavors paid off—the total subscrib-

ing households and total RGUs both grew substantially. 

Our strategic product, J:COM TV My style, contributed 

significantly to new subscriber acquisitions, capturing 

demand resulting from Japan’s migration to digital TV 

and fitting well with the rise of on-demand viewing hab-

its. Furthermore, the business alliances we have pursued 

with KDDI CORPORATION have begun to bear fruit, par-

ticularly in the areas of telecommunications product col-

laboration and cross-sales promotions.

 Another significant achievement of FY2011 was a dra-

matic decline in our churn rate to an historically low lev-

el. This is attributable to a broad range of initiatives 

aimed at enhancing customer satisfaction, including or-

ganizational reforms, personnel increases, a reinforced 

customer service system leveraging systematic follow-

up approaches and a push toward long-term contracts.

 The introduction of new BS (broadcasting satellite) 

channels is expected to stimulate demand for multi-

channel pay-TV. Rapid advances in mobile technology 

are driving changes in user needs. Meanwhile, competi-

tion among service providers is intensifying. In response 

to these developments, J:COM aims to accelerate the 

execution of its differentiation strategy and achieve fur-

ther growth by introducing more convenient new servic-

es. At the same time, we will leverage our existing busi-

ness base to boldly expand into new business areas 

that support the day-to-day lifestyles of our customers.

 We thank you for your continued support.

Shuichi Mori
President and CEO

1. FY2011 Results
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2. An Interview with the President

J:COM president Shuichi Mori answers questions and 
concerns from shareholders and investors.

As President, what is 
your management  
philosophy and what 
challenges does  
J:COM face?

Q1

What is your  
medium-term  
management vision?

Q6

What is the market’s 
growth potential?

Q2

What is your strategy  
to beat out the  
competition?

Q4
What is the current  
state of the competition 
in the market?

Q3

What specific strategies 
will you deploy to  
achieve that vision?

Q7

What is your basic  
strategic approach to 
future M&A  
opportunities?

Q5

What are your thoughts 
on shareholder returns?

Q8

An Interview with the president
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Winning a new customer is only half 

the battle. We must follow through to 

keep our customers happy.

  You became President of J:COM in March 2011. Tell us about your 

management philosophy. Also, how do you plan to steer the company 

to achieve growth over the medium to long-term?

Formerly, I worked at Sumitomo Corporation for many years 

helping corporate customers in Japan and China launch and 

operate industrial plants. Back then, winning the contract was 

an extensive process involving an accurate assessment of the 

customer needs, a convincing presentation of your best pro-

posal, detailed technical discussions and negotiations of the 

terms. But what you did after winning the contract was essen-

tial to winning the customer’s trust. Only after you have proven 

yourself with a seamless and successful installation and trial 

operation of plant equipment and attentive post-launch ser-

vice may you be recognized for the value you added.

 That was a B-to-B business. J:COM’s is a B-to-C business. 

nevertheless, in both cases the customer comes first. par-

ticularly for J:COM, a sales and customer service regime fo-

cused on door-to-door marketing and maintaining close con-

tact with the customer has been our greatest differentiation 

point against the major telecommunications carriers. In recent 

years, however, competition has intensified. My first impres-

sion upon assuming my role as president was that J:COM is 

focused too strongly on new customer acquisitions.

 With that view, I implemented the companywide concept 

that winning a new customer is only half the battle; we must 

follow through to keep our customers happy. In July 2011, I 

implemented an organizational reform that integrated sales, 

technology and support units under one Customer Relations 

Management Division to deliver well-coordinated and high-

quality customer service. Moreover, I added personnel and 

implemented skills-improvement programs at our customer 

centers. As a result, in FY2011, we substantially enhanced 

customer satisfaction and turned around our churn rate, re-

ducing it to an historically low level.

Act now to ensure sustainable growth for J:COM 

over the medium to long-term.

To win in these fiercely competitive times, J:COM must be 

thoroughly oriented as a customer service organization. 

Moreover, in light of the role we play as part of the public in-

frastructure, our network must be solid. In that light, I have 

realized we need to make investments aimed at ensuring sus-

tainable growth over the medium to long-term. To that end, in 

FY2011, we invested in a more robust network and bolstered 

our customer centers.

 Keep in mind that we won support from the market thanks 

to the growth trajectory we have sustained to date. To con-

tinue to enjoy the market’s support, we must strike the right 

balance between incurring necessary costs and pursuing 

growth. We must sustain growth in revenues and profit alike 

as we build out a management base to support growth over 

the medium to long-term.

An Interview with the president
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2012 marks the inaugural year for 

new pay multichannel  

broadcasting 
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  Although the number of multichannel service subscribing households 

continues to rise, that growth rate has slowed in recent years. Some 

believe the market is maturing. What do you think?

Only 23% of households in Japan subscribe to pay multi-

channel broadcasting, compared to 87% in the uS and 50% 

in the uK. The rate of growth in subscribing households has 

slowed because, for one, many Japanese have grown accus-

tomed to free-to-air TV and without ever experiencing pay 

multichannel broadcasting. In October 2011, however, new 

BS channels were launched. Since then, the total number of 

BS channels has grown significantly to 31 by March 2012. 

The pay multichannel broadcasting market has entered a new 

era. now, many Japanese can see the entertainment value of 

pay multichannel broadcasting, including BS channels, and 

eventually may become motivated to pay to view their favorite 

programs. As a multichannel pay-TV provider, we believe we 

are on the cusp of opportunity.

 At J:COM, we have striven to tap into the market for poten-

tial customers. One example is J:COM TV My style, which 

launched in July 2010 and has since driven a substantial in-

crease in new subscribers. As Japan migrated to digital ter-

restrial broadcasting, the product was an enormous hit 

among customers who want to enjoy VOD without paying up 

for multichannel service right away. We expect J:COM TV My 

style subscribers will upgrade to multichannel service as they 

recognize the entertainment value of pay-TV. At J:COM, we 

see the importance of cultivating the future potential of our 

customers. For example, customers in their 20s or early 30s 

may begin by subscribing to our Internet access service, but 

could eventually subscribe to multichannel TV service as they 

start a family or undergo other lifestyle changes.

An Interview with the president

Definition:  pay Multichannel Broadcasting market refers to the combined total of CATV, 
SKY perfect JSAT and IpTV subscribers.

Sources: HOSO Journal, SKY perfect JSAT public data and MIC

Japan’s Pay Multichannel Market Broadcasting
Growing, but at a slower rate

J:COM TV My style Subscribing Households
Rising steadily since 2010 launch

Q2
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Where there is competition,  

there is growth.

  What is the current state of the intense competition among service 

providers?

Japan’s market for multichannel pay-TV continues to possess 

enormous growth potential. It is no surprise more competitors 

have entered this market.

 With the convergence of broadcasting and telecommunica-

tions, major telecommunications carriers have entered the 

multichannel pay-TV market. Over-the-top (OTT) services that 

distribute video content directly to Internet-connected devices 

have emerged. The rapid spread of smartphones and tablet 

pCs have given rise to video services designed for these mo-

bile devices.

 In Japan, the competitive landscape varies by geographical 

region. In Kanto, we compete with satellite operators and tele-

communications carriers. In Kansai, we also compete with the 

telecommunications units of electrical power utilities. Thus, 

the competitive environment is harsher in Kansai than in Kan-

to. According to data from the Japan Satellite Broadcasting 

Association, CS (communications satellite) television is viewed 

by 25% of households in Tokyo (part of the Kanto region) and 

34% of households in Osaka (part of the Kansai region). You 

can see the more competitive Osaka market has a penetration 

rate that is nearly 10 percentage points higher. As service pro-

viders compete against each other, their products and ser-

vices garner greater recognition, which in turn grows the mar-

ket. I am convinced the fierce competition among service 

providers to develop differentiated products and services ac-

tually stimulates growth in the industry as a whole.

An Interview with the president
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Leverage J:COM’s competitive 

advantages to our maximum 

advantage.

J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 1: Community-based Services

  Although competition may grow the market, it also may result in  

winners and losers. What is J:COM’s strategy to win?

J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 1

Community-based Services

To beat out the competition, we need to thoroughly solidify 

and leverage our strengths that are unique to J:COM as a 

CATV operator.

 First and foremost, one of J:COM’s characteristic strengths 

is embodied in our firm roots in the communities we serve, 

thanks to a door-to-door marketing approach that puts us in 

a unique position to hear the customer voice and reflect that 

feedback in sales and customer-service activities. This repre-

sents a decisive difference in achieving customer satisfaction 

that stands in stark contrast to our big telecommunications 

competitors who rely on remote call centers. In FY2011, we 

fundamentally strengthened our customer support regime 

and succeeded in substantially reducing our churn rate. In 

FY2012 and beyond, we will reassign personnel to our Cus-

tomer Relations Division in an aim to further enhance cus-

tomer satisfaction.

J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 2

Differentiated Contents

Our capabilities in contents represents another of J:COM’s 

strengths. In our view, J:COM is Japan’s only comprehensive 

media company, combining both video distribution and con-

tents businesses. The J:COM Group boasts many popular 

channels with killer contents in movies, drama, sports and 

other genres, as well as an overwhelmingly strong track re-

cord and know-how in acquiring Hollywood movie distribution 

rights. In addition to integrating and rebranding J:COM Group 

channels, moving forward we will be involved in “upstream” of 

content distribution by such means as investment in video 

production to further solidify our competitive edge in contents 

capabilities. (See Feature 1 on page 25 for more.)

An Interview with the president

A Personable Company Delivering Reliable Service

Door-to-door Marketing
(About 2,500 direct sales representatives nationwide)

Technical support centers
(20 locations nationwide)

J:COM Shops
(93 outlets nationwide)

Customer centers
(9 locations nationwide)

Community channels

(Information in parentheses current as of the end of December 2011)

A J:COM sales vehicle

In-home technical support visits

In-person service explanations

Customer consultations

Extensive customer support

Broadcasting local contents and  
municipal service information

Q4
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J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 2:  
Differentiated Contents

J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 3: 
Alliances with Our Major Shareholders

•  new telephony service 
launched J:COM pHOne plus in April 2011

•  new discounted service 
launched au Smart Value on March 1, 2012

An Interview with the president

 J:COM led the market by launching bundled triple-play 

(CATV, high-speed Internet access and telephony) packages 

and VOD service as part of our effort to deliver cutting-edge 

services that fulfill latent customer needs. We are also working 

diligently to support trends toward diversified mobile technol-

ogies and devices. In July 2011, we launched a trial video-

distribution service making some VOD contents available for 

viewing on smartphones and tablet pCs. We plan to com-

mercialize this service in FY2012.

J:COM’s Competitive Advantage 3

Alliances with Our Major Shareholders

We are accelerating the development of our alliance with 

KDDI CORpORATIOn (KDDI). We began in 2010 with product 

collaboration and cross-sales promotions. We expanded the 

scope of the alliance in March 2012 with the launch of au 

Smart Value. This new service delivers superior value and 

convenience to our customers, leveraging both KDDI’s wire-

less cellphone network and J:COM’s fixed-line Internet and 

telephony infrastructure, and should drive growth in our cus-

tomer base. (See Feature 2 on page 27 for more.) At the same 

time, we aim to pursue business alliances with our leading 

shareholder, Sumitomo Corporation (Sumitomo). Specifically, 

we hope to leverage Sumitomo’s condominium, electrical 

power retail and other businesses to expand our subscriber 

base.

Genre Channel

Movies

Sports

Drama

lifestyle, hobby 
and education

Documentaries

news

Animation

We Own and Operate 17 Must-watch Channels

Condominium Business

Electrical Power  
Retail Business

CATV Business

Telecom Business and Product Collaboration

Sales and Marketing Cooperation

Technology and Infrastructure

Media Business

CATV Business

Alliance Promotion Committee
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Moving forward, we will continue to pursue growth in 

our CATV business as we consider M&A opportunities 

in the media business and new business areas.

Our Foray into M&A Activities Aimed at Developing Lifestyle-Support Services
Acquisition of Shares in Yokohama Cable Vision

Hodogaya-ku

Tokyo Metropolis

Asahi-ku

Izumi-ku

YCV
Kanagawa Prefecture

J:COM

iTS COM

All of Asahi-ku, Izumi-ku and
Hodogaya-ku, as well as 
parts of Nishi-ku and 
Totsuka-ku, within the 
City of Yokohama

An Interview with the president

  J:COM has rapidly grown its customer base through M&A activities, 

but fewer opportunities remain in major urban areas. What direction 

will you take moving forward?

In FY2011, we acquired Yokohama Cable Vision (YCV) jointly 

with TOKYu CORpORATIOn (Tokyu), making YCV a consoli-

dated subsidiary of J:COM. The method of this acquisition 

differs slightly from past examples.

 Tokyu is a railroad operator and town developer that also 

owns the CATV operator its communications Inc. (iTS COM). 

iTS COM provides a diverse range of lifestyle-support servic-

es to residents in its coverage area. Meanwhile, J:COM’s 

strength is in its sales and customer-service organization that 

is deeply rooted in its communities and offers triple-play ser-

vice. The acquisition of YCV not only expands the coverage 

area of J:COM’s CATV business, but also provides a frame-

work for collaboration with Tokyu in developing and deploying 

lifestyle-support services centering on CATV services.

 Moving forward, we will continue to pursue M&A opportuni-

ties in the CATV business to expand our coverage area and 

add value. At the same time, we will look for M&A and alliance 

opportunities in new business realms related to lifestyle-sup-

port services to meet the needs of communities of Japan’s 

aging population.

 Our media business consolidated Asmik Ace entertain-

ment, Inc. in March 2012 and will continue to actively go after 

acquisition opportunities.

 To continue to increase corporate value moving forward, 

we will pursue M&A opportunities aimed at strengthening our 

business base and developing new businesses.

Homes passed 260,000 households

Total Subscribing 
Households*1

CATV:  46,000 households

Internet:  15,000 households

Revenue*2 ¥3,950 million

Operating Income*2 ¥302 million

Voting Rights*3
J:COM 51%

Tokyu  49%

Management
president: Appointed by J:COM

Vice president: Appointed by Tokyu

*1. As of the end of March 2011
*2. Fiscal year ended March 2011
*3. As of October 7, 2011

Yokohama Cable Vision Inc. (YCV) Service Area

Q5

This map is a rough approximation.
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J:COM Everywhere embodies  

our vision for J:COM.

An Interview with the president

  Given your understanding of the market environment and competitive 

landscape, what is your vision for achieving sustainable growth?

We released our Direction of the Medium-Term Business plan 

in July 2011 and published a more detailed Medium-Term 

Business plan on April 24, 2012. The plan targets 4.5 - 5 mil-

lion subscribing households, ¥450-500 billion in revenue and 

about ¥90 billion in operating income.

 Instead of resting on our laurels, we have proven ourselves 

by taking on new challenges in the pursuit of growth. How-

ever, the environment surrounding J:COM is changing. To 

achieve sustainable growth, we must strike out beyond the 

framework of conventional business models. Our growth as a 

company could halt if we rely on a model that targets families 

with broadcasting and telecommunication services centered 

around multichannel.

 That is why one of the concepts featured in our Medium-

Term Business plan is J:COM everywhere. This concept aims 

not only to leverage our traditional triple-play package of mul-

tichannel pay-TV, high-speed Internet access and telephony 

services but also to become an essential partner in support of 

the lifestyles of our customers in their communities. As we do 

so, we aim to build another great business base we can lever-

age to beat out the competition.

*  See our IR website for more on our medium-term initiatives 
 (FY2012 Q1 earnings presentation)

  http://www.jcom.co.jp/var/rev0/0009/1738/2012q1presentation_en.pdf

Q6
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Leveraging J:COM Everywhere,  

we aim to become  

a community-service partner.

Lifestyle-Support Company

Information and Communications Technologies (ICT) Base            Community  Channels             Business Alliance with KDDI 

Healthcare
and

Well-Being

Safety
and

Security

Lifestyle
and

Consumption

Media, ICT
and

Concierge

Education
and

Employment
Administrative

Agencies

The
Environment

Entertainment 

Local
Information

J:COM Everywhere

TV Everywhere
Outside the home Outside the home

Inside the home
The Customer

Comprehensive
Media Business
Group

Internet 

Fixed Line Telephony

Multichannel TV,
VOD, IPTV

J:COM Everywhere Concept

An Interview with the president

  Specifically what strategies will you implement to realize your vision 

for J:COM Everywhere? What is the status of those efforts?

About 3.7 million households subscribe to J:COM services, 

but our network is connected to a total of approximately 9.1 

million households, distributing nHK and private-network 

programming over our cable lines. This represents 17% of all 

households in Japan. J:COM produces and distributes local 

content and relays municipal service information from local 

municipalities as well as live coverage of local events through 

our community channels to these 9.1 million households free 

of charge.

 The J:COM everywhere concept seeks to go beyond the 

CATV, high-speed Internet access and telephony services de-

livered by way of our invaluable two-way interactive cable in-

frastructure to provide lifestyle-support to the communities 

we serve. Specifically, with J:COM everywhere, customers 

could use their television screen to perform a diverse range of 

functions, from buying groceries and daily necessities to or-

dering food delivery, accessing educational tools and arrang-

ing for home-visit medical care and nursing services. Custom-

ers could arrange services from garbage and recycling to 

electrical power supply, home security and school drop-off 

and pick-up, as well as process municipal service requests.

 J:COM is not about simply building out an infrastructure. 

We have more than 7,000 employees in 51 door-to-door 

sales offices and 29 customer service centers located in the 

communities of the 9.1 million households we serve who are 

ready and available to respond to customer needs. The 

strength and uniqueness of J:COM’s close ties to the com-

munity combined with our systems infrastructure makes it 

possible for us to provide tailored lifestyle-support services as 

we promote our core CATV, high-speed Internet access and 

telephony services.

 In FY2012, we plan to launch a number of lifestyle-support 

service trials under this new business concept. (See Feature 3 

on page 28 for more.)

Q7
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As we secure funds for investing in growth over the medium 

to long-term, we will utilize ample free cash flow to actively 

return profits to shareholders.

Dividend per Share and Payout Ratio
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2009 2012
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Payout Ratio (right)

18
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980
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Allotted up to ¥5 billion for share 
repurchases besides dividends

An Interview with the president

  What is your basic policy regarding shareholder returns? 

We aim to enhance the value of the J:COM Group by execut-

ing the strategic initiatives I have described.

 At the same time, we seek to share the fruits of our efforts 

in the form of cash dividends paid to our shareholders. In 

FY2011, J:COM’s dividend per share was ¥1,800, equaling a 

payout ratio of 33%. In FY2012, we plan to pay a dividend per 

share of ¥2,500, making a payout ratio of 44%. Additionally, 

we have decided to invest up to ¥5 billion to repurchase 

shares in an aim to increase capital efficiency and augment 

shareholder returns. If the full amount allotted is used to re-

purchase shares, we estimate our FY2012 total shareholder 

return ratio would reach 57%.

 Moving forward, as we secure funds for investing in sus-

tainable growth over the medium to long-term, we plan to 

continue to live up to shareholder expectations by utilizing 

ample free cash flow to actively return profits to shareholders.

FY2012 Dividend per Share (Forecast): ¥2,500
Would make our 4th consecutive year of dividend hikes

Total shareholder return 
ratio: 

 57%

Payout ratio: 44%

Q8
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Moving Toward

J:COM Everywhere

J:COM Medium-Term Management Targets

   A community service partner that delivers convenience to the communities we serve

   A comprehensive media business group that brings into fruition  
new media lifestyles

   A leading company contributing to the advancement of branding, contents,  
service and technology for the CATV industry as a whole

Targets for FY2015
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An Interview with the president
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Feature 1  Enhancing Value as a Comprehensive  
Media Business Group

1   J:COM’s Competitive Edge in Contents for Distribution
A collection of killer channels that lead the multichannel 

industry

not only is J:COM Japan’s largest multiple system operator 

(MSO*1) in the CATV business, we are the largest multiple chan-

nel operator (MCO*2) in the contents supply business. In our 

contents supply business (media business), we own and oper-

ate 17 channels across a variety of genres through a total of 12 

consolidated subsidiaries, equity-method affiliates and others. 

Our channel lineup includes Japan’s largest dedicated sports 

channel, J SpORTS (viewable by 7.49 million households), the 

dedicated movie channel, Movie plus (7.49 million households), 

Japan’s only dedicated golf channel, Golf network (7.35 million 

households), Women’s Channel  lalaTV (6.8 million house-

holds) and many other killer channels in genres ranging from 

movies to drama, economic news and entertainment.

Maximizing our competitive edge as a comprehensive 

media business group

J:COM is the only comprehensive media business group in 

Japan’s multichannel pay-TV industry having both a platform 

(CATV business) and a media business. That positions us to 

reflect feedback from our platform business customers di-

rectly into program scheduling and production to deliver more 

satisfying contents. We can also leverage J:COM’s solid fi-

nancial standing to make investments in the media business. 

By maximizing these competitive advantages, we can gener-

ate more and more synergies.

*1  Multiple System Operator: An operator that manages multiple CATV  
systems.

*2  Multiple Channel Operator: An operator that manages multiple contents 
providers.

2  Future Initiatives Aimed at Strengthening and Expanding Our Media Business
We outlined four growth strategies for our media business in 

J:COM’s Direction of the Medium-Term Business plan, name-

ly, (1) attract viewers with original content (2) bolster television 

channel operations, (3) strengthen content distribution opera-

tions (4) improve advertising operations.

Improving the quality of contents and promoting  

differentiation

We are enhancing the quality and differentiation of the chan-

nels we invest in to make multichannel pay-TV service more 

appealing. As part of that effort, we rebranded the lala TV 

channel, operated by our consolidated subsidiary Jupiter  

entertainment Co., ltd., into Women’s Channel  lalaTV ef-

fective January 2012 to strengthen our focus on the needs of 

women viewers. We also implemented comprehensive pro-

gram rescheduling, including the strengthening of in-house 

contents.

 Further, in november 2011, Jupiter Golf network Co., ltd., 

consolidated subsidiary and operator of the Golf network, 

signed a licensing and distribution agreement effective April 

2012 with Golf Channel of the uS. As a result, the Golf net-

work becomes Japan’s only dedicated golf channel and 

stands to see its programming lineup expanded and en-

hanced significantly.

Bolstering  
Our Competitive  
Edge in Contents

(1) Maximize synergies between our platform and media businesses

(2)  Own and operate the No. 1 and No. 2 most popular  
channels in each major genre

(3) Launch the 4 J SPORTS channels on the new BS platform

Key Points
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Special Feature – On Toward the next phase of Growth

Leveraging newly launched BS channels to add  

subscribers and grow the multichannel pay-TV market

When the BS digital broadcasting system launched its new 

platform in October 2011, consolidated subsidiary and sports 

channel operator J SpORTS leveraged the new platform to 

broadcast the channels J SpORTS 1 and J SpORTS 2. In 

March 2012, we migrated J SpORTS 3 (formerly J sports 

eSpn) and J SpORTS 4 (formally J sports plus) to the new 

BS platform, also. By doing so, we plan to maximize the ap-

peal of mostly live sports content among viewers and drive an 

increase in subscribers as well as growth in the multichannel 

pay-TV market as a whole.

Expanding business domains to strengthen content  

production capabilities

To take ownership of unique contents and strengthen produc-

tion capabilities, we position investments in movies and M&A 

opportunities targeting high-quality contents-production 

companies as means to push further upstream in the distribu-

tion of contents. As a first effort in this area, we invested in the 

documentary, (Wu Yi) - The Smallest Baby panda In the 

World. The documentary was unveiled in theaters nationwide 

in February 2012 and simultaneously made available to 

J:COM on Demand users.

 Further, in March 2012, we consolidated ASMIK ACe 

 enTeRTAInMenT InC. (ASMIK ACe), which is involved in a 

broad range of contents businesses, from movie production and 

investment, to movie distribution to theaters and advertising.

 ASMIK ACe is known for the movie titles, O-oku, Bokura ga 

Ita, Transporter and Sayonara Itsuka, but also is involved in 

secondary DVD sales and title sales to television stations, dis-

tributors and overseas buyers. One of the company’s major 

strengths is its vertically integrated model, from planning and 

production to distribution and sales.

 By bringing the planning and production capabilities ASMIK 

ACe possesses into the J:COM Group, we can support 

 ASMIK ACe’s distribution and production activities while we 

augment our contents production capabilities, expand our 

business domain and pursue synergies with our media and 

CATV businesses.

 Moving forward, we will continue to pursue opportunities in 

alliances and M&A to further enhance our competitive edge in 

the media business.

 

ASMIK ACE ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Business 

details:

• Movie production and equity investment

• Motion picture distribution and promotion

• packaged software sales

• TV game software planning and sales

• Motion picture international licensing

•  Drama planning, production, outsourcing 
and promotion, etc.

O-oku

© 2010 Danjo Gyakuten O-oku production Committee

(Wu Yi) - The Smallest Baby panda In the World
© 2012 51: The Smallest Baby panda In the World Committee

AnnuAl RepORT 201126



Feature 2 Cultivating Alliances

1   Starting to Reap the Benefits of Our Alliance in Product Launches and  
Cross-Sales Promotions

We are pursuing business alliances with KDDI CORpORATIOn 

(KDDI) in the five areas of telecom business and product col-

laboration; sales and marketing cooperation; technology and 

infrastructure; media business; and CATV business. In 

FY2011, we saw significant benefits from our collaborative ef-

forts in the areas of telecom business and product collabora-

tion as well as sales and marketing cooperation. In April 2011, 

we launched J:COM pHOne plus, a telephony service that 

leverages KDDI’s platform. Subscribers to the service gain 

tremendous value—free calling* among not only J:COM 

pHOne and J:COM pHOne plus subscribers, but also sub-

scribers to KDDI’s telephony service as well as all its au mobile 

phone subscribers. This new service helped contribute to a 

10.1% year-on-year increase in new subscribers to J:COM’s te-

lephony service in FY2011. looking at high-speed Internet ac-

cess service, we saw a steady rise in subscribers to J:COM 

WiMAX, a high-speed mobile Internet access service intro-

duced by uQ Communications Inc., an equity method affiliate 

of KDDI. In the area of sales and marketing cooperation, in 

August 2010 we began cross-sales promotions between 

J:COM services and KDDI’s au mobile phone service. The ef-

forts contributed 11,300 RGus to J:COM in FY2011.

*  Some conditions may apply to enjoy free calling to au mobile phones. For 
example, au mobile subscribers need to apply for the free calling service to 
J:COM to qualify.

2  Onto the Second Phase of Our Alliance with KDDI
In FY2012 and beyond, we will intensify our focus on cross-

sales promotions to better leverage the respective product 

lineups and customer bases of J:COM and KDDI. For exam-

ple, KDDI’s Metal-plus phone customers who live in J:COM’s 

coverage areas can be migrated from nTT lines to J:COM 

lines. This also presents the opportunity to sell other J:COM 

services to that customer. Further in March 2012, the dis-

counted package au Smart Value launched. under the new 

service, KDDI’s au smartphone subscribers receive a discount 

of ¥1,480 off of their au smartphone basic monthly rate for up 

to two years (¥980 after two years) if they also subscribe to 

our fixed-line telecommunication services, J:COM neT (40 

Mbps or ultra 160 Mbps) and J:COM pHOne. We hope the 

new service will help us acquire new subscribers and sell ad-

ditional services to existing subscribers.

3  Making the Most of Management Resources at Sumitomo Corporation
We are also working to strengthen sales activities targeting 

condominium buildings, leveraging the management resourc-

es available at the real estate sales and other business units 

at our leading shareholder, Sumitomo Corporation (Sumito-

mo). These efforts will complement our past track record, 

such as delivering J:COM neT Hikari 100 Mbps Internet ac-

cess service to all residential units in THe TOKYO TOWeRS, 

a large-scale condominium complex developed by an affiliate 

of Sumitomo.

 Additionally, lifestyle-support businesses, such as the online 

groceries store and electric power retail business developed by 

Sumitomo, make a good fit with our J:COM everywhere con-

cept. We look to leverage these management resources as well 

as pursue more business alliance opportunities.

(1)  To further increase the effectiveness of collaborations already underway  
with KDDI, we will expand the scope of our alliance.

(2)  We will also pursue business alliances with Sumitomo Corporation to  
strengthen existing business domains and develop new business opportunities.

Key Points

Deepening Alliances with KDDI 
and Sumitomo Corporation

AnnuAl RepORT 2011 27

S
p

ecial Feature



Outline of Home Concierge Service (tentative)

Digital service
diversification
Multi-channels,

VOD, OTT,
lifestyle-support services,

Wi-Fi, WiMAX, DLNA

Increasing cases of 
“I want to use,

but I don’t know how”.

Home digital terminal
diversification

Smart TVs,
next-generation STB,

tablet PC
smartphones, PCs

Home Concierge Service (tentative)

Customers

Direct sales representatives

Customer center operators

TECNET

Service engineers

Regional partners

2,500

2,600

1,800

3,500

Know-how on sales of
non-commodity product

revenue-generating video service

Service opportunities derived from
efforts to build relationships of trust

with customers through explanations
provided at home

Enhance quality of life
and convenience

Resolve the
“digital divide”

Promote easy access
whenever required

Strengthen relationships
with customers

Create additional
marketing opportunities

Promote profitable
services

Feature 3 Expanding into New Business Domains:  
 J:COM everywhere

(1)  Leverage our existing infrastructure and sales base to deliver a variety of  
services that assist the day-to-day lives of our customers.

(2)  Develop businesses organically as we also consider alliance and  
M&A opportunities.

Key Points

From a Triple-player to a  
Comprehensive Community  
Service Partner

1    Background of the J:COM Everywhere Concept
We have unveiled our J:COM everywhere concept, which en-

visages complementing the expansion of our traditional CATV 

and media businesses with the pursuit of becoming a com-

prehensive community service partner delivering services 

helpful to the day-to-day lives of our customers in their com-

munities in a variety of new areas. J:COM’s network already 

reaches 9.1 million households. Of these, 3.66 million house-

holds pay for premium services and therefore have in place a 

fee collection platform—a valuable asset that can be utilized 

to deliver new business services. By combining this infra-

structure with J:COM’s uniquely attentive service capabilities 

that are closely rooted in the communities, we can provide 

one-stop lifestyle-support services that fulfill customer needs. 

In this sense, the J:COM everywhere concept can help boost 

customer satisfaction by enhancing convenience in the day-

to-day lives of our customers.

2  Examples of J:COM Everywhere in Practice

 Bolstering contents services

  With TV everywhere, customers could enjoy J:COM contents 

anytime, anyplace.

  Aim to offer lifestyle-support* services sooner rather than later, 

leveraging the resources and business assets of Sumitomo 

and KDDI.

* See page 21 for a detailed description.

 Improving usability

  Offer the functionality of linking smartphones and tablet pCs to our 

set-top boxes and cable modems for use in device operation and 

contents viewing.

  For example, enable the use of a smartphone or tablet pC as the 

TV remote control, which would improve usability significantly 

compared to conventional remote.

 Providing attentive support

  enhance the convenience of our services not only through ease of 

use but also through personalized explanations and support. To 

this end, launch a Home Concierge service aimed at providing 

tailored support including environment settings that would not be 

possible through a digital service alone.
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Feature 4 Interviews

Taking advantage of the strength of  
being closest to the customer,  
we are enhancing not only the framework  
but the substance of our customer service.

Kumiko Yoshida, 
General Manager Administration Department at J:COM Shonan, J:COM Shonan Co., Ltd.

1   What Efforts are J:COM Shonan Involved in to Strengthen Follow-Through  
Service with Subscribers?

We are focused on three categories—strengthening our orga-

nization and personnel, driving efficiencies, and enhancing 

the substance of customer service. First, to strengthen our 

organization and personnel, we launched a customer support 

team and have increased personnel significantly. To head the 

support team, we appointed a member of our technical staff 

as the person responsible for customer satisfaction. This was 

to better integrate our technical and customer support teams 

to provide higher quality follow-through service to our cus-

tomers. Second, to drive efficiencies, we leverage the unique-

ly broad range of customer contacts J:COM enjoys, from 

J:COM Shops to customer centers. For example, our CATV 

station support team may not be staffed to handle all requests 

to explain how to use our remote controls. Instead, by inviting 

customers to join us at our J:COM Shops for regularly held 

tutorials we can reach more customers and improve satisfac-

tion. Third, to enhance the substance of our service, for ex-

ample, we target customers we rarely reach through door-to-

door sales activities. We offer upgraded service plans available 

at approximately the same fee as the customer’s current plan. 

At the same time, service engineers provide services, such as 

reorganizing the cables that connect to the TV, that enhance 

customer satisfaction and trust in J:COM.

2  What Do You Do to Improve Skills and Motivation among Your Staff?
We can make great strides in improving follow-through cus-

tomer service skills by sharing both positive and negative 

feedback from our customers at our plenary morning meet-

ings. The feedback is translated into case studies and spe-

cific action plans to enhance customer value, and shared with 

all staff members. To encourage motivation, we apply a points 

system to customer evaluations of our staff and periodically 

give out Best Service Awards. We are very inclusive with our 

Best Service Awards—staff who could qualify include those 

working in the office as well as those out in the field, and cus-

tomer support staff as well as technical support staff. This 

helps bring all of us together to achieve better follow-through 

customer service.

3  What Areas Would You Like to Strengthen More in the Future?
We would like to be more closely involved in the community, 

to communicate information that enhances customer conve-

nience, and increase activities, such as lifelong learning, that 

may not necessarily have a direct relationship to J:COM ser-

vices. For example, we already hold tutorials on personal 

computers. We would like to enhance the substance of these 

workshops to go beyond teaching personal-computing skills 

and have participants create work products they can bring 

home for use on their own. Also, by following up with partici-

pants we can make even first-timers feel more at ease with 

J:COM services.

Initiatives to Enhance Customer SatisfactionPart 1
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Special Feature – On Toward the next phase of Growth

We aim to support J:COM’s  
growth through technological  
innovations.

Hiroaki Sakagami,  
General Manager, Technology Strategy Department,  
Technoloy Division, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd.

1   Tell Me About Enhancing Infrastructure Functionality, One of Two Pillars of 
J:COM’s Technological Strategy. Why Now?

For one, the volume of data transmission is rapidly expanding. 

That is being driven not only by an increase in J:COM sub-

scribers, but also the rapid spread of smartphones and tablet 

pCs and the larger data size of contents. To efficiently handle 

this increase in data volumes, J:COM needs to enhance reli-

ability and bolster its network. The second reason is to en-

hance network efficiencies. Traditionally, J:COM had built 

separate backbone lines* for each service, including CATV, 

high-speed Internet access and telephony. However, we now 

need a more flexible network capable of supporting a diverse 

range of services. In this sense, enhancing infrastructure 

functionality has become a high priority.

* Backbone lines: large capacity telecommunications lines

2   What Specific Initiatives Will You Implement to Enhance Infrastructure  
Functionality?

We are migrating the backbone lines that connect J:COM 

service areas located in five major metropolitan areas to the 

integrated Ip core network* provided by KDDI CORpORA-

TIOn (KDDI). The migration began in March 2012 and should 

finish by the end of FY2013. Consolidating onto an integrated 

Ip core network will not only expand telecommunications  

capacity and enhance reliability, but will also generate cost 

savings of several billion yen over the next six years. Mean-

while, full-fledged efforts to upgrade equipment in J:COM’s 

networks connecting individual CATV stations within each 

service area will begin in 2013 to enhance efficiencies and 

increase telecommunications capacity.

*  An integrated backbone network for KDDI services (such as au, au Hikari, 
Cable-plus phone)

3   You Put Forth Next-Generation Set-Top Boxes as the Other Pillar of Your Techno-
logical Strategy. Explain the Background to This and What You Aim to Achieve.

As the convergence of broadcasting and telecommunications 

accelerates, we need to provide cutting-edge services made 

possible by next-generation set-top boxes. Meanwhile, with 

the spread of smartphones and tablet pCs there is greater 

demand to view programming on a more diverse range of 

devices. In response, J:COM has studied a TV everywhere 

concept, which seeks to allow customers to enjoy TV con-

tents and services anywhere. next-generation set-top boxes 

will play a central role in this concept. In addition to traditional 

functions, the next-generation set-top boxes will link to a wide 

variety of devices including smartphones and tablet pCs and 

include a portal and programming schedule that provides rich 

and highly convenient information. In addition, the set-top 

boxes will open up new possibilities by connecting to home 

networks and enabling the download of applications, making 

it possible to share video information within the home.

 Moving forward, we look to provide a broad range of ser-

vices that move beyond conventional boundaries and con-

nect to intelligent home appliances and cloud computing. We 

aim to commercialize services that support more diverse and 

complex needs for different age ranges, hobbies and tastes.

J:COM’s Technological StrategyPart 2
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Market Environment and J:COM’s Positioning 
(To facilitate comparisons with market data, we use figures current as of the end of September  
for the number of subscribers to J:COM’s services. please see page 10 for year-end data.)

1. Pay Multichannel Broadcasting
  Diversification in Personal Hobbies and 
Interests Is Driving Market Growth

The market size of pay multichannel broadcasting* in Japan 

grew to 12.47 million households in September 2011 from 

10.92 million households in September 2008—an annual 

growth rate of 4.5%. Diversification of personal hobbies and 

interests is fueling greater demand for more specialized chan-

nels in a broad range of genres including sports, movies and 

news, which in turn drives market growth.

* Combined total of CATV, SKY perfect JSAT satellite and IpTV subscribers.

 Great Market Potential
Only 23% of households in Japan subscribe to pay multi-

channel broadcasting service, a level remarkably low com-

pared to the West. One reason is that free-to-air terrestrial TV 

has played a dominant role in Japan and viewers have yet to 

sufficiently recognize the presence and entertainment value of 

pay multichannel broadcasting. The pay multichannel broad-

casting industry is faced with the challenge of enhancing the 

quality of the video contents it delivers and launching new 

product packages that better match recent changes in 

household composition to tap into a latent viewer base.

 Viewing Styles Are Also Diversifying
Another important challenge is responding to the change in 

how consumers view contents. Although passive viewing of 

real-time broadcasts is common, there is growing demand 

among viewers to watch their favorite video contents using 

on-demand formats. The size of the pay-VOD market grew 

rapidly to ¥78.2 billion in 2011 from ¥45.3 billion in 2008*.

* Source: IT navigator (2010-2012 version) by nomura Research Institute

 Market Competition Is Intensifying
As the market for pay multichannel broadcasting achieves 

steady growth, competition from entrants from other in-

dustries, such as the major telecommunications carriers, is 

intensifying. Recently, the market has seen the entry of an 

over-the-top model, where video contents are distributed 

 directly to personal computers, cellphones and tablet pCs 

over the Internet.

  J:COM TV Subscriber Growth  
Outpacing the Market

J:COM TV subscribers grew to 2.82 million households as of 

the end of September 2011 from 2.35 million as of the end of 

September 2008. The annual growth rate of 6.3% beat the 

market’s 4.5%. As a result, J:COM’s share within the pay mul-

tichannel broadcasting market increased 1.1 percentage 

points to 22.6%. Similarly, our share within the CATV market 

grew 2.6 percentage points to 36.6%. We attribute this suc-

cess to service area expansions achieved through friendly 

acquisitions of other CATV companies, J:COM’s product 

strategy, which rapidly responded to changes in consumer 

needs, and differentiation in contents and customer service.
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2. High-Speed Internet Access (Broadband) Service
  Shifting from ADSL to FTTH and  
CATV Internet Access Services

The market size of broadband services in Japan grew to 36.26 

million households as of the end of September 2011 from 

29.74 million as of the end of September 2008, according to 

the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (MIC). That 

represents an annual growth rate of 6.8%. However, a look at 

the market composition shows a clear divergence among tech-

nology formats. With the rise in video and other rich contents, 

users have expressed increased demand for greater and faster 

data transmission capacities. As a result, FTTH has grown 

15.9% per annum, and CATV Internet 12.9%, both double-

digit growth rates. Meanwhile, ADSl, having inferior transmis-

sion speeds, has declined 14.8% per annum.

  J:COM Is Gradually Increasing  
Its Presence in the Broadband Market

J:COM neT, our high-speed Internet access service, is a highly 

reliable CATV Internet service that combines fiber-optic and co-

axial cable lines to achieve ultra-fast transmission rates of 160 

megabits per second (Mbps), comparable to the FTTH broad-

band services offered by major telecommunications carriers. 

Our service is also available at speeds of 40 Mbps, 12 Mbps 

and 1 Mbps. J:COM neT subscribers grew to 1.79 million 

households as of the end of September 2011 from 1.35 million 

as of the end of September 2008, an average growth rate of 

9.9% per annum. Our market share within the overall broad-

band market grew to 4.9% as of the end of September 2011 

from 4.5% as of the end of  September 2008.

3.  Fixed-Line Telephony Service
 Although the Market Is Shrinking...

The number of subscription to telephone lines in Japan shrank 

slightly to 57.08 million as of the end of September 2011 from 

58.87 million in September 2008, according to the MIC. This 

is attributable to a growing number of households who 

choose not to use a fixed-line telephone, a trend particularly 

prevalent among Japan’s youth.

  J:COM PHONE Subscribers Are Increasing Steadily
J:COM’s telephony service J:COM pHOne is very price competi-

tive compared to similar services offered by major telecommunica-

tions carriers. J:COM pHOne plus, which launched in April 2011 

and leverages the platform of KDDI CORpORATIOn (KDDI), sig-

nificantly expands the scope of free calling and is a much more 

competitive product. J:COM pHOne subscribers grew to 2.15 

million households as of the end of September 2011 from 1.51 

million as of the end of September 2008. Our share within Japan’s 

telephone market grew to 3.8% as of the end of September 2011 

from 2.6% as of the end of September 2008.
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 Growth in Customer Base Accelerated
Amid the fierce competition from major telecommunications 

companies and other competitors for capturing multi-channel 

and telecommunication service subscribers, we positioned 

efforts to expand our customer base as the most important 

priority and worked on a variety of initiatives.

 In the CATV service, we continued to: (1) expand sales of 

our strategic product J:COM TV My style; and (2) sign up 

unconnected communal reception facilities*. not only was 

J:COM TV My style effective in capturing demand resulting 

from Japan’s migration to digital terrestrial broadcasting, the 

product won broad support for its ability to effectively cater to 

the increasing need for on-demand viewing. As a result, our 

CATV subscribers continued to rise even after the migration to 

digital broadcasting completed in July 2011.

 Our high-speed Internet access service also succeeded in 

increasing subscribers, thanks to efforts including enhanced se-

curity, capability to meet a wide variety of customer needs, rein-

forced efforts to win bulk contracts for condominium buildings 

and active promotional activities utilizing popular service charac-

ters. Meanwhile, our telephony service saw a significant rise in 

subscribers as our new J:COM pHOne plus service leveraging 

KDDI’s platform delivered enhanced convenience through ex-

panded free calling and appealed to a latent pool of customers.

 As a result of these efforts, combined with (1) the introduc-

tion of discounted service packages meeting customer needs 

and (2) the effects of product collaboration and cross-sales 

promotions with KDDI, subscribers to all services grew at a 

rate that outpaced results from the previous fiscal year.

*  Some households cannot receive a terrestrial broadcasting signal due to inter-
ference from high-rise buildings or mountains. To improve reception, neigh-
boring households share a terrestrial signal through so-called communal re-
ception facilities. Here, unconnected communal reception facilities refer to 
those facilities located within J:COM’s service areas that are not operated by 
a J:COM group.

Total RGUs (Total number of  
revenue generating units)
Subscriber Growth Accelerated in All Three Services

Cable Television 2.88 million (+6.9%)

High-speed Internet Access 1.83 million (+7.7%)

Telephony 2.22 million (+12.5%)

Total RGUs 6.92 million (+8.8%)

Composition of Households by 
Number of Services Subscribed
Service Bundling Advances Further

3 services 30.5% (+1.5 points)

2 services 28.3% (+0.7 points)

1 service 41.2% (–2.2 points)

Cable Television (CATV) Business

1. A look at the numbers—Operating Highlights of FY2011

2. Review of Operations
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Average Monthly Churn Rate
Significant Improvement, Reversing upward Trend 
Seen until last Year

Cable Television 1.00% (–0.22 points)

High-speed Internet Access 1.17% (–0.07 points)

Telephony 0.76% (–0.09 points)

per RGU 0.97% (–0.14 points)

Subscription Fees
Increased Steadily in All Three Services

Cable Television  ¥165.4 billion (+2.8%)

High-speed Internet Access  ¥90.1 billion (+3.5%)

Telephony  ¥52.5 billion (+4.1%)

Subscription Fees (total)  ¥307.9 billion (+3.3%)

 Churn Rate Declined to an Historic Low
In July 2011, we implemented a massive reorganization that 

integrated sales, customer centers and technical support to 

achieve attentive customer service. We added personnel in 

our inbound-call centers and bolstered activities aimed at im-

proving customer-response skills. As a result, our call-re-

sponse capabilities were strengthened significantly, leading to 

improved customer satisfaction. In addition to these mea-

sures, efforts to promote subscription to long-term contracts 

(product packages) paid off. Our average monthly churn rate 

per RGu fell to an historically low 0.97%, compared to 1.11% 

in the previous fiscal year.

  Subscription Fees Continued to Climb  
as Subscriber Additions Absorbed a Decline 
in ARPU

Total subscribing households as of the end of FY2011 in-

creased 6.7% compared to the end of the previous fiscal year 

as a result of efforts to increase sales of discounted service 

packages in response to customer needs. Meanwhile, sub-

scriptions to J:COM TV My style and other discounted pack-

ages increased, resulting in a decline of ¥181 in ARpu (aver-

age monthly revenue per unit) compared to the previous fiscal 

year. As a result, subscription fees increased 3.3% year-on-

year as subscriber growth absorbed the decline in ARpu. 

Subscription fees increased for each service thanks to a 

strong rise in subscribing households. Moreover, the bundle 

ratio as of the end of FY2011 increased to 1.89, from 1.86 as 

of the end of the previous fiscal year.

1. A look at the numbers—Operating Highlights of FY2011

2. Review of Operations
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Available from April 27, 2012 to August 26, 2012

Review of Operations

 Fundamental Strategies

Pursue a New Business Development
In FY2011, we acquired Yokohama Cable Vision Inc. (YCV) from Sotetsu Holdings, Inc. The 

acquisition was implemented jointly with TOKYu CORpORATIOn (Tokyu) and made YCV a 

consolidated subsidiary of J:COM. As the largest CATV operator, we aim to leverage the acqui-

sition to establish a framework for collaboration with Tokyu, which is involved in a variety of 

businesses that support the day-to-day lives of residents in areas served by its core railroad 

operations. Through such collaboration, we aim to develop and deploy lifestyle-support ser-

vices leveraging our CATV service. Both Tokyu and J:COM seek to deploy our management 

resources and know-how to evolve CATV into a lifestyle-support media in the communities we 

serve.

Introduce Products and Services That Meet Customer Needs
1. Respond to Changes in Household Composition and Viewing Styles

Multichannel broadcasting packages have enjoyed a gradual increase in subscribers, primarily 

among families. While multichannel service penetration rate is a low 23%, we continue to be-

lieve there is significant market growth potential for this business model. At the same time, 

however, we must be flexible in responding to changes including (1) the rise in single-occupant 

households and (2) a shift in demand from real-time viewing to on-demand contents.

 In 2005, we led the industry in launching J:COM on Demand, which has since grown to  

Japan’s largest VOD service. In July 2010, we launched J:COM TV My style, which incorpo-

rates unlimited viewing of subscription VOD packages. Through these efforts, we appropri-

ately responded to changes in household compositions and viewing styles. At J:COM, we aim 

to develop new potential customers by expanding sales of products that promptly meet chang-

es in user needs, and eventually lead them to up-

graded multichannel services.

CATV Service (J:COM TV)

Wide array of thematic channels to match diversifying viewer preferences  
(over 70 channels)

Industry’s largest VOD library (32,900 titles) to meet the growing need for  
on-demand videos

Convenient HDR set-top boxes with internal hard-disk drives enabling recording  
and start-over functionality*
*The start-over function is a feature that allows the program to be viewed from the beginning even if it is currently being recorded.

Service Overview

TBS drama
“Ouran High School Host Club”
exclusive transmission from July 2011 to 
September 2011
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“J:COM On Demand” 
Number of Purchases
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Review of Operations

2. Respond to Diversification of Devices

At J:COM, we are working to bring into fruition our TV everywhere service, which would enable 

customers to enjoy video contents anytime, anywhere and on any device. In July 2011, we 

launched our free application for smartphones and tablet pCs, enabling users to view program 

scheduling and a portion of our VOD contents. Moving forward, we plan to introduce a user 

authentication system and realize a convenient service that delivers rich VOD contents to users 

on their smartphone, tablet pC or personal computer.

Drive More Contents Differentiation
As competition for subscribers intensifies, we must differentiate our video contents to win our 

customers’ loyalty. Since 2004, we have actively promoted the shift toward HD contents.  

By the end of 2011, 70% of all channels had converted to HD. In addition to enhancing start-

over and catch-up episode viewing services, working together with terrestrial broadcasters, we 

are pursuing exclusive rights to make drama programs available on VOD before they air on 

terrestrial broadcasts, as part of an effort to further differentiate ourselves from other operators.

Improve Churn Rates
To continue to grow our customer base, we must not only acquire new subscribers, but also 

enhance after-service to existing customers. In FY2011, we added personnel and enhanced 

skills at our customer centers. In particular, we strengthened call response functions at our  

inbound-call centers to improve customer satisfaction. Further, we promoted products pack-

ages, such as our Value plan and J:COM TV My style, aimed at encouraging long-term com-

mitments from our customers. As a result, we increased the ratio of subscribing households 

with long-term contracts to 26% of total subscribing households as of the end of FY2011, 

compared to 15% as of the end of the previous fiscal year. In addition to these measures, by 

the end of April 2011, we completed the migration to digital CATV services at all our cable 

systems. These and other measures led to a significant improvement in average monthly churn 

rate in CATV service to 1.00% in FY2011, compared to 1.22% in the previous fiscal year.

Expand Sales of Value-Added Services to Rein in the  
Decline in ARPU
While strategic packages such as J:COM TV My style contribute greatly to new subscriber 

acquisitions, the products also cause a decline in ARpu. To limit the downside to ARpu, we 

have been striving to expand sales of value-added cutting-edge services. In addition to rein-

forcing our VOD service, we have expanded sales of HDR set-top boxes with internal recording 

functions centering on the Blu-Ray format. As a result, our HDR install base as of the end of 

FY2011 grew 9% year-on-year to 621,000 units. We also developed a new advertising model 

in our VOD service jointly with the ad agency Dentsu Inc. We have begun trials with the innova-

tive advertising model trial service, called CM (Commerical) Discount. under the service, the 

advertiser contributes a sum to the VOD title fee if the viewer views a commercial. By introduc-

ing new schemes like this, we hope to increase VOD usage and limit the decline in ARpu.
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J:COM NET Extensive 
Service Lineup
Transmission Speeds from  
low to High to Fulfill a Diverse 
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Review of Operations

 Fundamental Strategies

Marketing Strengths Unique to J:COM NET
In addition to our ultra 160 Mbps Internet access service, which rivals the major telecom carri-

ers, we offer a wide range of transmission-speed options (40 Mbps, 12 Mbps and 1 Mbps)—

one of the strengths of our J:COM neT service. Included within the monthly basic fee are many 

other price competitive features, from enhanced security to initial settings, provider fees and 

other free optional services. We offer the optimal service for all customers, from those who use 

the Internet often to view video contents to those who mostly use the Internet to access e-mail 

and surf the web.

Reinforce Sales Targeting New Condominiums
We are striving to promote J:COM neT subscriptions to residents of new condominiums. In 

FY2011, we entered into a business alliance agreement with Tsunagu network Communica-

tions Inc. (Tsunagu network), provider of e-mansion, one of the Japan’s largest Internet ser-

vices for condominiums. under the agreement, we sell J:COM neT to new condominiums built 

within our service areas by the real estate development units of Tsunagu network’s sharehold-

ers, Marubeni Corporation, Tokyo Tatemono Co., ltd. and Mitsubishi estate Co., ltd.* Moving 

forward, we will also strengthen alliances with the construction and real estate development 

businesses of our shareholder Sumitomo Corporation.

* In the case of Mitsubishi estate, applies to properties developed by its subsidiary, Mitsubishi Jisho Residence Co., ltd.

Move into the Mobile Age
Since December 2010, J:COM neT subscribers have had the option of signing up for J:COM 

WiMAX, a high-speed mobile Internet service introduced by KDDI equity-method affiliate uQ 

Communications Inc. users of the service enjoy high-speed Internet access (up to 40 Mbps 

downstream) on the go, both indoors and outdoors.

Enhance the Appeal of Service  
by Unifying the J:COM NET ISP Service 
Brands to ZAQ
Since the end of October 2011, we have unified J:COM neT ISp (Internet service provider) 

service brands to ZAQ nationwide. Formerly the service was branded as ZAQ in the Kansai 

area and @netHome in all other service areas. The unified service brand is expected to in-

crease recognition of J:COM neT and strengthen the appeal of the service.

 With the brand unification, the ZAQ service character, which enjoys exceptional popularity in 

the Kansai area, has been adopted as the character for J:COM neT and employed in television 

commercials, online promotions and other campaigns.

High-Speed Internet Access Service  
(J:COM NET)

A broad range of transmission speeds to meet diversifying needs for the Internet 
Enhanced support and free security service to improve customer satisfaction

Service Overview
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(40 Mbps or  

ultra 160 Mbps)

IS Flat
or
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au Smartphone

Subscription to J:COM Services

J:COM PHONE
Plus

au smartphone monthly rate for up to two years

A discount of ¥980 per month forever + a discount of ¥500 per month for up to two years

¥1,480 OFF

Review of Operations

 Fundamental Strategies

Emphasize the Value to the Customer in Price and Convenience
Our telephony service delivers quality equivalent to that of traditional telephone lines, but is 

based primarily on Ip telephony, which is more economic in terms of both basic fees and call 

charges. In April 2011, we launched J:COM pHOne plus, which leverages KDDI’s platform. 

Subscribers to the service enjoy free calling among not only J:COM pHOne and J:COM 

pHOne plus subscribers, but also KDDI’s Cable-plus phone and au mobile phone subscrib-

ers*. By maximizing the appeal of this service, we are pushing to increase new subscribers 

further. We are also encouraging households using legacy telephone lines to switch over  

to J:COM pHOne plus to further enhance customer satisfaction and to reduce costs.

* A subscription to both J:COM pHOne plus and au mobile phone services required to qualify.

Encourage Migration from Metal-plus Phone
We are working together with KDDI to encourage KDDI’s Metal-plus phone customers who  

live in J:COM’s coverage areas to subscribe to J:COM pHOne plus by switching over from 

nTT’s lines to J:COM’s cables inside the customer home, as part of an effort to increase J:COM 

subscribers.

LEVERAGE AU SMART VALUE

au Smart Value is a service package combining the au 

smartphone offered by KDDI with fixed-line telecommunication 

services (Internet and telephony) offered by affiliated CATV 

operators and the like. For example, KDDI's au smartphone 

subscribers receive a discount of ¥1,480 off of their au 

smartphone basic monthly rate for up to two years (¥980 after 

two years) if they also subscribe to our J:COM NET (40 Mbps or 

ultra 160 Mbps) and J:COM PHONE services. We seek to 

leverage this service package to (1) acquire new subscribers and 

(2) sell additional services to and keep existing subscribers.

Telephony Service (J:COM PHONE)

Unrivaled price competitiveness in basic fees and call charges

Free calling to more than 3.5 million households nationwide  
(as of the end of September 2011)

Free calling from J:COM PHONE Plus users to au cellphone users nationwide*

Service Overview
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Review of Operations

 Fundamental Strategies

Improve Channel Quality and Promote Differentiation
As competition intensifies in the pay multichannel broadcasting market, we aim to leverage our 

unique strengths as Japan’s only operator possessing both a platform to distribute multichan-

nel services as well as contents in the form of media business to improve the quality of our 

thematic channels and actively pursue differentiation. As part of that effort, we rebranded the 

lala TV channel, operated by our consolidated subsidiary Jupiter entertainment Co., ltd., 

into Women’s Channel  lalaTV, and effective January 2012 strengthened the channel with 

reprogramming measures that increase the focus on the needs of women viewers. Further, in 

november 2011, Jupiter Golf network Co., ltd., consolidated subsidiary and operator of the 

Golf network, signed a licensing and distribution agreement 

effective April 2012 with Golf Channel of the uS. As a result, 

the Golf network becomes Japan’s only dedicated golf chan-

nel and stands to see its programming lineup expanded and 

enhanced significantly.

Leverage New BS Channels to Expand 
Viewership and Stimulate the Multichannel 
Market
When the BS digital broadcasting system launched its new 

platform in October 2011, consolidated subsidiary and sports 

channel operator J SpORTS started broadcasting J SpORTS 

1 and J SpORTS 2 on the new platform. In March 2012, we 

migrated J SpORTS 3 (formerly J sports eSpn) and J 

SpORTS 4 (formally J sports plus) to the new BS platform, 

also. By doing so, we plan to maximize the appeal of J 

SpORTS among BS broadcast viewers, whom we had not 

been able to reach directly to date. We expect this to be effec-

tive in increasing subscribers and stimulating the multichannel 

market as a whole.

* please see page 18 for more on our 17 thematic channels.

Media Business

Invest in and operate 17 thematic channels*, achieving a fully integrated model, from 
program purchasing, production and scheduling to distribution to CATV,  
satellite and IP multicast.

CS Broadcast Channels Ranked by Number of  
Subscribing Households

Rank Channel name
Total number of 

Subscribing 
Households

Data Collection 
Date

1 AnIMAX 9,131,678 12/31/11

2 Kids Station 8,691,371 12/31/11

3 SpACe SHOWeR TV 8,645,247 12/31/11

4 Family Gekijyo 8,479,100 10/31/11

5 Super! drama TV 8,463,600 12/31/11

6 SAMuRAI DRAMA CHAnnel 8,224,209 1/31/12

7 Channel neCO 8,207,781 1/31/12

8 MTV 7,938,800 1/31/12

9 nittele G+ 7,915,919 12/31/11

10 GAORA 7,693,000 1/31/12

11 Japanese Movie Channel 7,630,279 1/31/12

12 nikkei CnBC 7,574,918 1/31/12

14 AXn 7,518,667 1/31/12

15 Movie plus 7,497,661 12/31/11

17 JSpORTS 1, 2, 3 and 4* 7,450,000 12/31/11

20 Golf network 7,259,437 12/31/11

21 Discovery Channel 7,028,666 12/31/11

23 lala TV 6,811,541 12/31/11

29 Animal planet 6,135,906 12/31/11

33 Act On TV/entertainment and lifestyle 
information for adults 4,800,000 12/31/11

40 Channel Ginga 4,101,869 12/31/11

 The thematic channels that J:COM invests in and operates
 *  The figure for J sports eSpn, 1, 2, 3 and 4 represents the total number of subscribing 

households to all four channels.
Source: B-maga, March 2012

Service Overview

J SpORTS england premier league
photo: Ap/Aflo
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Corporate Governance

J:COM believes corporate governance is predicated on improving management efficiency and 
maintaining sound operations as well as on ensuring transparency in management processes 
to achieve these goals. Accordingly, we strive to develop a management structure optimized to 
J:COM’s operations, and continually enhance corporate governance to maximize corporate 
value for our shareholders and other stakeholders over the medium to long-term.

 Corporate Governance Structure (As of April 1, 2012)

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has 11 members, including 4 outside 
directors, and meets once a month, in principle. Special meet-
ings are held as needed. The board decides management 
policies, management strategies, business plans, the acquisi-
tion and disposal of important assets, and other important mat-
ters related to the organization and human resources of the 
company, while also overseeing the business operations of 
J:COM and our consolidated subsidiaries. Further, in Septem-
ber 2004, the term of service for directors was set at one year 
to further improve the functionality of corporate governance 
system and establish a management structure that can re-
spond swiftly to changes in the business environment.

Corporate Officer System and Management Meetings
In March 2008, we introduced a corporate officer system to 
further clarify the responsibilities and authority of executives 
and strengthen their ability to properly execute their duties. 
Further, the Management Meeting, consisting primarily of full-
time directors and senior corporate officers, was established 
as a vehicle for fast and appropriate decision-making.  
The Management Meeting is designed as a forum to discuss 
important management issues, including managing the  

performance of J:COM and our consolidated subsidiaries, de-
liberate matters requiring the president approval, and provide 
advice relating to the appropriate execution of the duties by 
the president, directors and senior corporate officers.

Board of Statutory Auditors
The Board of Statutory Auditors comprises statutory auditors 
and outside auditors and has 4 members, including 3 outside 
auditors and 1 full-time auditor. One of the outside auditors 
qualifies as an independent officer per guidelines established 
by the Osaka Securities Exchange Co., Ltd. The statutory au-
ditors, acting in accordance with the audit plans developed by 
the Board of Statutory Auditors, review all aspects of J:COM’s 
business operations, including its policies, planning, proce-
dural appropriateness, operational effectiveness, and compli-
ance with all relevant laws and regulations. The statutory audi-
tors also attend meetings of the Board of Directors and other 
important meetings, inspect critical corporate documents, 
conduct examination-based audits of consolidated subsidiar-
ies, and report to the Board of Statutory Auditors. Moreover, 
as needed, statutory auditors receive reports from indepen-
dent auditing firms on auditing activities and examine financial 
statements and any accompanying statements.

Major Activities of Outside Directors and Outside Statutory Auditors (From January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011)

Name Status of Major Activities

Outside Director Yoshio Osawa Attended all 12 meetings of the Board of Directors during this fiscal year, providing 
individual opinion in discussions of proposals.

Outside Director Daisuke Mikogami Attended 11 of 12 meetings of the Board of Directors during this fiscal year, providing 
individual opinion in discussions of proposals.

Outside Director Hirofumi Morozumi Attended all 12 meetings of the Board of Directors during this fiscal year, providing 
individual opinion in discussions of proposals.

Outside Director Makoto Takahashi Attended 11 of 12 meetings of the Board of Directors during this fiscal year, providing 
individual opinion in discussions of proposals.

Outside Statutory Auditor Toshifumi Shibuya
Attended all 12 meetings of the Board of Directors and all 12 meetings of the Board of 
Statutory Auditors held during this fiscal year, providing individual opinion from a 
specialist’s viewpoint in discussions of proposals.

Outside Statutory Auditor Kenichiro Takagi
Attended all 12 meetings of the Board of Directors and 11 of 12 meetings of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors held during this fiscal year, providing individual opinion from a 
specialist’s viewpoint in discussions of proposals.

Outside Statutory Auditor Katsuyuki Yamaguchi
Attended all 10 meetings of the Board of Directors and all 9 meetings of the Board of 
Statutory Auditors held after the assumption during this fiscal year, providing individual 
opinion from a specialist’s viewpoint in discussions of proposals.

(Note)  Katsuyuki Yamaguchi was newly appointed as Statutory Auditor at our Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 23, 2011.   
Since then, 10 meetings of the Board of Directors and 9 meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors were held in FY2011.
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Diagram of Our Corporate Governance Structure (As of April 1, 2012)

Corporate Governance

Reason for Selection of Outside Statutory Auditors

Name Reason the Outside Statutory Auditor was Selected
(If designated as an independent officer, the reason for the designation)

Toshifumi 
Shibuya

Well-versed in corporate legal affairs, Mr. Shibuya can 
apply his knowledge and many years of experience to 
serve as an outside statutory auditor and perform in-
dependent supervision of the work performed by our 
directors.

Kenichiro 
Takagi

Well-versed in corporate accounting, Mr. Takagi can 
apply his knowledge and many years of experience to 
serve as an outside statutory auditor and perform in-
dependent supervision of the work performed by our 
directors.

Katsuyuki 
Yamaguchi

Well-versed in corporate legal affairs as an attorney, 
Mr. Yamaguchi has experience as a statutory auditor 
of publicly listed companies. Mr. Yamaguchi can ap-
ply his knowledge and many years of experience to 
serve as an outside statutory auditor and perform in-
dependent supervision of the work performed by our 
directors. In his capacity as statutory auditor, we see 
no risk of conflicts of interest with our general share-
holders and designate Mr. Yamaguchi as an indepen-
dent officer per guidelines established by the Osaka 
Securities Exchange.

 Stock Option System
The company believes that an increased focus on sharehold-
ers by directors and other corporate officers when making 
management decisions will consequently lead to the J:COM 
Group achieving improved business results and enhanced 
corporate value in the medium to long-term. Accordingly, 
starting in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, we began 

awarding stock acquisition rights to directors, statutory audi-
tors, and other corporate officers as reward–based stock op-
tions. For further information pertaining to this system, please 
refer to page 83 of this annual report.

  Compensation of Corporate Officers  
(From January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011)

Total 
compensation
(Yen in millions)

Amount of compensation by 
category

(Yen in millions) Number 
of 

peopleBasic 
compen-

sation

Stock 
options Bonuses

Directors*1 249 212 37 — 8

Statutory 
auditors *2 26 24 2 — 2

Outside 
directors 
and  
auditors

6 6 — — 1

*1. Excludes outside directors
*2. Excludes outside auditors
Notes: 1.  The figures above include 2 directors and 1 statutory auditor that 

resigned from their post following the 17th General Shareholders’ 
Meeting, held on March 23, 2011.

  2.  At the end of the year under review, there were 10 directors and 4 
statutory auditors.

  3.  At the 13th General Shareholders’ Meeting, held on March 27, 2007, 
the upper limit for compensation for directors was set a ¥600 million 
per year for monetary compensation and ¥250 million for reward-
based stock options (used as  medium-to long-term incentive.)

  4.  At a special meeting of shareholders, held on September 29, 2000, 
the upper limit for compensation for statutory auditors was set at 
¥100 million, while at the 13th General Shareholders’ Meeting, held 
on March 27, 2007, the upper limit for reward-based stock options 
(used as a medium-to long-term incentive) was set at ¥5 million.

Outside
Lawyer

Group
Companies

General Shareholders’ Meeting

Directors
Board of Directors

Accounting Auditors

Statutory Auditors
Board of

Statutory Auditors

Representative
Director,
President

Internal Control Committee

Compliance Committee

Information Security Committee

Business Execution Section

Internal Audits

Selection SelectionSelection

Audit

Reporting

Investigation

Audit

Reporting

Audit

Reporting

Selection & Supervision

Discussion & 
Reporting

Internal Audits

Internal Auditing Sections

Auditing Division

Internal Auditing Department

Internal Control Department
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 Internal Controls and Risk Management  
 Structure (As of April 1, 2012)

The core of J:COM’s internal audit system is the Auditing Divi-
sion, which reports directly to the president. The division 
comprises the Internal Auditing Department and the Internal 
Control Department. To ensure independence, members of 
both departments do not hold concurrent positions in other 
departments.

Internal Auditing Department
The Internal Auditing Department has 15 members who com-
prehensively audit J:COM and our consolidated subsidiaries 
per annual auditing plans. Formerly, audits were conducted 
once every two years. In FY2011, however, consolidated 
CATV subsidiaries were converted to a once-a-year audit 
schedule and all were audited as such. Additionally, beginning 
in FY2012, all departments within the J:COM Group, includ-
ing our contents providers, have been converted to a once-a-
year audit schedule and will be audited as such.
 The audit results are submitted to the president in an audit 
report that is shared with statutory auditors and related cor-
porate officers. Corrective action points from each audit are 
communicated to the manager responsible. Also, periodic 
checks are implemented to assess progress against the cor-
rective action points. The Internal Auditing Department and 
the Board of Statutory Auditors are independent of each oth-
er, but share audit results with each other and meet regularly 
to maintain close contact.

Internal Control Committee and 
Internal Control Department
To develop an internal control framework and disseminate im-
portant information regarding internal control throughout the 
J:COM Group, we established the Internal Control Commit-
tee, which reports directly to the president. The committee is 
tasked with conducting internal audits per Japan’s Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act (J-SOX). We have also estab-
lished the Internal Control Department, which works under 
the Internal Control Committee and within the Auditing Divi-
sion. This department comprises eight members who per-
form detailed internal control planning and verification activi-
ties. Specifically, the Internal Control Department incorporates 
workflow process diagrams, check points and various other 
controls into operating processes performed at our head-
quarters and principal subsidiaries. These controls are exam-
ined continuously to ensure their effectiveness. Additionally, 
considering the effect on the internal control audits, the  

Internal Control Department shares results from financial-
statement audits and otherwise works closely with account-
ing auditors. Further, to strengthen the companywide internal 
control system, the Internal Control Department regularly ex-
changes information with the statutory auditors and the Inter-
nal Auditing Department.

Risk Management Structure
In addition to our representative directors, directors tasked 
with specific supervisory duties seek to address all risks inher-
ent to corporate activities by organizing a groupwide compre-
hensive risk management structure and promoting risk man-
agement in their respective areas of responsibility. Specifically, 
our Administration Department oversees companywide risk 
management activities, strives to analyze and mitigate risks 
on a day-to-day basis, and builds a response and reporting 
regime for emergencies per the Crisis Management Manual. 
Individual organizational units complement risk management 
effectiveness by establishing rules specific to their area of re-
sponsibility and creating risk management policies and 
manuals. If a unit recognizes the risk of suffering a loss, the 
supervising director and 
statutory auditors are to be 
informed immediately. The 
Internal Auditing Department 
and the Internal Control De-
partment perform audits un-
der internal auditing rules 
and thereby assess the sta-
tus of internal controls as 
well as compliance with ap-
plicable laws and regulations 
within management organi-
zations and monitor the 
overall state of risk across 
the J:COM Group.

Information Security Management Structure
We strive to reinforce information security with the creation of 
Basic Guidelines for Information Security Management and 
the establishment of an Information Security Committee, 
which reports directly to the president. To protect personal 
information, we have maintained the privacy Mark certification 
offered by the Japan Information processing Development 
Corporation (JIpDEC) and promote and strengthen the ap-
propriate handling of personal information per certification 
standards.

Corporate Governance

Crisis Management Manual
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Compliance System

Compliance System

J:COM has established a Compliance Committee, which is 
chaired by the head of our Human Resources and Adminis-
tration unit and reports directly to the president. 
 We have developed a Compliance Manual that is distribut-
ed to all full-time and contract employees of J:COM, our con-
solidated subsidiaries and equity-method affiliate Discovery 
Japan, Inc. Through these and other efforts, we strive to raise 
awareness and deepen understanding of compliance-related 
issues among all J:COM Group employees. 
 Further, we have created a Compliance plan, which pro-
motes a multifaceted system of compliance education and 
measures based on a basic policy set forth in accordance 
with social and contemporary circumstances.

Speak Up System

J:COM has introduced the Speak up System as a safeguard against situations in which, for 
whatever reason, it may be difficult for employees to report compliance-related issues under 
the normal chain of command. This system provides an avenue for employees to speak up 
about compliance issues by reporting them to the Compliance Committee either directly or 
through consultation with an outside lawyer or the Company’s standing statutory auditor. In 
principle, employees reporting compliance issues are required to use their real name so that the 
Compliance Committee could specify to whom to respond. However, information regarding 
both the person reporting the issue and the issue that they are reporting are kept confidential 
and thus there are no drawbacks to reporting such issues.

We believe solid compliance is essential to sound business activities. We have organized a 
regime designed to ensure compliance with legal and social rules and strive to raise compli-
ance awareness among all officers and employees.

Compliance Manual

Standing statutory 
auditor

Compliance Committee

Reporter

Outside lawyer

ResponseReport/Consultation

Contact

Contact

Report/Consultation

Contact

Report/Consultation

Speak Up System
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Compliance Initiatives

Compliance is a part of various training curricula, including management and new employee 
training programs, as we strive to achieve a common understanding of compliance.
 In 2011, we focused on raising compliance awareness among officers and employees and 
cultivating a corporate culture (values sharing) that strives to eliminate compliance violations.
 Compliance initiatives at the J:COM Group included compliance messages issued by our 
president, activities aimed at raising awareness and sharing values related to compliance, and 
employee communications addressing adherence to laws and regulations as well as personal 
codes of conduct.
 To prevent the occurrence of behavior that runs counter to our legal and social responsibili-
ties, at weekly plenary meetings for CATV salespeople we discuss detailed case scenarios of 
sales activities to raise compliance awareness and deepen our understanding of where viola-
tions could potentially occur.
 Additionally, we launched an online compliance training course for all employees. The online 
curriculum uses a compliance manual to orient employees with relevant laws and regulations, 
fairness in business dealings and the protection of personal information, among other issues. 
The curriculum was reinforced with tests to solidify a deeper understanding and awareness of 
compliance issues.
 Through this diverse range of initiatives, the J:COM Group aims to raise compliance aware-
ness among officers and employees alike.

Compliance Activities (FY2011)

Description Eligible participants

Compliance training  
(during new employee training)

New hires, mid-career hires

Compliance training  
(during specialized training)

Employees (by department)

Online learning tests All employees

Message from our president 
and employee communications

All officers and employees

Compliance System

Screen grab of an employee compliance test
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

At J:COM, our corporate social responsibility (CSR) is very important to us, not only as a broad-

caster, but as a provider of services to our communities.

 Customer Relationships
At J:COM, signing up a new customer is only half the job. We 
strive to follow through with continued customer service 
aimed at maximizing customer satisfaction.
 The customer voice is the most important part of customer 
service. Customer feedback comes to us through our cus-
tomer centers, direct sales representatives and service engi-
neers and is compiled, analyzed and shared across the com-
pany. It is the voice of the customer that drives our service 
improvements.

 Business Partner Relations
Communication with our business partners is very important. 
On a quarterly basis, we discuss video programming with all of 
our contents providers and work together to improve pro-
gramming contents. At our annual marketing information ex-
change event, we present information and hold discussions 
with participating contents providers to reach a common  
understanding about the challenges we face and strengthen 
relationships to achieve further improvements.

 Working with Our Employees
Diverse Training Programs 
We focus on cultivating and challenging our employees to be-
come business leaders who boldly pursue ambitious goals 
and achieve results with a strong sense of independence, an 
appreciation for learning and a desire to grow. Each year 
about 6,000 employees participate in training courses hosted 
by our Human Resources Division. We also have a self- 
enlightenment assistance program that enables employees to 
pursue a diverse range of e-learning opportunities.

Support System for Balancing Work and Child-raising
We help our employees strike the right balance between work 
and child raising. We offer a family-leave program and a short-
ened-workday for child-raising program to qualified employ-
ees as part of our support system for employees seeking to 
balance work with child-raising responsibilities. Furthermore, 
employees taking family leave can access corporate informa-
tion on our website to help ease the transition back into the 
workplace.

Acquired the Next-generation  
Certification Mark: Kurumin
In December 2011, J:COM won next-gen-
eration Kurumin certification, thanks to our 
efforts to help employees strike the right 
balance between work and child-raising 
and provide an employee-friendly work environment.

Mental Health Care
Every year we perform stress checks for all employees as part 
of our efforts to prevent mental illness. We also diagnose or-
ganizational units—those found to have many issues are 
tasked with improvement. Furthermore, employees can re-
quest to receive outside counseling for wellness of mind and 
body at no cost to the employee. Since 2009, about 900 
managerial employees have received training about mental 
health care.

Massage Rooms
In 2008, we set up a massage room in our Tokyo headquar-
ters office to help employees improve health and recover from 
fatigue. Since then, we have opened a massage room in our 
Kansai office and provided day-visit services to other offices. 
Finding the time to have a massage contributes to increased 
work efficiency and better health.

 Service Continuity Measures
Round-the-clock Monitoring System
Our two network operation cen-
ters (NOC) monitor our backbone 
systems 24 hours a day, 365 
days a year. Once a problem is 
detected, its location is identified 
and the problem is resolved 
promptly. NOC monitoring operations

Company departments

J:COM
Opinions and requests
(Voice of the customer)

Improvement activities rooted in the customer voice

Improved
service

Customer centers Direct sales
representatives Service engineers

Improvement
activities

Customer

Service and
product

development
Follow-up with
the customer

Customer Relations Division
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Together with the Customer

Nicology activities

At J:COM, we affectionately refer to com-
munity-based CSR activities as “Nicology 
Activities” (“nico” the Japanese word for 
“smile” + Eco”logy”).

 J:COM Green Curtain
J:COM has promoted green curtains since 
2009. A green curtain is a planting of vine-
like plants, such as goya (bitter melon) and 
Japanese morning glory, by a window. The 
plant’s vines and leaves block the sun’s rays 
in the summer. Following the Great East Ja-
pan Earthquake that struck in 2011, aware-
ness of energy conservation has increased. 
About 75,000 seed packets have been dis-
tributed nationwide for use as green cur-
tains aimed at reducing power consumption 
and increasing energy efficiency.

 CLEAN UP OUR TOWN
Since 2008, we have held annual clean-up 
events in our service areas. In 2011, more 
than 3,500 customers joined our employees 
in 56 cleanup events held nationwide. To-
gether, we collected approximately 13 tons 
of garbage.

 Fund-raising
We have helped raise funds for disaster re-
covery relief and the Japan Committee for 
uNICEF. Leveraging our J:COM on Demand 
service, we launched Donations on De-
mand and collected donations for disaster 
recovery relief. We have also placed dona-
tion boxes in our J:COM Shops and other 
sites.

Equipment Upgrades
Our facilities are equipped with emergency power generators 
and uninterrupted power supply devices to provide stable 
and continuous service during a power outage. We have also 
upgraded backbone systems equipment as needed to ensure 
reliability.

Backbone Network Redundancies
Our backbone network architecture incorporates route redun-
dancies. If an accident, fire or other contingency causes a 
network disruption, the network can be switched over to an 
alternate route immediately. Moving forward, we will continue 
to enhance the reliability of our networks and equipment to 
ensure service stability.

 Contributing to Society and the Community
J:COM Channels as Local Media
The J:COM channels we operate provide original local pro-
gramming and play an important role in disseminating commu-
nity-service information. J:COM channels are entertaining and 
put the viewer in the forefront with local programming content.

Helping Communities Feel Safer
Our sales and installation vehicles display crime prevention 
patrol stickers. We hope this helps create crime-free neigh-
borhoods. Additionally, J:COM channels work with local  

law-enforcement authorities to disseminate information about 
crime prevention and help make communities safer.

 The Environment
Reducing Power Consumption  
(Energy-efficient Facilities)
Among our various business activities, broadcasting and tele-
communications centers consume the most power. We are 
improving energy efficiency at these centers. In 2011, we re-
duced power consumption at our Kanto area facility by 15% 
compared to the previous year by increasing energy efficiency 
and improving air-conditioning systems.

Reducing Waste Product
We are implementing and promoting recycling activities with 
the selection of an environmentally friendly waste-treatment 
operator to handle waste product resulting from equipment 
installation or removal.

Scrap plastics and metals 
(non-combustible)

95% re-used as raw materials  
after break-down

Scrap plastics 
(combustible)

Heat resulting from incineration recycled as 
heat source (thermal recycling)

Wood chips 100% re-cycled as fuel after break-down

Dry battery cells 100% re-cycled by secondary processor

J:COM Green Curtain

CLEAN up OuR TOWN activities

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
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Great East Japan Earthquake Restoration Activities

The Great East Japan Earthquake struck on March 11, 2011. Damage to our 
network caused some service interruptions. Meanwhile, as a community-based 
service provider and broadcaster we strove to assist in restoration activities un-
der the slogan, “Ganbarou, Nippon!” (Stay strong, Japan!).
 We contributed funds and collected donations for the areas affected. We lev-
eraged our J:COM channel in Sendai area to disseminate information. We provided free cable 
television to shelters located within our service area. Through these activities, we sought to 
make a difference in the day-to-day lives of those affected by the disaster and a far-reaching 
contribution to the restoration efforts.

  Providing Community-service Information in 
Sendai

Following the outbreak of the Great East Japan Earthquake, 
our Sendai Media Center changed the ordinary programming 
schedule to broadcast community-service information. From 
March 15 until May 8, 2011, working together with local gov-
ernment authorities, we broadcasted round-the-clock textual 
information from Sendai City containing vital community ser-
vice information, such as the status of restoration of lifelines, 
personal safety updates from preschools and schools, medi-
cal information and public transit information.

 Providing Service to Shelters
Beginning around the end of March we connected shelters 
located within our service areas and provided free television, 
high-speed Internet access and telephony services.

 Aid for Restoration Efforts:  
 Donations from Revenues
Our J SpORTS channel provided free live broadcasts of two 
days of charity baseball games between 12 professional teams 
held in April 2011 to assist restoration activities. Additionally, 
we donated to the Japanese Red Cross Society a portion of 
revenues earned at concerts and other events, including Jang 
Gun Suk’s photography exhibition held in June 2011, the utau 
Oukan Concert held in July 2011 as a joint effort with the Osa-
ka City Board of Education and the Chie Ayado Special Live 
Concert powered by QVC held in August 2011.

 Documentary Productions
As a media company, we also supported 
restoration efforts through the production 
of documentaries. “Recovery Efforts and 
a Ray of Hope, Sendai Three Months Af-
ter the 3.11 Great East Japan Earth-
quake,” produced by our Sendai Media 
Center, won a recommendation award at 
the 31st Age of Regionalism Video Festi-
val. Also, “311: Koko Ni Ikiru -In The Mo-
ment-,” produced by the Women’s 
Channel LaLa TV, aired for a special 
guest audience at the Tokyo International 
Women’s Film Festival in October 2011.

  Working Together with our Customers to  
Raise Funds

The day after the Great East Japan Earthquake struck, we 
began soliciting customers and employees for donations. 
Through Donations on Demand (leveraging our J:COM on 
Demand service), donation boxes placed at J:COM Shops 
and elsewhere, and bank transfers, we collected approximately 
¥21 million by the end of December 2011. We forwarded the 
entire amount to the Japanese Red Cross Society. In 2011, 
we also pledged a ¥100 donation to Great East Japan 
Earthquake restoration efforts for every customer who 
participated in J:COM’s CLEAN up OuR TOWN events. 
More than 3,500 customers participated, and we made our 
pledged donation to 
the Japanese Red 
Cross Society following 
the conclusion of the 
cleanup events.

311: Koko Ni Ikiru  
—In The Moment-
Directed by Kyoko 
Gasha

Donations on Demand screen grab

Recovery Efforts and a Ray of Hope, 
Sendai Three Months After the 3.11 

Great East Japan Earthquake

Lifeline information textual broadcast

ANNuAL REpORT 2011 49

M
anagem

ent S
tructure and

 C
S

R
 A

ctivities



Investor Relations Activities

Enhancing IR Activities

At J:COM, we are constantly aspiring to provide timely and fair disclosure of information to our 
shareholders and investors and to all participants in the securities markets. As part of this effort, 
we hold quarterly earnings presentations on the same day as the release of our financial results. 
Additionally, in order to allow as many people as possible the ability to view these presenta-
tions, we offer streaming video of these presentations in both English and Japanese on our IR 
website. We also proactively hold information sessions that offer explanations about the Com-
pany for individual investors. These initiatives have been highly regarded, and as a result 
J:COM’s IR activities have received awards from a variety of bodies. Going forward, we at 
J:COM will continue to aim to further enhance our IR activities.

Introduction of Information Sources
1  IR Website

(http://www.jcom.co.jp/ir_en.html)
On J:COM’s IR website, there is a variety of information regarding J:COM, including basic cor-
porate information, growth strategies, and past financial and operating data. Additionally, the 
“For Individual Investors” section (Japanese only) explains J:COM’s operations in a fun and 
easy-to-understand manner through a variety of methods.

2  IR Publications
The annual report that we release after the end of the fiscal year attempts to explain J:COM’s 
financial and operating data, as well as J:COM’s long-term strategies and future course, in a 
manner that is easy to understand. In addition to the annual report, we also send our share-
holders interim and full-year business reports (Japanese only for interim report). All of these 
documents, as well as materials from presentations and the corporate fact book, which con-
tains detailed information regarding performance indicators, are also available for download on 
J:COM’s IR website.

The J:COM group is constantly implementing initiatives geared toward improving the quality of its 
investor relations (IR) activities in order to be highly evaluated by our shareholders and investors through 
timely and fair disclosure of information.

IR website top page

J:COM中間報告書
（2011年1月～ 6月期）

株式会社ジュピターテレコム
（証券コード：4817）

Interim business report 
(J:COM Report)

 2 Financial Data

 4 Operational Data

 8 Quarterly Financial Data

 9 Quarterly Operational Data

 11 Market Data

 2 主要財務データ

 4 オペレーショナルデータ

 8 四半期財務データ

 9 四半期オペレーショナルデータ

11 市場データ

Factbook 2011

Fact book

IR Department
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Organizational Chart, Mission Statement, and Activity Guidelines

Organizational 
Chart
(As of April 1, 2012)

Board of Directors

Compliance Committee

Board of Corporate AuditorsShareholders Meeting

president

Kanto East Block

Tokyo Block

Kanto South Block

promotion Division

Technology Division

Shonan Block

Kansai South Block

Kyushu & Yamaguchi Block

Kansai North Block
Hyogo Block

Community Channel Division

Media Business unit

Technology unit

Sales Division

Kanto North Block

CATV Business unit

Information Security Committee

Business Strategy unit
product Strategy Division

Group Strategy Division

Corporate Coordination Office

Auditing Division

Internal Control Committee
Senior Adviser

Ad. Sales Division

production Division

Channel Sales Division

Media planning & Strategy Division

Kansai Division

Service planning Division

Mission Statement and Activity Guidelines

At J:COM, it is our mission to provide video, voice, and high-speed Internet access services through our advanced 
broadband networks, while offering the benefits of digitalization through a variety of high-quality products that meet the 
needs of our customers, as well as to add rich entertainment and information experiences to the lives of our customers.

We understand that relationships with our customers and local communities are core elements of our business foundation, 
and we will continue to nurture these precious assets.

Recognizing the importance that local communities place on the credibility of a service provider, we pursue further growth 
with sound financial fundamentals, and return the benefits of our business activities to local communities, shareholders, and 

employees. Ultimately, we strive to become an excellent company that actively contributes to society.

Compliance
All employees of J:COM are required to comply 
with customary laws and regulations as well as 
with the company’s rules and directions.

Local Communities
All employees of J:COM should understand the 
social values of each community, and should 
fulfill the obligations and responsibilities required 
to build relationships of mutual trust with 
communities and contribute to their 
development.

Customer-Centered Approach
As members of a high-quality information and 
entertainment service provider, all employees of 
J:COM are responsible for maintaining a 
customer-centered approach in order to enhance 
customer satisfaction.

Commitment
All employees of J:COM are required to commit 
to achieving J:COM’s mission and its corporate 
goals. They understand the J:COM management 
orientation, proposing and implementing plans 
for higher productivity. They continually seek out 
new growth opportunities through 

interdepartmental cooperation and information 
sharing, and respond rapidly to challenges with 
maximum flexibility.

Personal Development
All employees of J:COM should be aware of the 
role they play within J:COM as a corporate group 
that provides advanced broadband services. 
They strive to learn and comprehend the latest 
information, marketplace intelligence, and 
technologies. They realize that as they engage in 
various levels of information and idea exchanges 
through their day-to-day work, they are also 
pursuing personal advancement.

Mission Statement

Activity Guidelines

Financial Control Division

Corporate Control unit

Corporate Communications Division

Finance & Accounting Division

Corporate Strategy Division

Human Resources,  
Administration unit Administration Division

Human Resources Division

Information Technology &  
Materials unit Materials Division

AIT Division

CATV planning Office

Technical Support Division

Customer Relations Division

Customer Satisfaction promotion DivisionCustomer Relations 
Management Division
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Directors and Statutory Auditors
(As of April 1, 2012)

Shuichi Mori 

Representative Director, 
President & CEO

Shunsuke Oyama 

Representative Director, 
Executive Vice President
General Manager,  
Business Strategy unit

Tomoya Aoki 

Senior Managing Director 
& CFO

General Manager,  
Corporate Control unit

Mineo Fukuda 

Senior Managing Director
General Manager,  
CATV Business unit

Toru Kato 

Director
General Manager,  
Media Business unit

Ryosuke Yamazoe 

Director
General Manager,  
Technology unit

Yoshiki Nakai 

Director
Assistant to GM,  
CATV Business unit

Daisuke Mikogami 

Director

Yoshio Osawa  

Director

Hirofumi Morozumi 

Director

Makoto Takahashi 

Director

Kunio Fujimoto

Standing Statutory Auditor

Toshifumi Shibuya

Statutory Auditor

Kenichiro Takagi

Statutory Auditor

Katsuyuki Yamaguchi

Statutory Auditor

Directors (Standing)

Directors (Outside) Statutory Auditors
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1 Overview

the following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and associated notes.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ANNuAl REpORt 201154

We are currently the largest centrally managed multiple system 

operator (MSO) of cable television, high-speed Internet access and 

telephony services in Japan as measured by total customers, with 

approximately 3,657,000 subscribing households as of the year 

under review. We offer our services through 16 consolidated and 

managed system operator franchises.

 We also invest in and operate channel related operators that 

provide programming contents to multichannel pay television view-

ers by way of cable television, satellite platform, and Internet proto-

col teleVision (IptV) service providers.

 In addition to our franchises, we also own technology Networks 

Inc. (tECNEt) and J:COM Finance Co., ltd. tECNEt is an Internet 

service provider and also provides equipment installation and 

design services for cable-television related systems. J:COM 

Finance provides financing to entities within the J:COM Group.

 the following table summarizes the number of corporate entities 

(including equity method affiliates) belonging to the J:COM Group.

As of December 31 2010 2011

Consolidated subsidiaries:

 Managed system operators 22 16

 Channel related operators 6 6

 Others 3 2

  Subtotal 31 24

Equity method affiliates:

 System operators 1 1

 Channel related operators 5 5

 Others 2 2

  Subtotal 8 8

Group total 39 32

 Fifteen of our managed system operators are clustered around 

three metropolitan areas of Japan, consisting of the Kanto region 

(which includes tokyo), the Kansai region (which includes Osaka, 

Kobe and Kyoto) and the Kyushu region (which includes Fukuoka 

and Kita-Kyushu). the other managed system operator is located in 

Sapporo.

 Each franchise consists of head-end facilities receiving television 

programming from satellites, traditional terrestrial television broad-

casters and other sources, and a distribution network composed of 

a combination of fiber-optic and coaxial cable. Our cable networks 

have been upgraded to two-way capability. We provide these  

franchises with experienced personnel and services related to  

operations, administration and sales and marketing. We also pro-

vide training, programming and equipment procurement assistance 

and other management services. Our franchises use our central-

ized customer management system to support sales, technical 

services, customer support and billing and collection services.

 As a result of former regulatory limitations on service territories, 

the cable television industry in Japan historically has been charac-

terized by a large number of small operators, many of which began 

as joint ventures between multiple parties such as local companies, 

municipalities, and trading and media companies. A major part of 

our business strategy is to acquire interests in complementary 

franchises so that we can enjoy the economies of scale of a large 

MSO. Where possible, we merge subsidiaries to achieve further 

economies of scale.

 Additionally, we actively pursue the acquisition of production 

companies and contents providers, as well as other opportunities 

aimed at strengthening and diversifying our media business.

Revenues
 Subscription Fees

Our subscription fees consist of subscription fees from our cable 

television, high-speed Internet access and telephony services. 

Subscription fees for our cable television services include basic 

monthly subscription fees and additional fees for premium chan-

nels, other premium services and transaction-type services such as 

pay-per-view and video-on-demand. Subscription fees related to 

our high-speed Internet access services consist of monthly sub-

scription fees and additional fees for available Internet options. 

Subscription fees also include revenue of our subsidiary tECNEt 

for high-speed Internet access services provided to third-party 

cable operators. Our telephony subscription fees consist of monthly 

line-rental fees and additional per-minute charges based on sub-

scriber call volume, premium services such as call waiting and 

caller ID, and call access charge revenue that we receive from other 

carriers for interconnecting their calls to our customers. For cus-

tomers who subscribe to more than one of our network services, 

we charge a discounted service rate which is less than the aggre-

gate price for individual services.

 We continue to focus on increasing the number of our total sub-

scribing households and the number of service offerings to which 

each of our customers subscribe. Our subscription fees are influenced 

principally by the increase in subscribing households and the change 

in monthly revenue generated from each subscribing household. 

 Our priority initiatives include expanding our customer base and 

forging deeper relationships with existing customers. We believe we 

can differentiate ourselves from the competition by implementing 

measures aimed at encouraging more customers to buy a broader 
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range of our strategic products, keeping customer churn low and 

promoting the use of value-added services. 

Cable Television. We believe that our cable television services 

provides the most attractive programming within each genre at a 

price that is competitive with other providers of video content. 

Cable television subscriber acquisition and churn rates are influ-

enced by the value that prospective and current subscribers attri-

bute to our services compared to services offered by our 

competitors. 

High-speed Internet Access. the market for high-speed Internet 

access services remains highly competitive and more price-sensi-

tive than for cable television services. Consequently, our subscriber 

acquisition and churn rates for high-speed Internet access services 

are influenced significantly by the price point for our service as 

compared to competing service offerings. 

Telephony. Similar to the market for high-speed Internet access 

services, the market for telephony services is highly competitive 

and price-sensitive, both for basic monthly line rental fees and call 

volume charges. Consequently, our subscriber acquisition and 

service disconnect rates for telephony services are influenced sig-

nificantly by the price point for our service as compared to compet-

ing service offerings. 

Bundled Services. We offer package discounts to customers who 

subscribe to bundles of our services. We believe we can achieve 

higher bundling rates if our service package is priced competitively 

compared to the total cost of individual services provided by our 

competitors.

 Others
Our other revenue includes revenues related to our contents provi-

sion business, revenues related to poor reception rebroadcasting 

service and advertising revenues.

 Revenues related to the contents provision business primarily 

consists of program subscription fees and is affected by the pace of 

growth in the number of households receiving programming con-

tents. Revenues related to retransmission services comprise fees 

paid to us by the owners of buildings that block terrestrial broadcast 

television signals for the construction and maintenance of networks 

to provide for the retransmission of these signals to households 

which would otherwise be unable to receive them. Agreements 

related to the retransmission of terrestrial analog signals were termi-

nated with the migration to terrestrial digital broadcast in July 2011. 

those cancellations had a negative impact on earnings. Advertising 

revenues consist of advertising revenue received from advertiser 

customers and programming production revenues and are strongly 

affected by economic cycles.

 Our other revenue is also comprised of:

•	 fees	associated	with	the	distribution	of	programming	contents;

•	 installation	charges	for	new	customers;	and

•	 revenues	associated	with	construction	and	installation	activities.

Operating Costs and Expenses
 Operating and Programming Costs

Operating and programming costs primarily include programming 

costs, costs related to our high-speed Internet access services, 

costs related to our telephony services, costs related to the opera-

tion, maintenance and technical support of our network, personnel 

costs associated with our customer call centers and technical divi-

sions, as well as outsourcing fees associated with these operations.

 programming costs consist of the costs to acquire programs and 

other content from external contents providers, amortization costs 

of program broadcasting rights owned by contents providers within 

the J:COM Group, programming production costs and program-

ming distribution fees. programming costs for sports programming 

tend to rise during the sports season, particularly between March 

and October.

 Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily 

of personnel costs of head office, sales and marketing division and 

advertising and promotional costs.

 Depreciation and Amortization
Our depreciation and amortization expenses are principally com-

prised of depreciation of customer premises equipment and net-

work trunk line equipment. 

 Income Taxes Expense
Our statutory tax rate is currently 40.7%.

 In the event of a net loss, we would recognize a valuation allow-

ance against deferred tax assets. thereafter when a net profit is 

posted, we would study reversing the valuation allowance based on 

the potential to realize deferred tax assets. Some of our subsidiaries 

currently have recognized losses carried forward, but it may be that 

some of those losses carried forward cannot be used.

 We have tax benefits that would reduce our tax burden, but we 

do not recognize the full amount on our consolidated financial state-

ments, in accordance with stipulations on uncertain tax positions.

 Fluctuations in the above amounts could result in different tax 

burden rates in our consolidated financial statements year by year.

Other Operating Data
 Franchise Revenue per Customer (ARPU)

One of the measures that we use to monitor our operations is fran-

chise revenue per customer. Franchise revenue per customer is 

determined for any period as total revenue of our cable television 

franchises, excluding revenue attributable to installation charges for 

new customers, fees paid to us by building owners related to terres-

trial blockage, and certain other revenue, divided by the weighted-

average number of connected customers during the period.
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2 Results of Operations

twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to twelve months ended December 31, 2010

Overview
the following table sets forth the percentages of revenue that individual items in our consolidated statements of income constituted for the 

periods presented, period-over-period changes and additional operating information for our cable television franchises:

 Consolidated Statements of Income

Yen in millions

2010
As a % of
revenue 2011

As a % of
revenue

Change
(Amount)

Change
(%)

Revenue:

 Subscription fees ¥ 298,197 82.8% ¥ 307,935 83.4% ¥ 9,738 3.3%

 Others 61,915 17.2% 61,138 16.6% (777) (1.3%)

360,112 100.0% 369,073 100.0% 8,961 2.5%

Operating costs and expenses:

 Operating and programming costs (135,272) (37.6%) (140,525) (38.1%) (5,253) (3.9%)

 Selling, general and administrative expenses (72,242) (20.1%) (72,150) (19.5%) 92 0.1%

 Depreciation and amortization (85,843) (23.8%) (85,323) (23.1%) 520 0.6%

(293,357) (81.5%) (297,998) (80.7%) (4,641) (1.6%)

Operating income 66,755 18.5% 71,075 19.3% 4,320 6.5%

Interest expense, net (5,091) (1.4%) (4,278) (1.1%) 813 16.0%

Equity in earnings of affiliates 1,032 0.3% 1,473 0.3% 441 42.7%

Other, net 471 0.1% 262 0.1% (209) (44.2%)

Income before noncontrolling interest and income taxes 63,167 17.5% 68,532 18.6% 5,365 8.5%

Income taxes expense (22,248) (6.1%) (28,358) (7.7%) (6,110) (27.5%)

Net income 40,919 11.4% 40,174 10.9% (745) (1.8%)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,229) (0.9%) (2,896) (0.8%) 333 10.3%

Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders ¥  37,690 10.5% ¥  37,278 10.1% ¥    (412) (1.1%)

 Churn Rate
Another measure that we use to monitor our operations is the rate 

at which subscribers disconnect from each of our three services. 

With respect to any service, we calculate the average monthly 

churn rate by dividing the number of disconnects from the service 

during a period by the monthly weighted-average number of sub-

scribers during the same period, and then dividing by the number of 

months in that period. the churn rate for each service can be influ-

enced by many factors. For example, the churn rate we experience 

from subscribers in rental multiple-dwelling units is typically higher 

than that of subscribers in condominiums or single-dwelling units. 

Also, we typically experience seasonally high churn in the early part 

of the year as a result of the high number of Japanese company 

personnel relocations, which usually take place during March of 

each year. In addition, the churn rate experienced for each service 

is typically lower in homes subscribing to more than one service as 

a result of the bundled price offered for multiple service subscrip-

tions and the increased loyalty of those customers.
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 Operating Data

As of December 31 2010 2011 Change
Change

(%)

Number of homes passed:

 Cable television 13,067,100 13,620,100 553,000 4.2%

 High-speed Internet access 13,067,100 13,620,100 553,000 4.2%

 telephony 13,055,800 13,599,700 543,900 4.2%

Subscribers:

 Cable television 2,691,000 2,875,400 184,400 6.9%

 High-speed Internet access 1,695,900 1,826,200 130,300 7.7%

 telephony 1,970,700 2,216,400 245,700 12.5%

total RGus 6,357,600 6,918,000 560,400 8.8%

RGu connects 1,205,810 1,280,485 74,675 6.2%

total connected customers 3,426,100 3,656,500 230,400 6.7%

RGu per customer 1.86 1.89 0.03 1.6%

Franchise revenue per customer (ARpu) (Yen) ¥7,680 ¥7,499 (181) (2.4%)

 In the following discussion, we quantify the impact of acquisitions 

on our results of operations. the acquisition impact represents the 

actual impact on our consolidated financial statements attributable 

to the consolidation of an acquired entity for the first year since the 

acquisition. In general, changes excluding the acquisition impacts 

are considered to be organic changes. Included as acquisition 

impacts in the below discussion are the: (i) the business transfer of 

Suzuran Cable System from Keihanshin Cable Vision Foundation to 

our consolidated subsidiary Cablenet Kobe-Ashiya Co., ltd., that 

was	executed	on	February	1,	2010;	(ii)	the	business	transfer	of	Kobe	

Cable Vision from the Kobe City Development & Management 

Foundation to Cablenet Kobe-Ashiya Co., ltd., that was executed 

on	April	1,	2010;	(iii)	the	business	transfer	of	Cablevision	Kasai	from	

tokyo Cable Vision Foundation to our consolidated subsidiary 

Edogawa	Cable	Television	Inc.,	that	was	executed	on	June	1,	2010;	

and (iv) the consolidation of Yokohama Cable Vision Inc., that was 

executed on October 7, 2011.

Note:  Edogawa Cable television Inc. was merged into J:COM Kanto Co., ltd. 
on July 1, 2011. Effective October 1, 2011, J:COM Kanto Co., ltd. 
changed its trade name to J:COM East Co., ltd.

Revenue
total revenue increased by ¥8,961 million, or 2.5%, to ¥369,073 

million in the year under review from ¥360,112 million in the previous 

year. this increase includes ¥1,136 million that is attributable to the 

aggregate impact of acquisitions. the increase attributable to exist-

ing consolidated subsidiaries is ¥7,825 million. this represents a 

2.2% increase over revenue attributable to existing consolidated 

subsidiaries in the previous year.

 Subscription fees increased by ¥9,738 million, or 3.3%, to 

¥307,935 million in the year under review from ¥298,197 million in 

the previous year. this increase includes ¥1,019 million that is 

attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions. the increase 

attributable to existing consolidated subsidiaries is ¥8,719 million, 

or 2.9%. 

 Cable television subscription fees increased by ¥4,577 million, or 

2.8%, to ¥165,350 million in the year under review from ¥160,773 

million in the previous year. 

 High-speed Internet access subscription fees increased by 

¥3,073 million, or 3.5%, to ¥90,079 million in the year under review 

from ¥87,006 million in the previous year. 

 telephony subscription fees increased by ¥2,088 million, or 4.1%, 

to ¥52,506 million in the year under review from ¥50,418 million in 

the previous year. Cable television subscription fees increased 

because the increase in the number of subscribing customers out-

weighed the decline in ARpu caused by the introduction of our 

J:COM tV My style product. Greater usage of digital services 

including Blu-Ray HDRs and video-on-demand also made a posi-

tive contribution. High-speed Internet access and telephony sub-

scription fees increased with the rise in the number of subscribing 

customers, but that increase was partially offset by bundling dis-

counts to monthly rates.

 Other revenue decreased by ¥777 million, or 1.3%, to ¥61,138 

million in the year under review from ¥61,915 million in the previous 

year, primarily driven by a decline in revenue relating to poor recep-

tion compensation.

Operating Costs and Expenses 
 Operating and programming costs increased by ¥5,253 million, 

or 3.9%, to ¥140,525 million in the year under review from ¥135,272 

million in the previous year. the increase is attributable to increases 

in programming, personnel and outsourcing costs.

 Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by ¥92 

million, or 0.1%, to ¥72,150 million in the year under review from 

¥72,242 million in the previous year. this includes an increase of 

¥340 million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisi-

tions. that increase, however, was more than offset by a decrease 

in advertising costs.



3 Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity
Our principal sources of liquidity for working capital, capital expen-

ditures and acquisitions are cash provided from operations and 

borrowings available under our loan facilities.

 the total sum of borrowings and corporate bond for the J:COM 

Group as of the end of the year under review is ¥144,504 million. 

the Development Bank of Japan Inc. (DBJ) is a main lender to the 

J:COM Group. As of December 31, 2011, borrowings from the DBJ 

are ¥33,983 million. Of that amount, ¥7,983 million (of which interest-

free loans account for ¥6,183 million) are local government loans 

with periods of one to eight years remaining until maturity borrowed 

by our managed system operators. Furthermore, we have typically 

financed the purchase of cable television set-top boxes using  

capital leases. As of December 31, 2011, total debt outstanding due 

to capital lease obligations was ¥54,993 million.

 Aside from the above, as of December 31, 2011, we have acquired 

a commitment line of ¥40,000 million per an agreement with a 

group of syndicated banks. the commitment line is intended to be 

used for unforeseen events and can be utilized for any management 

purpose except for a hostile acquisition.

 Furthermore, to provide direct access to the capital markets, we 

have established a registration facility to issue domestic straight 

corporate bonds in the amount of ¥50,000 million. the registration 

has been rated by Rating and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I) and 

Japan Credit Rating Agency, ltd. (JCR). As of December 31, 2011, 

our long-term liabilities are rated “A” at both R&I and JCR.
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 Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased by ¥520 

million, or 0.6%, to ¥85,323 million in the year under review from 

¥85,843 million in the previous year. this includes an increase of 

¥344 million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisi-

tions. that increase, however, was more than offset by factors 

including the expiration of depreciation and amortization schedules 

for some assets.

Operating Income
Operating income, as a result of the above items, increased by 

¥4,320 million, or 6.5%, to ¥71,075 million in the year under review 

from ¥66,755 million in the previous year.

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net decreased by ¥813 million, or 16.0%, to 

¥4,278 million in the year under review from ¥5,091 million in the 

previous year. the decrease is mainly attributable to a decline in 

lease obligations and borrowings.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates
Equity in earnings of affiliates increased by ¥441 million, or 42.7%, 

to ¥1,473 million in the year under review from ¥1,032 million in the 

previous year.

Other, Net
Other, net income decreased by ¥209 million, or 44.2%, to ¥262 

million in the year under review from ¥471 million in the previous 

year. Other, net income was higher in the previous year because of 

profit booked that year resulting from a bargain purchase transac-

tion associated with the transfer of a business.

Income Before Noncontrolling Interests and Income 
Taxes
Income before noncontrolling interests and income taxes increased 

by ¥5,365 million, or 8.5%, to ¥68,532 million in the year under 

review from ¥63,167 million in the previous year.

Income Taxes Expense
Income taxes expense increased by ¥6,110 million, or 27.5%, to 

¥28,358 million in the year under review from ¥22,248 million in the 

previous year. the increase is mainly attributable to an increase in 

income before noncontrolling interests and income taxes, which 

outweighed a decline in tax costs resulting from the liquidation of a 

subsidiary that functioned as an intermediary holding company.

Net Income
Net income decreased by ¥745 million, or 1.8%, to ¥40,174 million in 

the year under review from ¥40,919 million in the previous year.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased by 

¥333 million, or 10.3%, to ¥2,896 million in the year under review 

from ¥3,229 million in the previous year.

Net Income Attributable to J:COM Shareholders
Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders decreased by ¥412 

million, or 1.1%, to ¥37,278 million in the year under review from 

¥37,690 million in the previous year for the reasons discussed above.

Operating Data
 Average Franchise Revenue per Customer per Month 

total customers connected increased to 3,657,000 as of December 

31, 2011 from 3,426,000 as of December 31, 2010. the number of 

services subscribed by each of our connected customers (RGu per 

subscriber) was 1.89 services at December 31, 2011 as opposed to 

1.86 services at December 31, 2010. the average monthly franchise 

revenue per customer per month decreased by ¥181 to ¥7,499 in 

the year under review from ¥7,680 in the previous year as a result of 

the introduction of J:COM tV My style.

 Churn Rate
the average monthly churn rates for our cable television, high-

speed Internet access and telephony services averaged 1.0%, 

1.2%, and 0.8%, respectively, in the year under review, compared to 

1.2%, 1.2%, and 0.9%, respectively, in the previous year.



Cash Flows
As of the end of the year under review, cash and cash equivalents 

(funds) increased by ¥11,667 million to ¥89,879 million as of the end 

of the year under review from ¥78,212 million as of the end of the 

previous year. While operating activities generated ¥123,342 million, 

investing and financing activities consumed ¥58,309 million and 

¥53,366 million, respectively.

 Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash flows provided by operating activities decreased by 

¥1,034 million, or 0.8%, to ¥123,342 million in the year under review 

from ¥124,376 million in the previous year. the decrease is primarily 

attributable to an increase in revenues, an increase in corporate 

taxes, and changes in trade accounts receivable and payable, 

which was partly offset by an increase in revenue.

 Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities increased by ¥1,261 million, or 

2.2%, to ¥58,309 million in the year under review from ¥57,048 mil-

lion in the previous year. While capital expenditures decreased, 

expenditures related to acquisitions increased.

 Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities decreased by ¥176 million, or 

0.3%, to ¥53,366 million in the year under review from ¥53,542 million 

in the previous year. Although dividends paid to shareholders 

increased, expenditures related to the net amount of loan repayments 

and additional acquisitions of shares in our subsidiaries decreased.

Factors Affecting Future Sources of Liquidity
Our future sources of working capital and liquidity depend upon a 

number of factors, including the following:

•	 	the	amount	of	cash	provided	by	operating	activities,	which	will	

primarily	be	affected	by	our	ability	to	generate	operating	income;

•	 	the	quality	of	our	credit	and	our	credit	ratings,	which	will	impact	

our	borrowing	costs	and	our	ability	to	raise	additional	funds;	and

•	 	future	 financial	market	conditions	 for	bank	borrowings	and	 the	

issuance of our debt and equity securities. 

Capital Expenditures (including capital leases)  
Capital expenditures, including capital lease additions, decreased 

by ¥6,524 million, or 8.8%, to ¥67,496 million as of December 31, 

2011 from ¥74,020 million as of December 31, 2010. As a percent-

age of revenue, capital expenditures were approximately 18.3% in 

the year under review and 20.6% in the previous year.

Contractual Commitments
Our principal outstanding contractual obligations relate to our 

short-term loans, long-term debts, corporate bonds, capital leases 

and non-cancellable operating leases and purchasing agreements. 

the following table summarizes our contractual obligations that 

exist as of December 31, 2011, shown by year of maturity:

Yen in millions

Contractual Obligations total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
2017 and 
beyond

Short-term loans (excluding interest) ¥  5,521 ¥ 5,521 ¥    — ¥    — ¥    — ¥       — ¥       —

long-term debts and bonds (excluding interest) 138,983 10,681 69,899 45,418 11,108 1,692 185

Capital leases (excluding interest) 54,993 17,144 13,677 10,316 7,310 3,862 2,684

Non-cancellable operating leases 713 279 178 91 74 47 44

N on-cancellable purchase and other commitments 41,898 11,182 8,341 7,215 5,922 2,830 6,408

total contractual obligations ¥242,108 ¥44,807 ¥92,095 ¥ 63,040 ¥ 24,414 ¥8,431 ¥9,321

p rojected cash interest payments on debt and 
capital lease obligations* ¥  6,593 ¥ 2,961 ¥ 1,892 ¥   954 ¥   454 ¥  179 ¥  153

*Based on interest rates and contractual maturities in effect on December 31, 2011.

Contingent Liabilities and Off-Balance Sheet   
Transactions
We do not presently have any material contingent liabilities or off-

balance sheet transactions.

Interest Rates
Our primary market risk exposure consists of risk related to changes 

in interest rates related to our variable rate debt. We utilize interest 

rate swap agreements to hedge a portion of this risk. We do not use 

derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

 As of December 31, 2011, ¥89,021 million, or 62%, of our total 

outstanding borrowings are subject to variable rates, and therefore 

sensitive to changes in market interest rates. We have in place inter-

est rate swap agreements for ¥49,500 million, or 56%, of all variable 

rate borrowings, which effectively converts such portions of our 

Japanese-yen lIBOR-indexed and Japanese-yen tIBOR-indexed 

borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings and limits our exposure to 

changes in market rates. taking the interest rate swap agreements 

into account, a 1% increase in the average market rates would 

result in an increase in our annual interest expense of approximately 

¥395 million. this amount is determined by considering the impact 

of hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing cost, but does not 

consider all the effects of the reduced level of overall economic 

activity that could exist in such an environment.
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5 Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to the consolidated financial statements.

4 Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

the preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires 

us to make estimates and assumptions that affected the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our 

financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates 

under different assumptions or conditions. With regard to the impor-

tant accounting policies provided below, the J:COM Group believes 

important estimates have been reflected in our consolidated financial 

statements. For a summary of all of our significant accounting poli-

cies, see Note to the consolidated financial statements.

Evaluation for Impairment of Tangibles, Identifiable 
Intangibles and Goodwill
the net carrying amount of our tangible assets, identifiable intangi-

ble assets and other long-lived assets and goodwill comprised 80% 

and 81% of our total assets as of December 31, 2011, and Decem-

ber 31, 2010, respectively. pursuant to FASB Accounting Standards 

Codifications (ASC) topic 360 Property, Plant, and Equipment and 

topic 350 Intangibles-Goodwill and Other, we are required to 

assess the recoverability of our long-lived assets.

 We evaluate long-lived assets for potential impairment whenever 

there are signs that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. In 

the event that an impairment test indicates that the carrying amount 

of property and equipment exceeds the sum of the undiscounted 

cash flows (excluding interest) that are expected to result from the 

use and eventual disposition of the asset, we would recognize an 

impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeded the 

estimated fair value of the asset. the estimate of expected future 

net cash flows is inherently uncertain and relies on management 

assumptions and estimates about the future and current market 

conditions and events that affect the ultimate value of the asset.

 In the case of goodwill, we are required on an annual basis and 

whenever there are signs that impairment may be appropriate to 

assess unamortized goodwill for impairment. the impairment judg-

ment entails performing qualitative assessment before implement-

ing the two-step impairment test. If under the qualitative assessment 

that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is 

less than its carrying amount, the two-step impairment test must be 

performed. under the impairment test, in step one the fair value of 

the reporting unit is appraised and a judgment is made as to 

whether impairment is or is not necessary. In step two, the fair value 

of the reporting unit is appraised and an impairment loss is 

recorded.

 At the J:COM Group, we perform qualitative assessment by 

considering the macroeconomic situation, industry and market cir-

cumstances, overall business results and share price performance. 

Furthermore, in appraising fair value we prepare future cash flows 

using estimates based on rational and appropriate assumptions 

from internally prepared forecasts. Future cash flow estimates 

include many management judgments, including subscriber rates 

for the services we provide, operating margins and capital expendi-

tures, as well as the timing and amount of and discount rate applied 

to cash flow generation.

Fair Value of Acquisition-Related Assets and Liabilities 
We include the assets and liabilities of the entity to be acquired in 

our calculation of fair value. In determining fair value, we ordinarily 

retain third-party valuation specialists to appraise certain of these 

assets and liabilities. Estimates used in valuing acquired assets and 

liabilities include, but are not limited to, expected future cash flows, 

market comparables and appropriate discount rates. Manage-

ment’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed 

to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain.

Tax Accounting
In addition to estimated taxes payable or refundable, we post 

deferred taxes associated with differences in the amounts assigned 

to assets and liabilities in financial statements vis-à-vis those 

amounts for tax purposes and future tax implications of loss carry-

forwards using the statutory tax rate applicable to the period in 

which the temporary differences and loss carryforwards are 

expected to be recovered or settled. these estimates require our 

management to make assessments regarding the timing and prob-

ability of the ultimate tax impact of such items.

 Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if we 

believe it more-likely-than-not such net deferred tax assets will not 

be realized. Establishing a tax valuation allowance requires us to 

make assessments about the timing of future events, including the 

probability of expected future taxable income and available tax 

planning strategies. 

 Actual income taxes could vary from these estimates due to 

future changes in income tax law in the jurisdictions in which we 

operate, our inability to generate sufficient future taxable income, 

differences between estimated and actual results, or unpredicted 

results from the final determination of each year’s liability by taxing 

authorities. 
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Business Risks
Risks related to the J:COM Group’s financial position, the results of 

operations, cash flow, and other matters as of the filing of this report 

that could have important repercussions for investor decisions are 

outlined below.

 Future matters discussed in this report are projections based on 

the J:COM Group’s estimates, goals, and certain preconditions or 

assumptions as of the filing of this report, unless otherwise indi-

cated. Statements are not guarantees that developments will unfold 

as projected.

Potential Risks in the J:COM Group
 Business Development Risks

Subscriber Acquisition Strategy
the J:COM Group’s subsidiary cable television companies have 

acquired new customers through door-to-door sales, telemarketing, 

telephone solicitation and it markets new services to existing cus-

tomers. 

 to address changing customer and market conditions, the Group 

is continuing door-to-door sales, further strengthening telemarket-

ing, and developing J:COM Shop operations near important railway 

stations and other sites, while focusing resources on sales through 

representative offices and agents marketing services at volume 

retailer stores, real estate offices, and other retail venues. In addition, 

the Group is increasing customer contacts and diversifying sales 

channels by stepping up Internet marketing and pursuing coopera-

tive sales activities as part of the Group’s alliance with KDDI. 

 If these initiatives are not successful, the Group’s marketing activi-

ties may not be as effective as planned, and this could impede the 

acquisition of subscription contracts.

Acquiring Customers in Multiple Dwelling Units
the J:COM Group’s cable television subscribers are broadly classi-

fied into those residing in detached housing and those living in 

multiple dwelling units (MDus). In MDus, decisions are made for the 

entire property on whether or not to establish cable connections 

with the Group’s networks. Since residents of MDus account for 

the majority of the Group’s existing customers and potential cus-

tomers, increasing household subscriptions to Group services 

could depend on acquiring contracts with MDus. 

 the Group normally negotiates with the owners of MDus housing 

rental properties, or with representatives of owner groups (manage-

ment associations or other entities) to establish cable service con-

nections. Subscriptions are marketed directly to individual 

households in MDus after the Group receives permission to con-

nect its network to the MDu in question. Competition is intensifying 

between service providers to establish connections with new 

MDus, and the Group is stepping up marketing to property owners 

and developers for obtaining contracts with new properties. 

 However, if competing technologies (fiber to the home (FttH) 

currently, and wireless communication systems in the future) are 

adopted, and contracts cannot be acquired from new MDus, the 

Group may not be able to attract such MDu residents as custom-

ers. Additionally, the Group could lose contracts with existing cus-

tomers because of changing relationships with owners of rental 

MDus or other factors. As a result, the group’s financial position, the 

results of operations, and performance could be adversely affected. 

Additional Network Investment
Against a backdrop of rapid growth in network technology and in 

the service market, the J:COM Group must continuously work to 

enhance its service capabilities and increase the reliability of its 

networks. there is a possibility, however, that rapid technological 

innovation will render the content of its services obsolete. In addi-

tion, it may not be able to acquire the necessary capital, equipment, 

and regulatory permits or meet other requirements for renovating 

and extending its networks. For these reasons, the Group could 

lose market competitiveness, with serious detrimental effects on 

operations.

Company Acquisitions for Expanding Operations
the J:COM Group has attained growth largely by acquiring estab-

lished cable television companies. As a strategy for future growth, 

the Group plans to bolster its existing business domain by selec-

tively acquiring companies that offer cable television and broadband 

services in areas where stronger profitability is anticipated, and 

maintain their operations as Group companies. By acquiring com-

panies engaged in cable television businesses, the Group may be 

able to more effectively use its existing network and expertise in the 

field. In addition, plans call for expanding cable television products 

and services such as lifestyle assistance services and tV Every-

where services, as well as making acquisitions aimed at bolstering 

and diversifying the Group’s media business through the acquisi-

tion of contents providers and contents production companies. 

However, opportunities for acquiring new companies may be limited 

for the reasons cited below or because of other developments, 

which would adversely affect Group businesses operations and 

performance.

•	 	Small	cable	television	companies,	which	are	potential	acquisition	

targets, have historically been established through the invest-

ments of many shareholders, including local businesses, munici-

palities, major trading companies, and media enterprises. there 

is a possibility that negotiations with these shareholders for buy-

outs will not proceed smoothly. 

•	 	Terms	of	loan	contracts	signed	by	the	J:COM	Group	with	financial	

institutions may limit the Group’s ability to acquire or invest in new 

cable television companies.
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•	 	If	 companies	 targeted	 for	 acquisition	 are	bigger	 than	a	 certain	

size, prior notification must be received by the Fair trade Com-

mission overseeing the enforcement of antitrust laws. As a rule, 

30 days must pass from notification until shares can be acquired. 

Moreover, the commission has the authority to extend this period, 

alter acquisition terms, or nullify agreements. Such directives 

could have adverse effects on new acquisitions.

   If synergies with existing Group companies are not attained as 

initially anticipated, and profits after acquisitions are significantly 

below targets set at the time of purchase, there is a possibility 

that the Group will have to book impaired losses on goodwill or 

other assets assumed at the time of purchase, with negative 

implications for the Group’s financial position and the results of 

operations.

 Financial Risks
the J:COM Group has incurred significant debt from borrowing 

since its founding in order to expand and upgrade its networks and 

acquire shares in companies offering cable television services. At 

the end of the fiscal year under review, consolidated long-term debt 

(including current installments, excluding capital lease obligations) 

totaled ¥138,983 million. Covenants pertaining to loans that could 

have major implications for the Group are noted as follows.

•	 	Interest	burdens	make	the	Group	more	susceptible	to	economic	

trends and the business climate.

•	 	A	portion	of	the	Group’s	cash	flow	is	subject	to	debt	repayment	

obligations, which reduces cash flow available for capital spend-

ing plans and working capital.

•	 	Using	funds	for	expeditiously	disposing	of	assets	and	for	strate-

gic buyouts and investments becomes somewhat problematic. 

•	 	The	Group	is	disadvantaged	in	relation	to	competitors	and	poten-

tial competitors that have lower interest-bearing debt ratios.

 Compliance Risks
In data management, the J:COM Group properly safeguards and 

controls personal data obtained from customers. the Group’s 

Information Security Committee, chaired by a person who serves 

concurrently as the manager of the Human Resources and Admin-

istration unit and the deputy manager of the Information technol-

ogy & Materials unit, reports directly to the president and formulates 

policies for strengthening data security and preventing security 

holes* in overall systems. For protecting personal data, nearly all 

Group companies have acquired privacy Mark certification from 

Japan Information processing Development Corporation (JIpDEC). 

to ensure the stable operation of broadcasting and communication 

services, a 24-hour monitoring system overseeing conditions in 

Group company networks is installed for responding to failures 

immediately after they occur.

 If personal data is leaked despite these measures, Group perfor-

mance could be adversely affected in a variety of ways. For example, 

if customers are victimized because of personal data leaks, the Group 

could be subject to damage claims. Moreover, changes in security 

systems for preventing personal data leaks (whether voluntary  

or in response to administrative guidance or government regula-

tion), could give rise to additional costs. Customers and potential 

customers could be lost as a result of declining trust in the Group. 

public relations campaigns for preventing or mitigating damages to 

company image could lead to additional costs. these occurrences 

could have notable consequences for the Group’s business opera-

tions, financial position, and the results of operations.

 *problems or weaknesses in the design of software or a network. 

left unaddressed, security holes could be exploited by malevolent 

users to manipulate computers and could threaten the Group’s 

information assets. therefore, regularly scheduled checks and fixes 

are required.

Transaction Risks
 Cable Television Programs

the J:COM Group buys content for its cable television services 

from third parties. Most content is supplied based on short-term 

broadcast licensing agreements with channel operators that cover 

one-to-three year periods and do not include exclusive broadcast-

ing rights. the companies that supply programs to the Group can 

also furnish programs to other company groups that may be com-

petitors. 

 Because broadcast licensing agreements are usually short-term, 

good relationships must be maintained with channel operators, 

including those furnishing content to competitors, so that program-

ming supply will continue to customers. If these relationships are 

terminated, or channel operators fail to adequately fulfill their obliga-

tions to supply programming, or programs cannot be purchased 

from alternative operators, or they can be purchased but not at 

reasonable prices, the Group will have difficulty receiving attractive 

programming and could lose customers and potential customers. 

this could have negative implications for the Group’s financial posi-

tion and the results of operations.

 Network Infrastructure
the fiber-optic and coaxial cables that comprise the core equip-

ment of the J:COM Group’s business are installed assuming the 

Group can continue to use the utility poles owned by the Ntt 

Group and regional power companies and public utility conduits 

under roadways based on the consent of their owners or highway 

administrators. It is assumed that some network operations can 

continue to use fiber optical networks belonging to other companies 

(the Ntt Group, regional power companies, JDS, etc.) that inter-

connect the Group’s head-end equipment or connect some of its 

head-end equipment to third-party telecommunications equipment. 

For building its own network, the Group needs to lease fiber optical 

cables from other companies (the Ntt Group, regional power 

companies, JDS, etc.) except when installing its own lines. 

 In the event that Group contracts with third parties for using utility 

poles and fiber optical cables cannot be renewed, or owners of 

utility poles and other assets do not permit utilization to continue, or 

suppliers of optical networks to the Group cannot maintain fiber 

optical cables in good condition, there is a possibility that services 
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will be suspended to Group customers, incurring major costs for 

building replacement networks, with negative repercussions for the 

Group’s financial position and the results of operations.

 Outside Suppliers
the equipment necessary for operating the J:COM Group’s estab-

lished services and new services is supplied through centralized 

purchasing from multiple suppliers. For example, digital set-top 

boxes required for to deliver digital services are purchased from 

three outside vendors. 

 the Group in principle counts on several different sources for 

supply, but if suppliers delay production, or if equipment is found 

defective, these events could disrupt the provision of cable televi-

sion services, lead to the deterioration of service quality, or cause 

trust in the Group to be eroded. In addition, inconsistent equipment 

supply would delay deliveries necessary for providing services to 

customers, or equipment will not be delivered at all. this could 

prevent service expansion and the deployment of new services, 

resulting in negative implications for the Group’s financial position, 

the results of operations, and other performance.

Shareholder Risks
 Shareholder Agreements and Major Shareholder Rights

J:COM Group affiliates Sumitomo Corporation (“Sumitomo”) and 

KDDI CORpORAtION (“KDDI”) owned 40.11% and 30.81% of out-

standing shares with voting rights, respectively, at the end of the 

fiscal year under review.

 Japanese law dictates that approval must be received in principle 

from two-thirds of shareholders with voting rights at the general 

shareholders meeting for the dismissal of directors and auditors, 

the formation of joint ventures, and the transfer of all or a major part 

of business operations. As a result, Sumitomo has substantial veto 

power over any such business decision.

 In order to further increase the J:COM Group’s enterprise value, 

the Group, along with Sumitomo and KDDI, the two leading share-

holders, signed a memorandum of understanding to form a three-

party alliance. they are conducting a detailed analysis of and 

phasing-in the implementation of policies for achieving business 

synergies. Sumitomo and KDDI are investing in services supplied 

by the Group and related services in several different fields, and 

they may continue these investments going forward. Relations with 

these shareholders and their shareholder rights and investment 

activities could limit the flexibility of the Group to enact measures for 

maximizing returns for the Group and its shareholders. this could 

result in detrimental effects on the group’s financial position, the 

results of operations, and other performance.

 the voting rights percentages noted above are truncated.

 Share Price Volatility Risk
If a large volume of common stock is sold on the open market, or if 

the market recognizes the potential for such sales, there is a possi-

bility that the stock will decline and the Group will be prevented from 

enacting future financial strategies. In addition, the outstanding  

balance of new shares with subscription warrants stood at 10,995 

shares as of February 29, 2012, based on J:COM’s stock option 

policy. If new shares with warrants are issued, or if the market rec-

ognizes the potential for such issues, the effects may be detrimental 

on the Group’s financial position.

  Demands for Stock Purchases from Minority   
Shareholders

One of the J:COM Group’s strategies is to integrate its operations 

with those of subsidiaries to eliminate overlap, thereby increasing 

efficiency. under corporate law, shareholders opposed to mergers 

and other organizational realignment can state their objections and 

request that their shareholdings be purchased at a fair price by the 

company. 

 For J:COM, in the event of such realignment, it would be difficult 

to predict how shareholders other than those participating in a 

merger would exercise their rights. there are no guarantees that 

sufficient capital needed to buy the stakes of minority shareholders 

exercising sales right can be secured or that share purchasing 

prices would be consistent with J:COM’s views. the exercise of 

such rights could adversely affect the Group’s cash flow, delay the 

integration of subsidiaries into the Group, and hamper initiatives for 

improving efficiency, thereby adversely affecting the Group’s finan-

cial position, the results of operations, and other performance.

Market and Competitive Relationship Risks
Competition is intense in the Japanese cable television, high-speed 

Internet access, and telephony services markets, and is expected 

to become more severe in the future among both current competi-

tors and new competitors following strategic buyouts and alliances 

and the building of partnerships. Heightened competition could 

increase subscription cancellations with existing customers and 

slow the acquisition of new customers, and price competition could 

intensify. these developments could adversely impact the J:COM 

Group’s financial position and the results of operations. Companies 

that compete against the Group sometimes have better resources 

for funding, engineering, merchandising, negotiating, marketing, 

and other activities, and superior customer platforms, business 

experience, and name recognition. this could diminish the Group’s 

competitiveness. Rivals could build advantages in price competi-

tiveness, in particular. One of the strengths of the Group is its ability 

to offer bundling services combining cable tV with high-speed 

Internet access and telephony. In recent years, some competitors 

have been providing similar bundling services. they have also been 

focusing resources on bundling services with mobile services. If 

established competitors and potential customers offer bundling 

services with better quality and lower prices than the Group’s offer-

ings, the Group could lose existing customers and potential cus-

tomers. Moreover, not only is the Group exposed to competition 

from similar bundled services provided by other companies, but it 

faces competition from the providers of individual services that 

make up bundled services.
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 Cable Television Services
J:COM Group's cable television services compete against satellite 

tV broadcasting companies (Sky perfect JSAt Corporation and 

others), telecommunications companies, and Broadcasting Satellite 

(BS) service providers, which plan to increase their channels. these 

competitors could secure exclusive offerings of attractive content 

not currently offered by the Group by providing more channels than 

the Group currently offers. Moreover, some competitors have 

already started offering video streaming services through FttH, 

and more are scheduled to start these services. 

 If the Group's existing customers and potential customers decide 

that the number of channels and the quality of programming offered 

by the Group compares unfavorably to those of competitors, the 

Group could lose existing customers and potential customers, and 

this could negatively impact the Group's financial position, the 

results of operations, and other performance.

 High-Speed Internet Access Services
the J:COM’s Group’s high-speed Internet access services com-

pete against other technologies, such as DSl, FttH, and wireless 

high-speed data transmission services. the number of users of 

FttH service greatly exceeds the number of Internet service users 

connected through cable tV lines. FttH services are promoting 

faster download speeds, and their charges are declining. Further-

more, WiMAX, ltE and other wireless high-speed data transmis-

sion services utilizing new technology standards have been 

introduced, delivering line speeds that are competitive with fixed-

line Internet services at access charges. 

 If their service quality increases further, their access charges 

decline, or their service areas are expanded further as a result of 

technological innovation, aggressive investment by these competi-

tors, and other developments, Internet access services through 

cable tV lines could become less attractive to current and potential 

customers. this could adversely affect the Group’s financial posi-

tion, the results of operations, and other performance.

 Telephony Services
the J:COM Group’s telephony services compete against telecom 

companies. these carriers have dedicated-line telephony services 

replacing Ntt’s fixed-line telephony (providers extend fixed-line 

services into their subscribers’ homes) that are equivalent in  

substance to Ntt’s fixed-line services. providers compete not only 

based on toll charges but on base rates. Competition in fixed-line 

services formerly monopolized by Ntt has been intensifying. the 

proliferation of telephony services using voice over Internet protocol 

(VoIp) technology capable of voice transmission over Ip networks is 

further heating competition. Meanwhile, call volume over fixed-line 

telephony services has been declining overall as mobile phone and 

e-mail use rises. the Group has started Ip telephony services, but 

if competition intensifies further, or if fixed-line service charges 

decline substantially, the Group’s financial position, the results of 

operations, and other performance could be adversely affected.

 Market Growth Potential
Although the cable television and high-speed Internet access service 

markets have continued expanding in recent years, growth rates 

have been moderating. the Group will continue promoting growth 

strategies, but a number of factors could prevent growth from con-

tinuing at the current rate, or growth could stop entirely. tepid growth 

in these markets, declining demand, and other negatives could have 

serious detrimental effects on the Group’s financial position and the 

results of operations.

Legal Risks
 Government Regulations

J:COM Group operations are governed by many statutory regula-

tions in Japan and are subject to registration or reporting require-

ments by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (MIC). 

If the Group fails to comply with applicable laws and ordinances or 

with its terms of registration, its registration may be revoked and its 

businesses may need to be suspended or terminated, leaving the 

Group unable to provide services to customers through its net-

works. Moreover, it may become difficult to register or report new 

filings in the future. 

 As of the end of the fiscal year under review, the J:COM Group’s 

core operations had acquired registrations and other conditions as 

noted below. Satellite broadcasting businesses must renew their 

registration and certification every five years, but no term limits 

apply. It is the Group’s understanding that no matters have arisen 

that would constitute reason to revoke or cancel any registration or 

certification.
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 (As of December 31, 2011)

Authorization, registration, and other approval Remarks
Status of authorization, registration or other 

approval

Registration as a wired general broadcasting 
facilities operator
(Broadcast Act, Article 126) (*1&2)

Registration with the MIC required for those 
performing general broadcasting operations 
using cable television facilities comprising at 
least 501 terminals.

16 consolidated subsidiaries and one 
equity-method affiliate registered.

Registration of a telecommunications business
(telecommunications Business Act, Article 9)

Registration with the MIC required for those 
seeking to install large-scale telecommunications 
line equipment to start telecommunications 
business operations.

16 consolidated subsidiaries and two 
equity-method affiliate registered.

Certification as a main satellite broadcaster
(Broadcast Act, Article 93(1)) (*1&2)

Certification by the MIC required for those who 
seek to perform main satellite broadcasting 
business.

two consolidated subsidiaries and one 
equity-method affiliate certified.

Registration as a general satellite broadcaster
 (Broadcast Act, Article 126) (*1&2)

Registration with the MIC required for those 
who seek to perform general satellite broad-
casting business.

One consolidated subsidiary and one 
equity-method affiliate registered.

(*1) Effective June 2011, four broadcasting laws (Broadcast Act, Act on 
Regulation on Cable Radio Broadcasting Services, Cable television 
Broadcast Act, and Act on Broadcast on telecommunications Services) 
were combined into one law called the Broadcasting law.

(*2) permits and licenses can be revoked in the following cases 
(Registration as a wired general broadcasting facilities operator)
•		Have	stopped	performing	general	broadcasting	operations	for	more	than	a	

year without good cause
•	Registrations	or	registration	changes	acquired	wrongfully
•		Failure	to	comply	with	directives	to	improve	facility	operations	deemed	in-

adequate

(Registration of a telecommunications business)
•		Violations	 of	 Telecommunications	Business	Act	 or	 its	 directives	 that	 are	

deemed harmful to public interest
•		Registrations	or	registration	changes	acquired	wrongfully
•		The	company	or	its	executives	have	been	penalized	with	a	fine	or	heavier	

penalty under the provisions of telecommunications Business Act,  Wire 
telecommunications Act, or Radio Act

•		Personnel	penalized	with	a	fine	or	heavier	penalty	under	the	provisions	of	
telecommunications Business Act, Broadcast Act, Wire telecommunications 
Act, or Radio Act, were appointed executives without two years having 
passed since they completed their punishment or were no longer subject 
to punishment

(Certification as a main satellite broadcaster)
•		Two	years	have	not	passed	since	a	punishment	has	been	completed	or	no	

longer applies for a fine or greater penalty applied for violations of  
Broadcast Act or Radio Act

•		The	certified	operator	(or	operator	seeking	renewal)	no	longer	satisfies	MIC	
directives on what is found not to limit the broader public’s enjoyment of the 
freedom of expression via backbone broadcasting

•		In	corporations	or	associations,	one-fifth	or	more	of	voting	rights	are	held	
by directors without Japanese nationality, foreign governments or their 
representatives, or foreign corporations or groups

(Registration as a general satellite broadcaster)
•		Two	years	have	not	passed	since	a	punishment	has	been	completed	or	no	

longer applies for a fine or greater penalty applied for violations of  
Broadcast Act

In these cases, and when new regulations are imposed in the future, services 
could be hindered or operating costs increased for addressing such infringe-
ments, and these could have negative repercussions for the Group’s financial 
position and the results of operations.

 Legal Revisions
Services provided by the J:COM Group are administered under 

laws such as Broadcast Act* and telecommunications Business 

Act governing broadcasting and telecommunications, as well as 

ordinances and guidelines from government agencies, and public 

regulations such as Consumer Basic Act and Act on Specified 

transactions. If changes to these laws, ordinances, policies, and 

guidelines alter their interpretations and applications and negatively 

affect the Group’s competitiveness, thereby imposing new regula-

tions over Group services, or if existing regulations are further 

strengthened, the Group’s financial position and the results of 

operations could be adversely affected.

*  Effective June 2011, four broadcasting laws (Broadcast Act, Act on 
Regulation on Cable Radio Broadcasting Services, Cable television 
Broadcast Act, and Act on Broadcast on telecommunications Services) 
were combined into one law called Broadcast Act.

Risks from Man-Made or Natural Disasters
the J:COM Group’s services could be disrupted by fires, earth-

quakes, floods or other natural disasters that disable facilities and 

other assets, or cause power outages and other disruptions that 

impede or halt Group services. In addition, accidents caused by 

third parties, such as network software defects, unauthorized sys-

tem access, computer viruses, and cuts in cable lines could halt 

Group services. Networks supplied to the Group by third parties 

and their disruption from natural disasters could also interrupt ser-

vices. Group services comprise program delivery and transmission, 

Internet-related services, and telephony services. 

Group buildings, head-end equipment, and cables are subject to 

fire, wind damage, water damage collisions from incoming objects, 

breakage, defacement, and other destruction that would be com-

pensated by indemnity insurance, but the Group does not have 

insurance policies to cover earthquake damages. In addition, profits 

lost during work suspensions cannot be recovered because the 

Group does not carry profit insurance. Diligent efforts are being 

made to fully maintain backup systems for networks and hosting 

facilities, but if technological infrastructure belonging to the Group 

or the Group’s service providers is damaged, their business activi-

ties may be suspended. this could damage trust in the Group and 

have major consequences for its financial position, the results of 

operations, and other performance.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries
As of December 31

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 78,212 ¥ 89,879

 Accounts receivable 22,211 18,270

 Allowance for doubtful accounts (530) (480)

 Deferred tax assets – current (Note 10) 11,611 7,941

 prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 9) 7,833 8,070

   total current assets 119,337 123,680

Investments:

 Investments in affiliates (Note 3) 9,938 10,381

 Investments in other securities, at cost 2,152 2,150

   total investments 12,090 12,531

Property and equipment, at cost (Notes 5 and 7):

 land 3,966 4,158

 Distribution system and equipment 719,018 733,498

 Support equipment and buildings 61,063 69,477

784,047 807,133

 less accumulated depreciation (410,394) (445,113)

   total property and equipment 373,653 362,020

Other assets:

 Goodwill (Notes 2 and 4) 248,323 253,180

 Identifiable intangible assets, net (Notes 2 and 4) 41,615 38,413

 Deferred tax assets – non current (Note 10) 5,392 5,436

 Others 16,353 17,043

   total other assets 311,683 314,072

   total assets ¥816,763 ¥812,303

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Current liabilities:

 Short-term loans (Note 6) ¥  5,581 ¥  5,521

 long-term debt – current portion (Notes 6 and 8) 19,247 10,681

 Capital lease obligations – current portion (Notes 5 and 7):

  Related parties 16,905 15,960

  Others 1,719 1,184

 Accounts payable 27,995 28,324

 Income taxes payable 16,448 9,853

 Deposit from related parties (Note 5) 268 268

 Deferred revenue – current portion (Note 1) 9,774 8,108

 Accrued expenses and other liabilities (Notes 1 and 9) 10,481 11,068

   total current liabilities 108,418 90,967

Long-term debt, less current portion (Notes 6 and 8) 128,887 118,302

Corporate bond, less current portion (Notes 6 and 8) 10,000 10,000

Capital lease obligations, less current portion (Notes 5 and 7):

 Related parties 38,373 33,590

 Others 4,432 4,259

Deferred revenue (Note 1) 60,478 58,996

Deferred tax liabilities – non current (Note 10) 13,392 11,545

Other liabilities (Notes 1, 9 and 10) 26,373 27,328

   total liabilities 390,353 354,987

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Shareholders’ equity (Note 12):

 Common stock no par value 117,550 117,550

	 	 Authorized	15,000,000	shares;	
   Issued 6,947,813 shares as of December 31, 2010
   Issued 6,947,813 shares as of December 31, 2011
 Additional paid-in capital 226,017 226,293

 Retained earnings 70,010 94,825

 Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (Note 1) (1,160) (833)

 treasury stock, at cost 
  24,102 shares as of December 31, 2010
  22,640 shares as of December 31, 2011

(2,266) (2,128)

   total J:COM shareholders’ equity 410,151 435,707

 Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries 16,259 21,609

   total shareholders’ equity 426,410 457,316

   total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ¥816,763 ¥812,303

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income 
Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year ended December 31,

Yen in millions,
except share and per share amounts

2010 2011

Revenue:

 Subscription fees ¥ 298,197 ¥ 307,935

 Others (Notes 1 and 5) 61,915 61,138

360,112 369,073

Operating costs and expenses:

 O perating and programming costs (other than depreciation and amortization) (Notes 5, 7 and 11) (135,272) (140,525)

 Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 1, 5, 7, 11 and 12) (72,242) (72,150)

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 1 and 4) (85,843) (85,323)

(293,357) (297,998)

  Operating income 66,755 71,075

Other income (expenses):

 Interest expense, net (Note 10):

  Related parties (Note 5) (1,644) (1,424)

  Others (3,447) (2,854)

 Equity in earnings of affiliates (Note 3) 1,032 1,473

 Other, net 471 262

  Income before noncontrolling interests and income taxes 63,167 68,532

Income taxes expense (Note 10) (22,248) (28,358)

  Net income 40,919 40,174

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,229) (2,896)

  Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders ¥  37,690 ¥  37,278

Net income attributable to J:COM shareholders per share:

 Basic ¥5,456.41 ¥5,383.59

 Diluted 5,450.89 5,381.49

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding:

 Basic 6,907,446 6,924,297

 Diluted 6,914,436 6,927,003

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year ended December 31,

Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Net income ¥40,919 ¥40,174

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of taxes (Note 1):

 unrealized gain/(loss) on cash flow hedge (368) (179)

 Reclassification adjustment for gain/(loss) on cash flow hedge included in net income 393 499

  Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of taxes 25 320

Comprehensive income 40,944 40,494

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,207) (2,889)

Comprehensive income attributable to J:COM shareholders ¥37,737 ¥37,605

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Yen in millions

Common 
stock no par 

value

Additional
paid-in 
capital

Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated
other  

comprehensive 
income/(loss)

treasury 
stock,  
at cost

total  
J:COM  

shareholders’  
equity

Noncontrolling 
interests in 
subsidiaries

total
shareholders’

equity

B alance as of January 1, 2010 ¥117,242 ¥226,553 ¥39,834 ¥(1,207) ¥(7,520) ¥374,902 ¥14,689 ¥389,591
Net income — — 37,690 — — 37,690 3,229 40,919
O ther comprehensive income/ 

(loss), net of taxes (Note 1) — — — 47 — 47 (22) 25
C ash dividends paid to  

noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (141) (141)
S tock-based compensation  

(Notes 1 and 12) — 102 — — — 102 — 102
C ommon stock issued upon 

exercise of stock options 308 308 — — — 616 — 616
p urchase of subsidiary shares  

from noncontrolling interests — (112) — — — (112) (1,496) (1,608)
C ash dividends paid to  

shareholders (Note 12) — — (7,514) — — (7,514) — (7,514)
Reissuance of treasury stock — (834) — — 5,254 4,420 — 4,420
B alance as of December 31, 2010 ¥117,550 ¥226,017 ¥70,010 ¥(1,160) ¥(2,266) ¥410,151 ¥16,259 ¥426,410
Net income — — 37,278 — — 37,278 2,896 40,174
O ther comprehensive income/ 

(loss), net of taxes (Note 1) — — — 327 — 327 (7) 320
C ash dividends paid to  

noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (112) (112)
S tock-based compensation  

(Notes 1 and 12) — 47 — — — 47 — 47
A cquisition of new subsidiaries  

(Note 2) — — — — — — 3,259 3,259
p urchase of subsidiary shares  

from noncontrolling interests — 361 — — — 361 (686) (325)
C ash dividends paid to  

shareholders (Note 12) — — (12,463) — — (12,463) — (12,463)
Reissuance of treasury stock — (132) — — 138 6 — 6
B alance as of December 31, 2011 ¥117,550 ¥226,293 ¥94,825 ¥  (833) ¥(2,128) ¥435,707 ¥21,609 ¥457,316

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ANNuAl REpORt 2011 69

Financial Inform
ation and

 an Ind
ep

end
ent A

ud
itors R

ep
ort



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries
Year ended December 31

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Cash flows from operating activities:

 Net income ¥ 40,919 ¥ 40,174

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortization 85,843 85,323

  Equity in earnings of affiliates (1,032) (1,473)

  Dividends from affiliates — 1,203

  Stock-based compensation expenses (Note 12) 102 47

  Deferred income taxes expense/(benefit) (Note 10) (3,675) 639

  Gain on bargain purchase in acquisition (Note 2) (368) —

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business combinations:

   Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable, net (5,811) 4,359

   Decrease/(increase) in prepaid expenses (496) (209)

   Decrease/(increase) in other assets (1,334) (670)

   Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 686 2,305

   Increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable 5,125 (6,629)

   Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,814 1,917

   Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue 1,603 (3,644)

    Net cash provided by operating activities 124,376 123,342

Cash flows from investing activities:

 Capital expenditures (56,247) (55,082)

 Acquisition of new subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (Note 2) — (3,327)

 Acquisition of business operations (Note 2) (1,075) —

 Other investing activities 274 100

    Net cash used in investing activities (57,048) (58,309)

Cash flows from financing activities:

 proceeds from issuance of common stock 616 —

 proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock 4,420 6

 Acquisition of noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries (1,608) (325)

 Net increase/(decrease) in short-term loans (Note 6) (2,037) (990)

 principal payments of long-term debt (Note 6) (22,353) (19,700)

 principal payments of capital lease obligations (Note 7) (21,594) (20,875)

 Cash dividends paid to shareholders (Note 12) (7,514) (12,463)

 Other financing activities (3,472) 981

    Net cash used in financing activities (53,542) (53,366)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,786 11,667

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 64,426 78,212

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 78,212 ¥ 89,879

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries
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1 Description of Business, Basis of Financial Statements and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business and Organization
Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. (J:COM), established in 1995, 

is a multiple system operator and also a multiple channel operator. 

J:COM and its subsidiaries (the Company) provide cable television 

service, high-speed Internet access service and telephony service 

through subsidiary cable television companies, supported by net-

work	systems	established	in	five	areas	in	Japan;	Sapporo,	Sendai,	

Kanto, Kansai and Kyushu. Also, the Company operates channels, 

purchasing, producing, editing and providing programs to cable 

television operators, etc.

 As of December 31, 2011, Sumitomo Corporation (SC) and KDDI 

Corporation (KDDI) which are major shareholders of J:COM owned 

40.11% and 30.81% of the common stocks with voting rights, 

respectively. 

Basis of Financial Statements
the Company’s individual financial statements maintain their books 

of account in conformity with Japan generally accepted accounting 

principles (JGAAp). the consolidated financial statements pre-

sented herein are prepared in a manner and reflect certain adjust-

ments which are necessary to conform to u.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles (u.S.GAAp). these adjustments include 

those related to the scope of consolidation and the accounting for 

business combinations, income taxes, goodwill and identifiable 

intangible assets, stock-based compensation, deferred revenue, 

asset retirement obligations, derivative financial instruments, reve-

nue recognition, post-retirement benefits, depreciation and amorti-

zation, and accruals for certain expenses, etc.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a  Principles of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements include J:COM’s accounts 

and the accounts of all entities where J:COM exercises a controlling 

financial interest through the ownership of a direct or indirect con-

trolling voting interest and variable interest entities for which J:COM 

is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany accounts 

and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

b  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of all investments that are readily convert-

ible into cash and have maturities of three months or less at the time 

of the acquisition. the Company’s significant non-cash investing 

activities are disclosed in Note 13.  

c  Allowance for doubtful accounts
the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the Company’s 

assessment of probable losses on accounts receivable considering 

historical experience and other known factors.

 Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable 

is limited due to a large number of small individual customers 

throughout Japan. the Company also manages this risk by discon-

necting services to customers whose accounts are delinquent.  

d  Investments
For those investments in affiliates in which the Company’s voting 

interest is between 20% to 50% and the Company has the ability to 

exercise significant influence over the affiliates’ operation and finan-

cial policies, the equity method of accounting is used. under this 

method, the investment is originally recorded at cost and adjusted 

to recognize the Company’s share of the net earnings or losses of 

its affiliates as they occur, with the Company’s recognition of losses 

generally limited to the extent of its investment in and loans and 

commitments to the affiliate. All significant intercompany profits on 

transactions with these affiliates which are included in assets in the 

balance sheets of the Company or the affiliate are eliminated to the 

extent of the Company’s ownership in the affiliate.

 Investments in other securities carried at cost represent non-

marketable equity securities in which the Company’s ownership is 

less than 20% and the Company does not have the ability to exercise 

significant influence over the entities’ operation and financial policies.

 the Company evaluates its investments in affiliates and non-

marketable equity securities for impairment due to declines in fair 

value considered to be other-than-temporary. the primary factors 

considered in these evaluations are the extent and length of time that 

the fair value of the investment is below its carrying amount and the 

financial condition, operating performance and near-term prospects 

of the investee, industry specific or investee specific factors. those 

are also changes in the stock price or valuation subsequent to the 

balance sheet date, and the impacts of exchange rates, if applicable. 

If the decline in fair value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, the 

carrying amount of the security is written down to fair value. 

e  Derivative instruments 
the Company uses certain derivative financial instruments to man-

age its foreign currency and interest rate exposure. the Company 

enters into forward contracts to reduce its exposure to the move-

ments in exchange rates applicable to firm funding commitments 

that are denominated in currencies other than the Japanese yen. 

the Company uses interest rate derivative instruments, such as 

interest rate swaps, to manage interest costs to achieve a desired 

mix of fixed and variable rate debt. As a matter of policy, the Com-

pany does not enter into derivative contracts for trading or specula-

tive purposes.  

 the Company accounts for its derivative instruments in accor-

dance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) topic 815, 

Derivatives and Hedging, which requires that all derivative instru-

ments be reported in the consolidated balance sheets as either 

assets or liabilities measured at fair value. For derivative instruments 

designated and effective as fair value hedges, changes in the fair 

value of the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable 

to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For derivative instru-

ments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any 

hedge is reported in other comprehensive income/(loss) until it is 

recognized in earnings in the same period in which the hedged item 

affects earnings. the ineffective portion of all hedges is recognized 
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in earnings each period. Changes in fair value of derivative instru-

ments that are not designated as a hedge are recorded each period 

in earnings. 

 the Company formally documents all relationships between 

hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-manage-

ment objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. 

this process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as 

fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities in the 

balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted trans-

actions. Ongoing assessments of effectiveness are made every 

three months. Also, the Company discontinues hedge accounting 

prospectively when (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer 

effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of a 

hedged item, (ii) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or 

exercised, (iii) it is determined that the forecasted hedged transac-

tion will no longer occur, (iv) a hedged firm commitment no longer 

meets the definition of a firm commitment, or (v) the Company 

determines that the designation of the derivative as a hedge instru-

ment is no longer appropriate. 

 the Company has several outstanding forward contracts with 

commercial banks to hedge foreign currency exposures related to 

u.S. dollar denominated equipment purchases and other firm com-

mitments.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, such forward con-

tracts had an aggregate notional amount of ¥1,645 million and ¥243 

million, respectively, and expire on various dates through June 2012. 

these forward contracts have not been designated as accounting 

hedges. However, the Company believes such forward contracts 

are closely related with the firm commitments designated in u.S. 

dollars and those are utilized to manage associated currency risk.  

 the Company also has several outstanding forward contracts 

with commercial banks to hedge foreign currency exposures related 

to foreign currencies denominated firm commitments. As of 

December 31, 2010 and 2011, such forward contracts had an 

aggregate notional amount of ¥5,120 million and ¥6,577 million, 

respectively, and expire on various dates through December 2016. 

these forward contracts are designated and documented as cash 

flow hedging instruments. J:COM also has several interest rate 

swap agreements to manage variable rate debt. these interest rate 

exchange agreements effectively fix the Japanese Yen tIBOR and 

Yen lIBOR components of variable interest rates on borrowings of 

¥49,500 million that mature between April 2013 and April 2014. 

these interest rate exchange agreements are designated and docu-

mented as cash flow hedging instruments.

f  Programming rights and language versioning
programming rights and language versioning acquired for broadcast 

by channel operators are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable 

value. programming right licenses generally state a fixed time period 

within which a program can be aired, and generally limit the number 

of times a program can be aired. the licensor retains ownership of 

the program upon expiration of the license.  programming rights and 

language versioning costs are amortized over the license period for 

the program rights based on the nature of the contract or program. 

Where airing runs are limited, amortization is generally based on runs 

usage, where usage is unlimited, a straight-line basis is used as an 

estimate of actual usage for amortization purposes. Certain sports 

programs are amortized fully upon first airing. Such amortization is 

included in operating and programming costs in the consolidated 

statements of income. the portion of unamortized programming 

rights and language versioning costs expected to be amortized 

within one year is included in prepaid expenses and other current 

assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

g  Property and equipment
property and equipment, including construction materials, is 

recorded at cost, which includes all direct costs and certain indirect 

costs associated with the construction of cable television transmis-

sion and distribution systems, and the costs of new subscriber 

installations. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method 

over the estimated useful lives, as follows:

Asset description Estimated useful lives

Distribution system and equipment 10 to 17 years

Buildings and structures 10 to 40 years

Support equipment 5 to 15 years

 Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value of 

minimum lease payments. Equipment under capital leases is amor-

tized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or 

estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges from two to twenty 

years. the useful lives are assessed periodically and are adjusted 

when warranted.  the useful lives of systems that are undergoing a 

rebuild are adjusted such that the property and equipment to be 

retired will be fully depreciated by the time the rebuild is complete.

 In accordance with ASC Topic 922, Entertainment - Cable Televi-

sion, the Company capitalizes costs associated with the construc-

tion of new cable transmission and distribution facilities and the 

initial installation of cable television service. Capitalized construction 

and installation costs include materials, labor and other directly 

attributable costs. Installation activities that are capitalized include 

(i) the initial connection (or drop) from the Company’s network sys-

tems to a customer location, (ii) the replacement of a drop, and (iii) 

the installation of equipment for additional services, such as digital 

additional services, high-speed Internet access service or tele-

phony service, etc. the costs of other customer-facing activities 

such as reconnecting locations where a drop already exists, dis-

connecting customer locations, and repairing or maintaining drops, 

are expensed as incurred.

 Certain capitalized development costs associated with internal-

use software are included in support equipment. these costs 

include external costs of material and services, as well as payroll 

costs for employees devoting time to the software projects. Capital-

ized development costs are amortized over a period not to exceed 

five years beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. 

Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, as well as 

maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred.
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 Ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged to expenses as 

incurred. Major replacements and improvements are capitalized. 

When property and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed, the 

cost and related accumulated depreciation accounts are relieved 

and any differences are recognized as depreciation expense. the 

impact of such retirements and disposals resulted in additional 

depreciation expense of ¥1,968 million and ¥2,664 million for the 

years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively. 

 According to ASC topic 410, Asset Retirement and Environmen-

tal Obligations, the Company recognizes a liability for asset retire-

ment obligations if sufficient information is available to make a 

reasonable estimate of fair value. the Company’s conditional legal 

obligations are mainly restoration obligations for office space of 

buildings and shops, head-end facilities and studios based on lease 

contracts and restoration obligations (costs for industrial wastes 

disposal and equipment removal, etc.) for transmission lines and 

facilities based on telecommunications Business Act and other 

relevant laws. the Company does not recognize asset retirement 

obligations if reasonable estimates of timing for equipment removal 

are difficult. As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the amount of the 

Company’s asset retirement obligations was ¥4,816 million and 

¥2,422 million, respectively, and was included in accrued expenses 

and other liabilities (current liabilities), other liabilities in the consoli-

dated balance sheets.

h  Goodwill
the Company recognizes goodwill, measured as the excess of the 

consideration transferred for a business combination over the net of 

the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 

assumed in the acquiree. the Company performs the goodwill 

impairment test on an annual basis and between annual tests if an 

event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than 

not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

 the Company early adopted Accounting Standards update 

(ASu) 2011-08, Testing Goodwill for Impairment, in 2011 and 

adopted the option to first assess qualitative factors prior to per-

forming the first step of the goodwill impairment test. In the qualita-

tive assessment, the Company assesses qualitative factors to 

determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a 

reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, 

considering relevant events and circumstances that affect the fair 

value or carrying amount of a reporting unit, such as macroeco-

nomic conditions, industry and market considerations, overall 

financial performance and share price conditions, etc. If, after 

assessing them, the Company determines that it is not more likely 

than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 

amount, then performing the two-step goodwill impairment test is 

unnecessary. However, if the Company concludes otherwise, then 

it is required to perform the first step of the two-step goodwill 

impairment test.

 the first step compares the fair value of a determined reporting 

unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying 

amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of 

the goodwill impairment test is performed. the second step com-

pares the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carry-

ing amount of the goodwill. If the carrying amount of reporting unit 

goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impair-

ment loss is recognized.

 the Company performs the annual goodwill impairment test on 

the first day of October. the Company determines that reporting 

units are the same as operating segments. the Company did not 

recognize an impairment loss of goodwill for the years ended 

December 31, 2010 and 2011.

i   Long-lived assets
the Company’s long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, are reviewed 

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by com-

paring the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to the future 

net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) expected to be 

generated by the asset or asset group. If the carrying amount of the 

asset or asset group is greater than the undiscounted cash flows, 

impairment is recognized and measured by the amount by which 

the carrying amount of the assets or asset group exceeds the esti-

mated fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported 

at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

j  Other assets
Other assets include certain deferred financing costs, primarily 

legal fees and bank facility fees, incurred to negotiate and secure 

J:COM’s bank facilities. these costs are amortized to interest 

expense using effective interest method over the term of the facility. 

k  Income taxes
the Company accounts for deferred income taxes under the asset 

and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recog-

nized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets 

and liabilities and their respective tax basis and the expected ben-

efits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 

rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which the Company 

operates for the years in which those temporary differences are 

expected to be recovered or settled. the effect on deferred tax 

assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income 

in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets 

are reduced by a valuation allowance if the Company believes it is 

more likely than not such deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

 In accordance with rules for uncertainty in Income taxes, tax 

benefit is recognized when it is more likely than not that filed tax 

position will be maintained after examination by the tax authorities. 

When it is not more likely than not that filed tax position will be 

maintained, taxes expenses are recognized. Also, interest related to 

income tax liabilities is included in interest expense and penalties 

are included in income taxes expense.
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l  Severance and retirement plans
the Company sponsors a defined contribution pension plan (cor-

porate type) for substantially all of its full-time employees excluding 

directors. pension expenses related to defined contribution pension 

plan are charged to expense as incurred. the Company is also a 

member of Sumisho Rengo Corporate pension Fund, which is a 

multiemployer plan and recognizes contribution as expenses in the 

same way as a defined contribution pension plan.

m  Revenue recognition
the Company recognizes revenues for cable television service, 

high-speed Internet access service and telephony service when 

such services are provided to subscribers. Initial subscriber instal-

lation revenues are recognized in the period in which the related 

services are provided to the extent of direct selling costs. Any 

remaining amount is deferred and recognized over the estimated 

average period that the subscribers are expected to continue our 

services. Historically, installation revenues have been less than 

related direct selling costs, and therefore, such revenues have been 

recognized as installations are completed.

 the Company provides rebroadcasting services to noncable 

television viewers who receive poor reception of broadcast televi-

sion signals as a result of obstacles that were constructed by third 

parties. the Company enters into agreements with these third par-

ties, whereby the Company receives up-front compensation to 

construct and maintain cable facilities to provide rebroadcasting 

services to the affected viewers at no cost during the agreement 

period. Revenue from these agreements is deferred and is being 

recognized in income on a straight-line basis over periods that are 

consistent with the durations of the underlying agreements up to 20 

years. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, the 

Company recognized revenue under these arrangements totaling 

¥12,890 million and ¥11,870 million, respectively, which is included 

in revenue—others in the consolidated statements of income. 

Deferred revenue under these poor reception rebroadcasting ser-

vice arrangements (pRC) included in the consolidated balance 

sheets was as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Deferred revenue pRC – current ¥ 8,677 ¥ 7,123

Deferred revenue pRC – non current 59,497 58,091

 total deferred revenue pRC ¥68,174 ¥65,214

 the Company’s channel operators distribute programs to indi-

vidual satellite subscribers through an agreement with the satellite 

service provider which provides subscriber management services 

to channel operators in return for a fee based on subscription rev-

enues. Individual satellite subscribers pay a monthly fee for channel 

operators under the terms of rolling one-month subscription con-

tracts. Cable television operators and broadband service providers 

generally pay a per-subscriber fee for the right to distribute the 

Company’s programs on their systems under the terms of generally 

annual distribution contracts. Revenue for such services is recog-

nized in the periods in which the services are provided to cable 

television operators, the satellite service provider and broadband 

service providers.

 See Note 5 for a description of related party revenue in the con-

solidated statements of income.

n  Advertising and sales promotion expenses
Advertising and sales promotion expenses are charged to expense 

as incurred. Advertising and sales promotion expenses amounted to 

¥6,984 million and ¥6,636 million for the years ended December 31, 

2010 and 2011, respectively, and were included in selling, general and 

administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

o  Consumption taxes
All transactions are recorded net of national and regional consump-

tion taxes. 

p  Stock-based compensation
the Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards 

using the fair value method. under this method, the fair value of the 

stock-based compensation awards is determined using the Black-

Scholes option-pricing model, and the fair value is generally needed 

to be reviewed every fiscal year closing until stock-based awards 

are vested. For awards granted during 2010 and 2011, the fair value 

was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 

the following assumptions: 

Years  ended December 31, 2010 2011

Expected dividend yield  0.92%  1.92%

Volatility 40.62%-42.26% 38.10%-41.09%

Risk-free rate   0.37%-1.32%   0.42%-1.21%

Expected life 4 & 10 years 4 & 10 years

 the expected life of stock options was calculated using the 

“simplified method” set forth in ASC topic 718, Compensation—

Stock Compensation. the expected volatility for stock options was 

based on the historical volatility of J:COM.

q  Earnings per share
Earnings per share (EpS) is presented in accordance with the provi-

sions of ASC topic 260, Earnings per share. under ASC topic 260, 

basic EpS excludes dilution for potential common stock and is 

computed by dividing net income attributable to J:COM sharehold-

ers by the weighted average number of common stock outstanding 

for the period. Diluted EpS reflects the potential dilution that could 

occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were 

exercised or converted into common stock. the computations of 

basic and diluted EpS amounts were as follows:



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANNuAl REpORt 2011 75

Financial Inform
ation and

 an Ind
ep

end
ent A

ud
itors R

ep
ort

Yen in millions except share and 
per share amounts

Years  ended December 31, 2010 2011

N et income attributable to J:COM 
shareholders (Yen in millions) ¥   37,690 ¥   37,278

W eighted average common stock 
outstanding:

 Basic 6,907,446 6,924,297

 E ffect of dilutive common stock 
equivalents 6,990 2,706

 Diluted 6,914,436 6,927,003

N et income attributable to J:COM 
shareholders per share (Yen):

 Basic ¥ 5,456.41 ¥ 5,383.59

 Diluted ¥ 5,450.89 ¥ 5,381.49

r  Segments
the Company reports operating segment information in accor-

dance with ASC topic 280, Segment Reporting. ASC topic 280 

defines operating segments as components of an enterprise of 

which separate financial information is available that is regularly 

evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to 

allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing per-

formance of the segment. 

 the Company’s programming services are considered as a 

separate operating segment, however due to the insignificant size 

of these operations as of December 31, 2011, management has 

determined that the Company has one reportable segment, cable 

television services.

s  Use of estimates
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in confor-

mity with u.S. GAAp requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabili-

ties at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period.  Estimates and assumptions are used in accounting for, 

among other things, the valuation of acquisition-related assets and 

liabilities, allowance for doubtful accounts, deferred tax assets/lia-

bilities and related valuation allowances, loss contingencies, fair 

value measurements, impairment assessments, depreciation and 

amortization, capitalization of internal costs associated with con-

struction and installation activities, stock-based compensation, etc. 

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

t   Accounting changes and recent accounting   
pronouncements

Accounting Changes
ASU2010-06
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASu2010-06, Fair Value Mea-

surements and Disclosures (ASC Topic 820): Improving Disclosures 

about Fair Value Measurements. ASu2010-06 requires the presen-

tation of separate information regarding purchases, sales, issuances 

and settlements for level 3 fair value measurements. the Company 

adopted ASu2010-06 in the first quarter of 2011. ASu2010-06 

being a disclosure regulation, such adoption did not have an impact 

on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

ASU2010-29
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASu2010-29, Business Combi-

nations (ASC Topic 805): Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma 

Information for Business Combinations (a consensus of the FASB 

Emerging Issues Task Force). ASu2010-29 provides amendments 

that specify that if a public entity presents comparative financial 

statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the 

combined entity as though the business combination(s) that 

occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of 

the comparable prior annual reporting period only. the amendments 

also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a 

description of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro 

forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination 

included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. the Com-

pany adopted ASu2010-29 in the first quarter of 2011. ASu2010-29 

being a disclosure regulation, such adoption did not have an impact 

on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

ASU2011-08
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASu2011-08, Intangibles— 

Goodwill and Others (ASC Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impair-

ment. ASu2011-08 permits to simplify how an entity tests goodwill 

for impairment and if an entity concludes that it is not more likely 

than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 

amount in a qualitative assessment executed prior to performing 

impairments test, it would not be required to perform the two-step 

impairment test for that reporting unit. the Company early adopted 

ASu2011-08 in 2011. Such adoption did not have an impact on the 

Company’s financial position and results of operations.

ASU2011-09
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASu2011-09, Compensation—

Retirement Benefits—Multiemployer Plans (ASC Subtopic 715-80): 

Disclosures about an Employer’s Participation in a Multiemployer Plan.  

ASu2011-09 requires that an employer provides more detailed infor-

mation about an employer’s involvement in multiemployer pension 

plans, including the significant multiemployer plans in which an 

employer participants, the level of an employer’s participation and 

indication of the funded status in addition to the current total amount of 

contributions. the Company adopted ASu2011-09 in 2011. ASu2011-

09 being a disclosure regulation, such adoption did not have an impact 

on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
ASU2011-04
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASu2011-04, Fair Value Measurement 

(ASC Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Mea-

surement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. 

ASu2011-04 is intended to develop common requirements for mea-

suring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value mea-

surements in accordance with u.S.GAAp and IFRS. to achieve this 
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objective, ASu2011-04 clarifies existing fair value measurement and 

disclosure requirements and changes a particular principle or require-

ment regarding fair value measurement and disclosure. the Company 

will adopt ASu2011-04 in the first quarter of 2012. the Company does 

not yet complete our evaluation of the impact of ASu2011-04 on the 

Company’s financial position and results of operations.

ASU2011-05/12
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASu2011-05, Comprehensive 

Income (ASC Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income. 

ASu2011-05 eliminates the option to present components of other 

comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in 

stockholders’ equity and requires an entity to report comprehensive 

income either in a single continuous financial statement or in two 

separate but consecutive financial statements. Also, it requires to 

present on the face of the financial statements the effects of reclas-

sifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the 

components of net income and other comprehensive income.

 In December 2011, the FASB issued ASu2011-12, Comprehen-

sive Income (ASC Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for 

Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out 

of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in ASU2011-05. 

ASu2011-12 defers the effective date for amendments to present 

on the face of the financial statements the effects of reclassifica-

tions out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the 

components of net income and other comprehensive income.

the Company will adopt ASu2011-05 and ASu2011-12 in the first 

quarter of 2012. these being a disclosure regulation, the Company 

does not expect such adoption will have an impact on the Compa-

ny’s financial position and results of operations.

u  Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 

current year presentation.

2

3

Acquisitions

Investments in Affiliates

One of the primary business strategy of the Company is growth 

through acquisitions of cable television companies, etc. the Com-

pany recognizes the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 

assumed in the acquiree at the acquisition date, and goodwill 

measured as the excess of the consideration transferred over the 

net of the above assets and liabilities.

 the Company acquired 51% of all shares of Yokohama Cable 

Vision Inc. owned by Sotetsu Holding Inc. and made it a consoli-

dated subsidiary in October 2011. Due to the acquisition, goodwill 

and identifiable intangible assets amounted to ¥4,857 million and 

¥1,480 million, respectively. the Company was in the process of 

allocating the purchase price as of December 31, 2011, so the 

amounts could possibly be adjusted.

the Company’s affiliates are primarily engaged in a program supply 

business, cable television services and those related businesses in 

Japan. As of December 31, 2011, the Company held the following 

investments:

Investment Ownership  percentage

Discovery Japan, Inc. 50.00%

Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., ltd. 50.00%

Animal planet Japan Co., ltd. 50.00%

AXN Japan, Inc. 35.00%

InteractV Co., ltd. 32.50%

Open Wireless platform llC. 32.22%

Japan Digital Serve Corp. 28.45%

Green City Cable television Co., ltd. 20.00%

 the carrying amount of investments in affiliates as of December 

31, 2010 and 2011 included ¥2,992 million and ¥2,996 million, 

respectively of unamortized excess cost of the initial investments 

over the acquired equity in the net assets of the affiliates. Amounts 

associated with intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized 

over their estimated useful lives. As of December 31, 2011 such 

estimated useful lives are 17 years. 

 Condensed financial information of the Company’s unconsoli-

dated affiliates as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 and for the 

periods in which the Company used the equity method to account 

for these affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 

were as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Combined financial position:

 property and equipment, net ¥ 4,412 ¥ 4,079

 Other assets, net 22,298 20,906

  total assets 26,710 24,985

 Debt 1,347 807

 Other liabilities 13,933 10,334

 Shareholders’ equity 11,430 13,844

  t otal liabilities and shareholders’ 
equity ¥26,710 ¥24,985
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4 Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill
the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended 

December 31, 2010 and 2011 consisted of the following:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Goodwill, beginning of year ¥248,094 ¥248,323

Acquisitions 229 4,857

Goodwill, end of year ¥248,323 ¥253,180

Identifiable intangible assets
Identifiable intangible assets include customer relationships, chan-

nel franchises and trademark which are originally recorded at fair 

value in connection with business combinations. Customer rela-

tionships, channel franchises and trademark are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives, which 

are 10, 17 and 10 years, respectively, and reviewed for impairment 

in accordance with ASC topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and 

Other Intangible Assets.

 the intangible assets, net as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 

consisted of the following:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Combined Operations:

 Revenue ¥ 31,839 ¥ 34,422

 O perating, selling, general and 
administrative expenses (25,320) (27,696)

 Depreciation and amortization (1,525) (1,603)

  Operating income 4,994 5,123

 Interest income/expense, net 6 1

 Other expense, net (1,999) (2,024)

  Net income ¥  3,001 ¥  3,100

 Discovery Japan, Inc. merged with Animal plant Japan Co., ltd. 

in January 2012.

 the Company recorded amortization expenses of ¥4,643 million 

and ¥4,682 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 

2011, respectively.

 Estimated amortization expenses of intangible assets were 

expected to be as follows:

Yen in millions

2012 ¥ 4,793

2013 4,793

2014 4,793

2015 4,540

2016 3,718

thereafter 15,776

¥38,413

Yen in millions

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
amortization

Net carrying 
amount

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
amortization

Net carrying 
amount

2010 2011

Customer relationships ¥29,621 ¥(11,986) ¥17,635 ¥31,101 ¥(15,016) ¥16,085

Channel franchises 27,641 (3,877) 23,764 27,641 (5,505) 22,136

trademark 240 (24) 216 240 (48) 192

¥57,502 ¥(15,887) ¥41,615 ¥58,982 ¥(20,569) ¥38,413



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANNuAl REpORt 201178

5

6

Related Party Transactions

Debt

Related party transactions recorded for the years ended December 

31, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

Yen in millions

Year ended December 31, 2010 2011

R evenue earned from related  
parties (1) ¥10,431 ¥12,046

O perating and programming costs 
charged by related parties (2) 13,567 15,949

S G&A expenses charged by related 
parties (3) 3,461 3,911

I nterest expense, net, charged by 
related parties (4) 1,644 1,424

C apital lease additions from related 
parties (5) 17,465 12,106

(1)  the Company received consideration for facility use related to 

telephony service from KDDI and for program supply, program 

distribution, etc. from other related parties.

(2)  the Company paid for (i) telephony service and circuit line, etc. 

to KDDI, (ii) using billing system and logistic services to SC sub-

sidiaries, and (iii) program purchase for cable television service 

and program distribution to other related parties.

(3)  the Company paid service fees to SC and KDDI based on sec-

ondees’ payroll costs as the Company has management service 

agreements with SC and KDDI, whose staff are seconded as 

directors or management persons in the Company. Also, the 

Company paid It support expenses to SC subsidiaries.

(4)  the Company primarily paid interest expenses of capital leases 

to SC subsidiary and certain related party.

(5)  the Company leases, in the form of capital leases, customer 

premise equipment and vehicles, etc. from SC subsidiary and 

certain related party. As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the 

Company owed those capital lease obligations of ¥55,278 mil-

lion and ¥49,550 million, respectively.

 Certain of the Company’s equity method affiliates deposit excess 

funds with J:COM Finance Co., ltd. the aggregate amount owed 

by the Company to these equity method affiliates as of December 

31, 2010 and 2011 were ¥268 million and ¥268 million, respectively.

A summary of debt as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 was as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

loan:

S hort-term loan, variable interest at 0.58% to 1.83% and 0.48% to 1.30% as of December 31, 2010 
and 2011, respectively ¥  5,581 ¥  5,521

term loans, due fiscal 2013—2016, interest at 0.54% to 2.26% 137,000 121,000

0% secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2012—2019 8,806 6,183

S ecured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2012—2018, interest at 0.65% to 2.80% 2,328 1,800

total 153,715 134,504

less: current portion (24,828) (16,202)

long-term debt, less current portion ¥128,887 ¥118,302

Corporate bond:

unsecured corporate bond, due fiscal 2014, interest at 1.51% ¥ 10,000 ¥ 10,000
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Term Loans
the summary of J:COM’s debt balance on term loans as of Decem-

ber 31, 2011 was as follows.

 All loan agreements except for those for small amount, require 

compliance with various financial covenants such as maximum 

senior debt to EBItDA, minimum debt service coverage ratio, and a 

total shareholder’s equity test. 

 From March to May of 2006, J:COM refinanced the existing term 

loan with ¥20 billion of fixed-interest rate loans and ¥20 billion of 

variable-interest rate loans. these loans mature in 2013.

 In connection with the September 2006 acquisition of Cable 

West Inc., J:COM entered into a ¥2 billion variable-interest rate term 

loan agreement (matured in 2011) and  a ¥20 billion fixed-interest 

rate term loan agreement (payment scheduled to start in 2011 and 

mature in 2013). As a part of the agreed payment, J:COM repaid ¥2 

billion variable-interest rate term loan and ¥4 billion out of ¥20 billion 

fixed-interest rate term loan in September, 2011. J:COM entered 

into a ¥30 billion syndicated term loan agreement in October 2006, 

and repaid ¥10 billion in October, 2011. the remaining ¥20 billion 

consists of ¥19.5 billion variable-interest rate term loan and ¥0.5 

billion fixed-interest rate term loan (both mature in 2013).

 In March 2008, J:COM entered into a ¥25 billion syndicated term 

loan agreement in order to repay the existing term loan. this loan 

matures in 2014.

 In March 2009, in connection with the acquisition of Mediatti 

Communications, Inc., J:COM entered into ¥30 billion term loan 

agreements with financial institutions. J:COM repaid ¥10 billion in 

September 2010 prior to the maturity date. the remaining ¥20 bil-

lion loans consist of a ¥9 billion variable-interest rate term loan 

(matures in 2014), a ¥10 billion variable-interest rate term loan 

(matures in 2015), and a ¥1 billion fixed-interest rate term loan 

(matures in 2016).

 Other than above mentioned loans, J:COM entered into a ¥10 

billion commitment line facility agreement in September 2007 (valid 

until 2012) and a ¥30 billion commitment line facility agreement in 

October 2010 (valid until 2015) with a syndicate of banks. With these 

agreements, J:COM holds ¥40 billion readily available for immediate 

borrowing for purposes other than hostile takeover as of December 

31, 2011. 

D evelopment Bank of Japan Loans to   
Cable Television Subsidiaries

these loans represent institutional loans from the Development  

Bank of Japan (DBJ), which were made available to telecommunica-

tion companies operating in specific local areas designated as 

“teletopia” by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications  

to facilitate development of local telecommunications networks. 

Requirements to qualify for such financing include use of optical fiber 

cables, equity participation by local and municipal governments and 

guarantee by third parties, among other things. these loans are 

obtained by the subsidiaries and are guaranteed by J:COM.

Corporate Bond
On July 2, 2009, J:COM completed a ¥10 billion unsecured corpo-

rate bond offering at par value with final maturity at June 30, 2014 

with interest rate of 1.51%. these proceeds are for general corpo-

rate purposes, including the refinancing of existing borrowings.  

Securities on Long-term Debt
Non-syndicated bank facility loans from DBJ to certain of J:COM’s 

subsidiaries are secured by substantially all property and equip-

ment held by such subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2011, the 

aggregate net carrying amount of this property and equipment, etc. 

was ¥83,123 million.  

 the aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding 

as of December 31, 2011 were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Yen in millions

2012 ¥ 10,681

2013 69,899

2014 45,418

2015 11,108

2016 1,692

thereafter 185

¥138,983

7 Leases  

the Company is obligated under various capital leases, primarily for 

set top boxes, and other noncancelable operating leases. See Note 

5 for further discussion of capital leases from related parties.

 As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the amount of property and 

equipment and related accumulated depreciation recorded under 

capital leases were as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Distribution system and equipment ¥113,182 ¥102,831

Support equipment and buildings 5,408 5,933

less: accumulated depreciation (58,909) (55,363)

¥ 59,681 ¥ 53,401
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9 Fair Value Measurements

ASC topic 820, Fair value Measurements and Disclosures, defines 

fair value as an exit price, or the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability. Also, it provides for a fair value 

hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 

measure fair value into three broad levels.  level 1 inputs are quoted 

market prices in active markets for the identical asset or liability that 

the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement 

date. level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted market prices 

included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs 

for the asset or liability.

 As described in Note 1(5) Derivative instruments, the Company 

has entered into interest rate swaps contract and foreign exchange 

forward contract. the fair value measurements of them are deter-

mined using cash flow models. these cash flow models consist of, 

or are derived from, observable level 2 data for these derivative 

instruments, including interest rates, swap rates and yield curves, 

which are retrieved or derived from available market data. the 

Company believes that the valuations of these derivative instru-

ments fall under level 2 of the hierarchy.

8 Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

the Company believes that the fair value of short term financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-

tem loans and accounts payable, etc. and their carrying amount are approximately equal. long term financial instruments were as follows. 

For additional information on derivative instruments, see Note 9.

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Carrying
amount Fair value

Carrying
amount Fair value

long-term debt (including current portion) ¥148,134 ¥149,469 ¥128,983 ¥129,882

Corporate bond 10,000 10,254 10,000 10,246

 Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depre-

ciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of income. 

 Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncan-

celable operating leases as of December 31, 2011 were as follows:

Yen in millions

Year ending December 31,
Capital
leases

Operating
leases

2012 ¥ 18,629 ¥279

2013 14,678 178

2014 10,956 91

2015 7,675 74

2016 4,035 47

thereafter 2,838 44

total minimum lease payments ¥ 58,811 ¥713

less: amount representing interest (3,818)

p resent value of net minimum lease 
payments 54,993

less: current portion (17,144)

Noncurrent portion ¥ 37,849

 the Company occupies certain offices under cancelable lease 

arrangements. Rental expenses for such leases for the years ended 

December 31, 2010 and 2011 were as follows: 

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Operating and programming costs ¥4,579 ¥4,863

S elling, general and administrative 
expenses 1,631 1,379

¥6,210 ¥6,242

 Also, the Company occupies certain transmission facilities and 

uses poles and other equipment under cancelable lease arrange-

ments. Rental expenses for such leases for the years ended 

December 31, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Operating and programming costs ¥15,150 ¥14,992

S elling, general and administrative 
expenses 123 90

¥15,273 ¥15,082
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10 Income Taxes

All income taxes expense is derived solely from Japanese operations. 

Income taxes expense for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 

2011 was as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Current ¥25,923 ¥27,719

Deferred (3,675) 639

Income taxes expense ¥22,248 ¥28,358

 On November 30, 2011, Act for Partial Revision of the Income Tax 

Act, etc. for the purpose of Creating Taxation System Responding to 

changes in Economic and Social Structures (Act No.114 of 2011) and 

Act on Special Measures for Securing Financial Resources Necessary 

to Implement Measures for Reconstruction following the Great East 

Japan Earthquake (Act No.117 of 2011) passed the National Diet.

 Due to the enacted laws, the statutory tax rate used to measure 

deferred tax assets and liabilities was changed from 40.69% to 

38.01% for 2013, 2014 and 2015 and was also changed to 35.64% 

for 2016 and subsequent years for temporary differences expected 

to be utilized.

 the effect of these tax rate changes of ¥205 million was charged  

to deferred income taxes expense for the year ended December  

31, 2011.

 the reconciliation between the statutory tax rate and the effective 

tax rate in the consolidated statements of income for the years 

ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 was as follows:

2010 2011

Statutory tax rate 40.7% 40.7%

I ncrease/(decrease) in valuation 
allowance (0.6) (0.3)

t ax effect on undistributed earnings  
of subsidiaries and affiliates 0.7 0.0

I mpact by liquidation of consolidated 
subsidiaries (6.6) —
Impact by tax rate changes — 0.3
per capita tax 0.4 0.4
Non-deductible expenses 0.3 0.1
Others 0.3 0.2
Effective tax rate 35.2% 41.4%

 the components of temporary differences and carryforwards 

that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 

31, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Deferred tax assets:
 Deferred revenue ¥23,370 ¥20,311
 lease obligations 8,665 4,270
 Accrued expenses and others 6,164 5,092
 property and equipment 4,026 3,397
 Net operating loss carryforwards 1,689 265
 total gross deferred tax assets 43,914 33,335
 less: valuation allowance (451) (228)

 D eferred tax assets, net of  
valuation allowance 43,463 33,107

Deferred tax liabilities:
 property and equipment 19,566 13,678

 I ntangible assets (mainly  
identifiable intangible assets) 17,235 14,556

 Investments 2,579 2,717
 Others 472 324
total gross deferred tax liabilities 39,852 31,275
Net deferred tax assets ¥ 3,611 ¥ 1,832

 the assets and liabilities measured at fair value that were included in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 

were as follows:

Yen in millions

2010 2011

level 1 level 2 level 3 level 1 level 2 level 3

Assets:

Interest rate swaps contract ¥— ¥   — ¥— ¥— ¥   — ¥—

Foreign exchange forward contract ¥— ¥   — ¥— ¥— ¥    1 ¥—

total assets ¥— ¥   — ¥— ¥— ¥    1 ¥—

liabilities:

Interest rate swaps contract ¥— ¥1,710 ¥— ¥— ¥1,077 ¥—

Foreign exchange forward contract ¥— ¥  364 ¥— ¥— ¥  352 ¥—

total liabilities ¥— ¥2,074 ¥— ¥— ¥1,429 ¥—



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANNuAl REpORt 201182

 Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets decreased by ¥223 

million, from ¥451 million as of December 31, 2010 to ¥228 million 

as of December 31, 2011. the reasons for the decrease in valuation 

allowance were mainly utilization of net operating loss carryforwards 

and partial reversal by reviewing the collectibility of deferred  

tax assets.

 the Company assesses the realizability in recognition of deferred 

tax assets and considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax 

liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strate-

gies in making this assessment. the ultimate realization of deferred 

tax assets is dependent upon whether future taxable income gen-

erates or not during the periods in which those temporary differ-

ences become deductible. Based upon the level of historical 

taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the 

periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, manage-

ment expects to realize its deferred tax assets net of existing valua-

tion allowance.

 As of December 31, 2011, the Company had net operating loss 

carryforwards for income tax purposes of ¥696 million which were 

available to offset future taxable income. Net operating loss carry-

forwards, if not utilized, will expire in each of the years as follows:

Year ending December 31, Yen in millions

2012 ¥  —

2013 —

2014 —

2015 —

2016 —

thereafter 696

¥696

 As of December 31, 2011, the Company had tax benefits that 

would decrease the Company’s effective tax rate. According to 

ASC topic 740, Income taxes, however, all amounts were unrecog-

nized in the consolidated financial statements. 

 the Company is subject to income tax examinations of the 

National tax Administrative Agency. Substantially all material 

income tax examinations have been concluded for tax years 

through 2005. Currently, the Company is not under examination in 

any jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Although it is 

reasonably possible that an examination could be conducted in 

future that would result in changes to the Company’s unrecognized 

tax benefits related to tax positions taken as of December 31, 2011, 

the Company does not expect that any such changes will have a 

material impact on its 2012 effective tax rate. Although it is reason-

ably possible that some additional tax benefits unrecognized in the 

consolidated  financial statements could generate through transac-

tions by the Company, the Company does not disclose any estimate 

of increase in such tax benefits as it is not possible to assure nature 

of future tax position and its impact. 

  During 2011, the Company recognized income taxes expense of 

¥323 million representing the accrual of penalties, and interest 

expense of ¥363 million representing the accrual of interest from 

estimated penalties during the period. In addition, accrued interest 

and penalties of ¥3,832 million as of December 31, 2011 were 

included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 the changes in the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits during 

2011 were summarized below:

Yen in millions

Balance as of January 1, 2011 ¥16,458

A dditions based on tax positions related to the 
current year 3,412

Reductions for tax positions of prior years (3,412)

Balance as of December 31, 2011 ¥16,458

11 Severance and Retirement Plans 

the Company sponsors a defined contribution pension plan (cor-

porate type) for substantially all of its full-time employees excluding 

directors. It is a defined contribution type of corporate pension plan 

adopted in October 2005 based on Japan’s Defined Contribution 

pension Act. the Company is responsible for all contributions while 

each employee has risk and return for the investment. the contribu-

tions are booked as retirement benefit expenses, whose amount for 

the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 was ¥655 million and 

¥688 million, respectively.  

 the Company is also a member of Sumisho Rengo Corporate 

pension Fund (the Fund), which is a multiemployer plan. the Fund 

is a fund type of corporate pension which was established accord-

ing to Defined Contribution pension Act and is a corporate type of 

fund managed jointly by multiple companies in Sumitomo Corpora-

tion Group. the Fund is a defined benefit plan which provides an 

old-age pension, a lump-sum withdrawal payment and a survivor’s 

pension. Since the Company is unable to acquire sufficient informa-

tion for the amount of the plan assets corresponding to the Com-

pany’s contributions in a rational manner, the Company books 

contributions as retirement benefit expenses in the same way as a 

defined contribution pension plan.

 By participating in the Fund, the Company can reduce the risk of 

failing to maintain the pension plan due to reduction of cost burden 

for administration work and fund management. On the other hand, 

it does not perfectly suit the Company’s policy in some aspects as 

it is jointly managed by multiple companies.

 the Fund’s financial information in the latest annual report (based 

on actuarial accounting) is as below. the Fund owes no obligation 

under any other employer who does not belong to the Fund as it 

does not accept or take over such obligation.
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12 Shareholders’ Equity 

Dividends 
under the Corporate law (the law), the distributable amount avail-

able for dividends is based on the amount of capital surplus and 

retained earnings as recorded on the books of J:COM maintained 

in conformity with JGAAp. As of December 31, 2011, the distribut-

able amount available for dividends on the books of J:COM was 

¥117,900 million.

 the law provides that an amount equal to at least 10% of divi-

dends shall be appropriated to capital reserve or legal reserve up to 

25% of common stock.

Stock-Based Compensation
J:COM has stock option plans for certain directors, auditors and 

employees, etc. of the Company. A summary of stock option activ-

ity for the year ended December 31, 2011 was as follows:

Yen in millions

Year ended March 31, 2010 2011

plan assets ¥18,342 ¥21,132

Actuarial benefit obligation 22,654 25,166

Difference ¥ (4,312) ¥ (4,034)

Funded ratio of plan assets 81.0% 84.0%

Details of difference:

Surplus (deficit) ¥   675 ¥    12

unamortized prior service obligation (4,987) (4,046)

 Below shows that the amount of the Company’s contributions 

were more than 5% of that of the total contributions to the Fund.

Yen in millions

Year ended March 31, 2010 2011

A mount of the Company’s  
contributions ¥1,271 ¥1,365

A mount of total contributions to  
the Fund 3,164 3,325

R atio of the Company’s contributions 
to the Fund 40.2% 41.1%

 the Company recorded ¥1,404 million and ¥1,526 million for the 

years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively, in the 

consolidated statements of income.

 the Company pays contributions which are calculated by multi-

plying employee’s average earning based on salary amount by the 

fixed contribution rates to the Fund every month. Contributions 

consist of standard contribution for pension benefit, special contri-

bution for amortizing underfunding and contribution for administra-

tive expenses for fund management. the Fund calculates the rates 

of contributions in order to keep the Fund’s financial position safe 

for the future according to the related laws, taking into consideration 

the estimated amounts for pension payments and return on plan 

assets and so on. Employers owe obligation for all contributions.

 the Fund reviews the rates of contributions every five years in 

accordance with the laws and the agreements, and when there are 

some remarkable changes such as significant change in the number 

of participants (Next review will be run based on the balance at the 

end of March 2013). Also, the Fund confirms whether to change the 

rates of the contributions every year, checking the financial position 

based on the estimated amounts for pension payments and contri-

bution incomes. the Fund also confirms whether enough plan 

assets equivalent to the benefit obligation for participants’ prior 

service terms are kept every year. When the Fund’s financial position 

becomes underfunding, in order to solve it within a certain period of 

time, the Fund imposes special contribution, etc. which are calcu-

lated by multiplying employee’s average earning based on salary 

amount by the fixed contribution rates on all members of the Fund.

 the Fund reviewed as mentioned above at the end of March 2011 

and concluded no change in the contribution rates. All members of 

the Fund have to pay special contribution to cover amortization of 

prior service cost for the period of 4 years and 6 months from 

October 2009 to March 2014.

 Subsidiaries acquired by the Company sometime continue sev-

erance and retirement plans different from the Company’s plan for 

a certain period of time. Kansai Multimedia Service Co., ltd. (which 

was merged by technology Networks Inc. in April 2011) had an 

unfunded defined benefit severance and retirement plan (lump-sum 

payment) in 2010, which was transferred to a defined contribution 

pension plan at the end of the year. Yokohama Cable Vision Inc. has 

an unfunded defined benefit severance and retirement plan (lump-

sum payment) in 2011. Neither case was material to the consoli-

dated financial statements.
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14

Supplemental Disclosures to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Commitments

Yen in millions

2010 2011

Cash paid for:

 Interest ¥ 4,488 ¥ 4,042

 Income taxes 20,785 31,686

Non-cash activities:

 p roperty and equipment acquired 
under capital leases ¥17,773 ¥12,414

the Company’s channel operators have agreements with contents 

holder companies concerning purchase of programming rights and 

J:COM also has agreements with channel operators outside the 

Company concerning program supply. there is the provision to 

guarantee certain minimum payment in some agreements. 

 the Company’s channel operators have agreements with the 

satellite service provider, in order to utilize transponder according to 

bandwidth needs of individual channels and uplink services to 

transmit each channel’s signal to the satellite through subsidiaries 

and affiliates which are licensed broadcasting companies. 

 Also, as of December 31, 2011, the Company had foreign 

exchange forward contracts of ¥1,288 million on behalf of affiliates.

 As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate amount of commitment 

obligations and those payment schedules were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Yen in millions

2012 ¥11,182

2013 8,341

2014 7,215

2015 5,922

2016 2,830

thereafter 6,408

¥41,898

15 Subsequent Events

J:COM made the resolution at the board of directors meeting on January 25, 2012 on matters pertaining to a share repurchase based on 

Article 156 of the Corporate law as applied pursuant to Article 165-3 of the same law.

(1)  Reason for conducting the share repurchase to improve capital efficiency and to provide returns to shareholders, under the object 
of performing flexible capital policies in response to changes in business environment

(2) Class of shares Common stock

(3)  total number of shares to be repurchased  65,000 shares (maximum) 

(4)  total amount to be paid for repurchase 5,000 million yen (maximum)

(5)  period of share repurchase From February 15, 2012 to August 31, 2012

Number of 
shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
(Yen)

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
term (Yrs)

Aggregate 
intrinsic value

(Yen in millions)

Outstanding at beginning of the year 12,170 ¥65,236

 Granted 671 1

 Expired, cancelled or forfeited (342) 80,000

 Exercised (1,462) 3,941

 Outstanding as of December 31, 2011 11,037 68,932 2.01 ¥100

Exercisable as of December 31, 2011 9,923 ¥76,670 0.99 ¥ 13

 Stock-based compensation expense amounted to ¥102 million and ¥47 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, respec-

tively, and all amounts were included in selling, general and administrative expenses.  



Independent Auditors’ Report

to the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of

Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jupiter telecommunications Co., 

ltd. (a Japanese corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2011, and the related 

consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the 

years then ended.  these consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the united States 

of America. those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration 

of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 

also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-

cial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of Jupiter telecommunications Co., ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 

31, 2010 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in 

conformity with u.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

tokyo, Japan

March 28, 2012

ANNuAl REpORt 2011 85

Financial Inform
ation and

 an Ind
ep

end
ent A

ud
itors R

ep
ort



J:COM Group and Other Associates (As of December 31, 2011)

 
Name

paid-in capital
(Yen in 

millions)

percentage of voting rights 
directly or indirectly owned  

by J:COM (%)

Cable Television Consolidated (16) J:COM West., ltd. 15,500 91.10 

J:COM East., ltd. 15,057 100.00 

J:COM Sapporo Co., ltd. 8,800 88.34 

J:COM tokyo Co., ltd. 7,524 95.94 

J:COM Shonan Co., ltd. 5,772 82.89 

J:COM Chiba Co., ltd. 3,395 74.72 

Cable Net Kobe Ashiya Co., ltd. 2,900 81.68 

J:COM Kyushu Co., ltd. 2,447 79.50 

Suita Cable television Co., ltd. 2,105 92.39 

takatsuki Cable Network Co., ltd. 1,828 95.51 

J:COM Saitama Co., ltd. 1,600 88.59 

Higashi-Osaka Cable television Co., ltd. 1,560 96.15 

tsuchiura Cable television Co., ltd. 1,500 71.60 

toyonaka Ikeda Cable Net Co., ltd. 1,500 91.42 

Cable Net Shimonoseki Co., ltd. 1,000 63.41 

Yokohama Cable Vision Inc. 320 51.00 

Affiliate (1) Green City Cable television Co., ltd. 1,000 20.00 

Program Supply Consolidated (5) J SpORtS Corporation 3,834 80.49 

Jupiter Entertainment Co., ltd. 1,788 100.00 

Jupiter Golf Network Co., ltd. 1,700 89.41 

JupItER VISuAl COMMuNICAtIONS CO., ltD. 300 90.00 

Channel Ginga Co., ltd. 200 76.00 

Affiliate (3) Discovery Japan Inc. 110 50.00 

Animal planet Japan Co., ltd. 108 50.00 

AXN Japan Inc. 10 35.00 

Internet Services,  
Installation, and  
System Development

Consolidated (1) technology Networks Inc. 490 100.00 

Broadcast Outsourcers Consolidated (1) Active Sports Broadcasting Corporation 25 64.00 

Affiliate (2) InteractV Co., ltd. 100 32.50 

Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., ltd. 60 50.00 

Financial Services Consolidated (1) J:COM Finance Co., ltd. 3 100.00 

Distribution Network 
Services

Affiliate (1) Japan Digital Serve Corp. 2,250 30.50 

Telecommunications 
Carriers

Affiliate (1) Open Wireless platform, llC. 93 32.22 

Trading Company Other Associate (1) Sumitomo Corporation 219,279 40.11 

Fixed Line and Mobile 
Businesses

Other Associate (1) KDDI CORpORAtION 141,851 30.81 
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Corporate Information (As of December 31, 2011)

Stock Infromation

Stock Listing:

Code:

Number of Shares Issued:

Number of Shareholders:

Osaka Securities Exchange Co., ltd.-JASDAQ

4817

6,947,813

10,074

Transfer Agent and Special Accounts, Account Management Institution:

 the Sumitomo trust and Banking Co., ltd.

 4-5-33 Kitahama, Chuo-ku, Osaka-city, Osaka 541-0041, Japan

Agent’s Business Location: the Sumitomo trust and Banking Co., ltd.

 Stock transfer Agency Department

 2-3-1 Yaesu, Chuo-ku, tokyo 104-0028, Japan

Headquarters: Marunouchi trust tower North, 1-8-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, tokyo 100-0005, Japan

Date of Establishment: January 18, 1995

Paid-in Capital: ¥117.6 billion

Number of Employees: 11,536 (Group total) *Number of employees is the number of regular employees.

Brand Name: J:COM

Corporate Data

Name Number of Shares
Percentage of Total 
Shares Issued (%)

Sumitomo Corporation 2,777,912 39.98

KDDI CORpORAtION *3 2,133,797 30.71
tHE CHASE MANHAttAN BANK, N.A. lONDON SECS lENDING OMNIBuS ACCOuNt
(Standing proxy agent: Settlement and Clearing Services Division, Mizuho Corporate Bank, ltd.) 233,056 3.35
trust & Custody Services Bank, ltd.
(Money trust tax account) *4 173,752 2.50
Mizuho trust & Banking Co., ltd.
Securities Custodian trust 0700117 *4, 5 152,904 2.20
uBS SECuRItIES llC-HFS CuStOMER SEGREGAtED ACCOuNt
(Standing proxy agent: Citibank Japan ltd.) 84,507 1.21
DEutSCHE BANK AG lONDON-pB NON-tREAtY ClIENtS 613
(Standing proxy agent: Deutsche Securities Inc.) 69,774 1.00
NORtHERN tRuSt CO. (AVFC) SuB A/C NON tREAtY
(Standing proxy agent: the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation ltd. (tokyo)) 62,020 0.89
Jp MORGAN CHASE BANK 385174
(Standing proxy agent: Settlement and Clearing Services Division, Mizuho Corporate Bank, ltd.) 54,569 0.78
MORGAN StANlEY & CO, llC
(Standing proxy agent: Morgan Stanley MuFG Securities Co., ltd.) 51,800 0.74

*1. Figures for percentage of total shares issued are rounded down.
*2.  In addition to the above, as of December 31, 2011 the Company held 22,640 shares of treasury stock, representing 0.32% of the total number of shares issued.
*3.  In regard to KDDI Global Media, lp and KDDI International Holdings, llC, which were listed as major shareholders as of December 31, 2010, were liqui-

dated in March, 2011. Following the liquidation of these companies, KDDI CORpORAtION (KDDI) acquired all 2,133,797 shares of J:COM that both KDDI 
companies had either directly or indirectly owned.

*4. All of the shares held by trust & Custody Services Bank, ltd. and Mizuho trust & Banking Co., ltd. are shares related to fiduciary services.
*5.  Mizuho trust & Banking Co., ltd. held 152,904 shares of J:COM, which are under the securities entrustment agreement with KDDI. this agreement in-

cluded the following: (1) KDDI does not have the authority to exercise or give instructions regarding voting rights or any other rights and does not have the 
authority necessary to make any investment or give instructions regarding investment, (2) only in certain cases, which are approved by Mizuho trust & 
Banking Co., ltd., all or a part of the entrustment may be terminated and the entrusted shares may be returned.

Major Shareholders (As of December 31, 2011)
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Printed in JapanPrinted in Japan

Direct inquiries to

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. 
IR Department

Marunouchi Trust Tower North,
1-8-1 Marunouchi Chiyoda-ku,
Tokyo 100-0005, Japan
Tel: 03-6765-8157 Fax: 03-6765-8091
IR Website: http://www.jcom.co.jp/ir_en.html
e-mail: ir@jupiter.jcom.co.jp


